

PIRAEUS GROUP FINANCE PLC

(incorporated with limited liability in England and Wales)

as Issuer

and

PIRAEUS BANK S.A.

(incorporated with limited liability in the Hellenic Republic)

as Issuer and Guarantor

€2,000,000,000 Euro Medium Term Note Programme

Under this €2,000,000,000 Euro Medium Term Note Programme (the "Programme"), each of Piraeus Group Finance PLC ("Piraeus PLC") and Piraeus Bank S.A. ("Piraeus Bank" or the "Bank" and, together with Piraeus PLC the "Issuers" and each an "Issuer" and references herein to the "relevant Issuer" being to the Issuer of the relevant Notes) may from time to time issue notes (the "Notes") denominated in any currency agreed with the relevant Dealer (as defined below). Notes may be issued as unsubordinated obligations or dated subordinated obligations of the relevant Issuer.

Notes issued by Piraeus PLC will be guaranteed by Piraeus Bank. In relation to any Notes issued by Piraeus Bank, the issuing branch through which Piraeus Bank is acting for such Notes will be specified in the applicable Pricing Supplement.

The maximum aggregate nominal amount of all Notes from time to time outstanding will not exceed €2,000,000,000 (or its equivalent in other currencies calculated as described herein), subject to increase as described herein.

The Notes may be issued on a continuous basis to one or more of the Dealers specified herein and any additional Dealer appointed under the Programme from time to time, which appointment may be for a specific issue or on an ongoing basis (each a "Dealer" and together the "Dealers"). References in this Offering Circular to the "relevant Dealer" shall, in relation to any issue of Notes, be to the Dealer or Dealers agreeing to subscribe such Notes.

Application has been made to list Notes issued under the Programme on the Luxembourg Stock Exchange during the period of twelve months from the date hereof. Details of the aggregate nominal amount of Notes, interest (if any) payable in respect of Notes, the issue price of Notes and any other terms and conditions not contained herein which are applicable to each Tranche (as defined herein) of Notes will be set forth in a pricing supplement (the "Pricing Supplement") which, with respect to Notes to be listed on the Luxembourg Stock Exchange, will be delivered to the Luxembourg Stock Exchange on or before the date of issue of the Notes of such Tranche.

The Programme provides that Notes may be listed on such other or further stock exchange(s) as may be agreed between the relevant Issuer and the relevant Dealer. The relevant Issuer may also issue unlisted Notes.

No Notes have been or will be registered under the United States Securities Act 1933, as amended, (the "Securities Act") and are subject to U.S. tax law requirements. Subject to certain exceptions, Notes may not be offered, sold or delivered within the United States or to U.S. persons (see "Subscription and Sale" below).

The Notes of each Tranche will be in bearer form and (unless otherwise specified in the applicable Pricing Supplement) will initially be represented by a temporary global Note which will be deposited on the relevant issue date with a common depositary on behalf of Euroclear Bank S.A./N.V., as operator of the Euroclear System ("Euroclear") and Clearstream Banking, société anonyme ("Clearstream, Luxembourg"), and/or any other agreed clearance system and which will be exchangeable, as specified in the applicable Pricing Supplement, for either a permanent global Note or Notes in definitive form, in each case upon certification as to non-U.S. beneficial ownership as required by U.S. Treasury regulations. The applicable Pricing Supplement will specify that a permanent global Note either (i) is exchangeable (in whole but not in part) for definitive Notes upon not less than 60 days' notice or (ii) is only exchangeable (in whole but not in part) for definitive Notes following the occurrence of an Exchange Event (as defined on page 12) all as further described in "Form of the Notes" and "Form of Pricing Supplement" below.

A security rating is not a recommendation to buy, sell or hold securities and may be subject to review, revision, suspension, reduction or withdrawal at any time by the assigning rating agency.

Each Issuer may agree with any Dealer that Notes may be issued in a form not contemplated by the Terms and Conditions of the Notes herein, in which event (in the case of Notes intended to be listed on the Luxembourg Stock Exchange) a supplementary offering circular, if appropriate, will be made available which will describe the effect of the agreement reached in relation to such Notes.

Arranger

Deutsche Bank

Dealers

ABN AMRO
Credit Suisse First Boston
Morgan Stanley
Nomura International
UBS Investment Bank

Banc of America Securities Limited
Deutsche Bank
Natexis Banques Populaires
Piraeus Bank S.A.

9th June, 2004

http://www.oblible.com

Each of Piraeus PLC and Piraeus Bank, having made all reasonable enquiries, confirms that this Offering Circular, including any document deemed to be incorporated herein by reference as provided under "Documents Incorporated by Reference" below, contains all information which is material in the context of the issuance and offering of Notes, that the information contained or incorporated in this Offering Circular is true and accurate in all material respects and is not misleading, that the opinions and intentions expressed in this Offering Circular are honestly held, that there are no other facts the omission of which would make any of such information or the expression of any such opinions or intentions misleading and that each of Piraeus PLC and Piraeus Bank accepts responsibility accordingly.

This Offering Circular is to be read in conjunction with all documents which are deemed to be incorporated herein by reference (see "Documents Incorporated by Reference" below). This Offering Circular shall be read and construed on the basis that such documents are incorporated into and form part of this Offering Circular.

The Dealers have not separately verified the information contained herein. Accordingly, no representation, warranty or undertaking, express or implied, is made and no responsibility or liability is accepted by the Dealers as to the accuracy or completeness of the information contained in this Offering Circular or any other information provided by Piraeus PLC and/or Piraeus Bank in connection with the Programme or any Notes or their distribution.

No person is or has been authorised by Piraeus PLC and/or Piraeus Bank to give any information or to make any representation not contained in or not consistent with this Offering Circular or any other information provided in connection with the Programme or any Notes and, if given or made, such information or representation must not be relied upon as having been authorised by Piraeus PLC and/or Piraeus Bank or any Dealer.

Neither this Offering Circular nor any other information supplied in connection with the Programme or any Notes (i) is intended to provide the basis of any credit or other evaluation or (ii) should be considered as a recommendation or as constituting an invitation or offer by Piraeus PLC and/or Piraeus Bank or any Dealer that any recipient of this Offering Circular or any other information supplied in connection with the Programme or any Notes should purchase any Notes. Each investor contemplating purchasing Notes should make its own independent investigation of the financial condition and affairs, and its own appraisal of the creditworthiness, of the relevant Issuer and Piraeus Bank in the case of Notes issued by Piraeus PLC. Neither this Offering Circular nor any other information supplied in connection with the Programme or any Notes constitutes an offer or invitation by or on behalf of Piraeus PLC and/or Piraeus Bank or any Dealer to any person to subscribe for or to purchase any Notes.

Neither the delivery of this Offering Circular nor the offering, sale or delivery of any Notes shall in any circumstances imply that the information contained herein concerning Piraeus PLC and/or Piraeus Bank is correct at any time subsequent to the date hereof or that any other information supplied in connection with the Programme is correct as of any time subsequent to the date indicated in the document containing the same. The Dealers expressly do not undertake to review the financial condition or affairs of Piraeus PLC and/or Piraeus Bank during the life of the Programme. Investors should review *inter alia* the most recent published financial statements and, if published later, the most recently published interim financial statements (if any) of the relevant Issuer and, where Piraeus PLC is the relevant Issuer, Piraeus Bank, when deciding whether or not to purchase any Notes.

This Offering Circular does not constitute an offer to sell or the solicitation of an offer to buy any Notes in any jurisdiction to any person to whom it is unlawful to make the offer or solicitation in such jurisdiction. The distribution of this Offering Circular and the offer or sale of Notes may be restricted by law in certain jurisdictions. None of Piraeus PLC, Piraeus Bank and the Dealers represents that this document may be lawfully distributed, or that any Notes may be lawfully offered, in compliance with any applicable registration or other requirements in any such jurisdiction, or pursuant to an exemption available thereunder, or assumes any responsibility for facilitating any such distribution or offering. In particular, no action has been taken by Piraeus PLC, Piraeus Bank or any of the Dealers which would permit a public offering of any Notes or distribution of this document in any jurisdiction where action for that purpose is required. Accordingly, no Notes may be offered or sold, directly or indirectly, and neither this Offering Circular nor any advertisement or other offering material may be distributed or

published in any jurisdiction, except under circumstances that will result in compliance with any applicable laws and regulations. Persons into whose possession this Offering Circular or any Notes may come must inform themselves about, and observe, any such restrictions on the distribution of this Offering Circular and the offering and sale of Notes. For details of certain restrictions on the distribution of this Offering Circular and the offer or sale of Notes in the United States, Germany, Japan, Republic of France, the United Kingdom and Greece see "Subscription and Sale" below.

All references in this document to "Greece" or to the "Greek State" are to the Hellenic Republic.

All references in this document to "U.S.\$" and "\$" are to United States dollars, those to "Yen" are to Japanese Yen, those to "Sterling" and "£" are to pounds sterling and those to "€", "euro", "Euro" and "EUR" are to the single currency introduced at the start of the third stage of European economic and monetary union pursuant to the Treaty establishing the European Communities, as amended.

TABLE OF CONTENTS

	Page
DOCUMENTS INCORPORATED BY REFERENCE	4
GENERAL DESCRIPTION OF THE PROGRAMME	5
SUMMARY OF THE PROGRAMME AND TERMS AND CONDITIONS OF THE NOTES	6
FORM OF THE NOTES	11
FORM OF PRICING SUPPLEMENT	13
TERMS AND CONDITIONS OF THE NOTES	20
USE OF PROCEEDS	43
PIRAEUS GROUP FINANCE PLC	44
PIRAEUS BANK S.A. AND THE PIRAEUS BANK GROUP	46
THE BANKING SECTOR IN GREECE	67
SELECTED CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL INFORMATION OF THE GROUP	69
FORM OF THE DEED OF GUARANTEE	72
TAXATION	78
SUBSCRIPTION AND SALE	82
GENERAL INFORMATION	85

In connection with the issue and distribution of any Tranche of Notes, the Dealer (if any) disclosed as the stabilising manager in the applicable Pricing Supplement, or any person acting for him, may over-allot or effect transactions with a view to supporting the market price of the Notes of the Series (as defined below) of which such Tranche forms part at a level higher than that which might otherwise prevail for a limited period after the issue date. However, there may be no obligation on the stabilising manager or any agent of his to do this. Such stabilising, if commenced, may be discontinued at any time and must be brought to an end after a limited period.

DOCUMENTS INCORPORATED BY REFERENCE

The following documents (published or issued from time to time) after the date hereof shall be deemed to be incorporated in, and to form part of, this Offering Circular:

- (a) the most recently published Greek GAAP annual financial statements and, if published later, interim financial statements (if any) of each of Piraeus PLC and Piraeus Bank from time to time; and
- (b) all supplements (or amendments) to this Offering Circular circulated by Piraeus PLC and/or Piraeus Bank from time to time,

save that any statement contained herein or in a document which is deemed to be incorporated by reference herein shall be deemed to be modified or superseded for the purpose of this Offering Circular to the extent that a statement contained in any such subsequent document which is deemed to be incorporated by reference herein modifies or supersedes such earlier statement (whether expressly, by implication or otherwise). Any statement so modified or superseded shall not be deemed, except as so modified or superseded, to constitute a part of this Offering Circular.

The Issuers will make available, without charge, a copy of any or all of the documents deemed to be incorporated herein by reference unless such documents have been modified or superseded as specified above. Requests for such documents should be directed to either Issuer at its registered office set out at the end of this Offering Circular. In addition, copies of such documents will be available, without charge, from Deutsche Bank S.A. Luxembourg in its capacity as listing agent (the "Luxembourg Listing Agent") for Notes listed on the Luxembourg Stock Exchange.

Each of Piraeus Bank and Piraeus PLC has undertaken, in connection with the listing of Notes on the Luxembourg Stock Exchange, so long as any Note remains outstanding and listed on such exchange, in the event of any material adverse change in the financial condition of either of Piraeus Bank or Piraeus PLC which is not reflected in this Offering Circular, to prepare a supplement to this Offering Circular or publish a new Offering Circular for use in connection with any subsequent issue of Notes to be listed on the Luxembourg Stock Exchange.

If the terms of the Programme are modified or amended in a manner which would make this Offering Circular, as so modified or amended, inaccurate or misleading, a new Offering Circular will be prepared.

GENERAL DESCRIPTION OF THE PROGRAMME

Under the Programme, each Issuer may from time to time issue Notes denominated in any currency subject as set out herein*. A summary of the terms and conditions of the Programme and the Notes appears below. The applicable terms of any Notes will be agreed between the relevant Issuer, and in respect of Notes issued by Piraeus PLC, Piraeus Bank, and the relevant Dealer prior to the issue of the Notes and will be set out in the Terms and Conditions of the Notes endorsed on, or incorporated by reference into, the Notes, as modified and supplemented by the applicable Pricing Supplement attached to, or endorsed on, such Notes, as more fully described under "Form of the Notes and the Pricing Supplement" below.

This Offering Circular and any supplement will only be valid for listing Notes on the Luxembourg Stock Exchange in an aggregate nominal amount which, when added to the aggregate nominal amount then outstanding of all Notes previously or simultaneously issued under the Programme, does not exceed €2,000,000,000 or its equivalent in other currencies. For the purpose of calculating the Euro equivalent of the aggregate nominal amount of Notes issued under the Programme from time to time:

- (a) the Euro equivalent of Notes denominated in another Specified Currency (as specified in the applicable Pricing Supplement in relation to the relevant Notes) shall be determined, at the discretion of the relevant Issuer, either as of the date on which agreement is reached for the issue of Notes or on the preceding day on which commercial banks and foreign exchange markets are open for business in London, in each case on the basis of the spot rate for the sale of the Euro against the purchase of such Specified Currency in the London foreign exchange market quoted by any leading international bank selected by the relevant Issuer on the relevant day of calculation;
- (b) the Euro equivalent of Dual Currency Notes, Index Linked Notes and Partly Paid Notes (each as specified in the applicable Pricing Supplement in relation to the relevant Notes) shall be calculated in the manner specified above by reference to the original nominal amount on issue of such Notes (in the case of Partly Paid Notes, regardless of the subscription price paid); and
- (c) the Euro equivalent of Zero Coupon Notes (as specified in the applicable Pricing Supplement in relation to the relevant Notes) and other Notes issued at a discount or premium shall be calculated in the manner specified above by reference to the net proceeds received by the relevant Issuer for the relevant issue.

^{*}The issuance of Notes by Piraeus Bank S.A. is subject to the prior decision of the Board of Directors of Piraeus Bank S.A.

SUMMARY OF THE PROGRAMME AND TERMS AND CONDITIONS OF THE NOTES

The following summary does not purport to be complete and is taken from, and is qualified in its entirety by, the remainder of this Offering Circular and, in relation to the terms and conditions of any particular Tranche of Notes, the applicable Pricing Supplement. Words and expressions defined in "Form of the Notes and the Pricing Supplement" and "Terms and Conditions of the Notes" below shall have the same meanings in this summary.

Issuers: Piraeus Group Finance PLC

Piraeus Bank S.A., acting through its Issuing Branch (as specified in

the applicable Pricing Supplement)

The issuance of Notes by Piraeus Bank S.A. is subject to the prior

resolution of the Board of Directors of Piraeus Bank S.A.

Guarantor: Piraeus Bank S.A.

Description: Euro Medium Term Note Programme (the "Programme")

Arranger: Deutsche Bank AG London

Dealers: ABN AMRO Bank N.V.

Banc of America Securities Limited

Credit Suisse First Boston (Europe) Limited

Deutsche Bank AG London

Morgan Stanley & Co. International Limited

Natexis Banques Populaires Nomura International plc

Piraeus Bank S.A. (only in respect of issues of Notes by Piraeus

Group Finance PLC)

UBS Limited

and any other Dealers appointed from time to time either generally in respect of the Programme or in relation to a particular Tranche of Notes, in each case, in accordance with the Programme

Agreement.

Certain Restrictions: Each issue of Notes denominated in a currency in respect of which

particular laws, guidelines, regulations, restrictions or reporting requirements apply will only be issued in circumstances which comply with such laws, guidelines, regulations, restrictions or reporting requirements from time to time (see "Subscription and

Sale" herein).

Issues of Notes by Piraeus PLC denominated in Sterling shall comply with all applicable laws and regulations (as amended from

time to time) of the United Kingdom authorities.

Issuing and Principal Paying

Agent:

Deutsche Bank AG London

Luxembourg Listing Agent: Deutsche Bank Luxembourg S.A.

Amount: Up to €2,000,000,000 (or its equivalent in other currencies

calculated as described herein) outstanding at any time. The Issuers may increase the amount of the Programme in accordance with the terms of the Programme Agreement and in that regard a supplement to this Offering Circular or a

replacement for this Offering Circular will be prepared.

Distribution: Subject to applicable selling restrictions, Notes may be distributed

by way of private or public placement and in each case on a

syndicated or non-syndicated basis.

Currencies: Subject to any applicable legal or regulatory or central bank

requirements, such currencies as may be agreed between the

relevant Issuer and the relevant Dealer including, without limitation, Australian dollars, Canadian dollars, Danish kroner, euro, Hong Kong dollars, Japanese Yen, New Zealand dollars, Norwegian kroner, Sterling, Swedish kronor, Swiss francs and United States dollars (as indicated in the applicable Pricing Supplement).

Redenomination, Exchange or Consolidation:

The applicable Pricing Supplement may provide that certain Notes may be redenominated in euro or exchanged or consolidated. The relevant provisions applicable to any such redenomination, exchange or consolidation are contained in Condition 7.

Maturities:

Such maturities as may be agreed between the relevant Issuer and the relevant Dealer and as indicated in the applicable Pricing Supplement, subject to such minimum or maximum maturities as may be allowed or required from time to time by the relevant central bank (or equivalent body) or any laws or regulations applicable to the relevant Issuer and/or the Guarantor, if applicable, or the relevant Specified Currency.

If the Notes have a maturity of less than one year from the Issue Date and either (a) the issue proceeds are received by the Issuer in the United Kingdom or (b) the activity of issuing the Notes is carried on from an establishment maintained by the Issuer in the United Kingdom (i) the Notes must have a minimum redemption value of £100,000 or its equivalent in other currencies and be sold only to "professional investors" (ii) or another applicable exemption from section 19 of the FSMA must be available.

Dated Subordinated Notes must have a maturity date falling at least five years after the Issue Date of such Dated Subordinated Notes.

Issue Price:

Notes may be issued on a fully-paid or a partly-paid basis and at an issue price which is at par or at a discount to, or premium over, par. Dated Subordinated Notes must be issued on a fully paid-up basis.

Form of Notes:

Notes to be issued under the Programme will be either (i) senior Notes ("Senior Notes") or (ii) dated subordinated Notes ("Dated Subordinated Notes") as indicated in the applicable Pricing Supplement. The Notes will be in bearer form. Each Tranche of Notes will (unless otherwise specified in the applicable Pricing Supplement) be initially issued in the form of a temporary global Note or, if specified in the applicable Pricing Supplement, a permanent Global Note, which in either case which will be deposited on the relevant Issue Date with a common depositary for Euroclear and Clearstream, Luxembourg and/or any other agreed clearance system as specified in the applicable Pricing Supplement. Interests in each temporary global Note will be exchangeable, upon request as described therein, for either interests in a permanent global Note or definitive Notes (as indicated in the applicable Pricing Supplement and subject, in the case of definitive Notes, to such notice period as is specified in the applicable Pricing Supplement) in either case not earlier than 40 days after the Issue Date upon certification of non-U.S. beneficial ownership as required by U.S. Treasury regulations. The applicable Pricing Supplement will specify that a permanent global Note either (i) is exchangeable (in whole but not in part) for definitive Notes upon not less than 60 days' notice or (ii) is only exchangeable (in whole but not in part) for definitive Notes upon the occurrence of an Exchange Event, as described in "Form of the Notes" below. Any interest in a global Note will be transferable only in accordance with the rules and procedures for

the time being of Euroclear, Clearstream, Luxembourg and/or any other agreed clearance system, as appropriate.

Fixed Rate Notes:

Fixed interest will be payable on such date or dates as may be agreed between the relevant Issuer and the relevant Dealer (as indicated in the applicable Pricing Supplement) and on redemption and will be calculated on the basis of such Day Count Fraction as may be agreed between the relevant Issuer and the relevant Dealer.

Floating Rate Notes:

Floating Rate Notes will bear interest at a rate determined by reference to one of the following:

- (i) on the same basis as the floating rate under a notional interest-rate swap transaction in the relevant Specified Currency governed by an agreement incorporating the 2000 ISDA Definitions (as published by the International Swaps and Derivatives Association, Inc., and as amended and updated as at the Issue Date of the first Tranche of the Notes of the relevant Series); or
- (ii) on the basis of a reference rate appearing on the agreed screen page of a commercial quotation service; or
- (iii) on such other basis as may be agreed between the relevant Issuer and the relevant Dealer,

in each case, as indicated in the applicable Pricing Supplement.

The Margin (if any) relating to such Floating Rate Notes will be agreed between the relevant Issuer and the relevant Dealer for each Series of Floating Rate Notes.

Index Linked Notes:

Each Issuer may offer Notes which provide for payments of principal, premium or interest which are linked to a currency or commodity index, securities exchange or commodities exchange index or other index or formula as agreed between the relevant Issuer and the relevant Dealer.

Payments of principal in respect of Index Linked Redemption Amount Notes or of interest in respect of Index Linked Interest Notes will be calculated by reference to such index and/or formula or to changes in the prices of securities or commodities or to such other factors as the relevant Issuer and the relevant Dealer may agree (as indicated in the applicable Pricing Supplement).

Other provisions in relation to Floating Rate Notes and Index Linked Interest Notes:

Floating Rate Notes and Index Linked Interest Notes may also have a maximum interest rate, a minimum interest rate, or both (as indicated in the applicable Pricing Supplement).

Interest on Floating Rate Notes and Index Linked Interest Notes in respect of each Interest Period, as selected prior to issue by the relevant Issuer and the relevant Dealer, will be payable on such Interest Payment Dates specified in, or determined pursuant to, the applicable Pricing Supplement and will be calculated on the basis of the relevant Day Count Fraction as may be agreed between the relevant Issuer and the relevant Dealer.

Interest Periods for Floating Rate Notes:

Such period(s) as the relevant Issuer and the relevant Dealer may agree (as indicated in the applicable Pricing Supplement).

Dual Currency Notes:

Payments (whether in respect of principal or interest and whether at maturity or otherwise) in respect of Dual Currency Notes will be made in such currencies, and based on such rates of exchange, as the relevant Issuer and the relevant Dealer may agree (as indicated in the applicable Pricing Supplement).

Zero Coupon Notes:

Zero Coupon Notes will be offered and sold at a discount to their nominal amount and will not bear interest other than in the case of late payment.

Change of Interest Basis Notes:

Notes may be converted from one interest basis to another if so provided in the applicable Pricing Supplement.

Redemption:

The Pricing Supplement relating to each Tranche of Notes will indicate either that Notes of such Tranche cannot be redeemed prior to their stated maturity (other than in specified instalments (see below) or for taxation reasons (subject, in the case of Dated Subordinated Notes only, to having obtained the prior approval of the Bank of Greece, if then required) or following an Event of Default) or that such Notes will be redeemable prior to their stated maturity at the option of the relevant Issuer (subject, in the case of Dated Subordinated Notes only, to having obtained the prior approval of the Bank of Greece, if then required) and/or the Noteholders upon giving notice to the Noteholders or the relevant Issuer, as the case may be, on a date or dates specified prior to such stated maturity and at a price or prices and on such terms as may be agreed between the relevant Issuer and the relevant Dealer.

Prior to their stated maturity, Dated Subordinated Notes may be redeemed only at the option of the Issuer with the prior approval of the Bank of Greece.

The applicable Pricing Supplement may provide that such Notes may be redeemable in two or more instalments of such amounts and on such dates as are indicated in the applicable Pricing Supplement.

Denomination of Notes:

Such denominations as may be agreed between the relevant Issuer and the relevant Dealer and as indicated in the applicable Pricing Supplement save that the minimum denomination of each Note will be such as may be allowed or required from time to time by the relevant central bank (or equivalent body) or any laws or regulations applicable to the relevant Specified Currency.

Taxation:

All payments in respect of the Notes issued by Piraeus Bank will be made without deduction for or on account of Greek withholding taxes (or, in the case of Notes issued by Piraeus Bank through a branch situate in a jurisdiction other than the Hellenic Republic, withholding taxes imposed by the jurisdiction where such branch is situate) and all payments in respect of Notes issued by Piraeus PLC will be made without deduction for or on account of UK withholding taxes, subject as provided in Condition 10.

Negative Pledge:

The Senior Notes will contain a negative pledge provision as further described in Condition 4.

There will be no negative pledge provision relating to Dated Subordinated Notes.

Cross Default:

The Senior Notes will contain a cross default provision as further described in Condition 11(a).

The Dated Subordinated Notes will not contain a cross default provision.

Status of the Senior Notes:

The Senior Notes will constitute direct, unconditional, unsubordinated and (subject to the provisions of Condition 4) unsecured obligations of the relevant Issuer and will rank pari passu without any preference among themselves and at least pari

passu with all other present and future unsecured (subject as aforesaid) and unsubordinated obligations of such Issuer (other than those preferred by mandatory provisions of law).

Status of the Dated Subordinated Notes:

The Dated Subordinated Notes will be direct, unsecured and subordinated obligations of the relevant Issuer and will rank at all times *pari passu* among themselves.

Status of Deed of Guarantee:

Notes issued by Piraeus PLC will be unconditionally and irrevocably guaranteed by Piraeus Bank (pursuant to a Deed of Guarantee dated 9th June, 2004 (the "Deed of Guarantee")) on a subordinated or an unsubordinated basis, as specified in the relevant Pricing Supplement.

Listing:

Application has been made to the Luxembourg Stock Exchange for the listing of Notes issued under the Programme. Notes may also be listed on such other or further stock exchange(s) as may be agreed between the relevant Issuer and the relevant Dealer in relation to each Series.

Unlisted Notes may also be issued.

The Pricing Supplement relating to each issue will state whether or not and, if so, on which stock exchange(s) the Notes are to be listed.

Governing Law:

The Notes and the Deed of Guarantee (other than Condition 3(a) when Dated Subordinated Notes are issued by Piraeus Bank and Condition 3(b) and clause 5.8 of the Deed of Guarantee when Dated Subordinated Notes are issued by Piraeus PLC) will be governed by and construed in accordance with, English law. Condition 3(a) when Dated Subordinated Notes are issued by Piraeus Bank and Condition 3(b) and clause 5.8 of the Deed of Guarantee when Dated Subordinated Notes are issued by Piraeus PLC (relating to subordination) will be governed by, and construed in accordance with, Greek law. Should law 3156/2003 of the Hellenic Republic (the "Bond Law") apply in the case of issue of Notes by Piraeus Bank (the "Piraeus Bank Notes"), Piraeus Bank shall, if required to do so under the Bond Law, whether the holders of Piraeus Bank Notes (the "Piraeus Bank Noteholders") are organised in a group or otherwise, appoint an agent (the "Piraeus Bank Noteholders Agent") by way of a written agreement (the "Piraeus Bank Noteholders Agency Agreement"). The Piraeus Bank Noteholders Agent shall represent the Piraeus Bank Noteholders judicially and extra-judicially in accordance with the provisions of the Bond Law. The Piraeus Bank Noteholders Agency Agreement shall include, among others, provisions for convening meetings of the Piraeus Bank Noteholders to consider, inter alia, any matter affecting their interests, as may be required under the Bond Law. The particular duties, rights and liabilities of the Piraeus Bank Noteholders Agent and any amendments to the Conditions and this Offering Circular, inherent to (i) the appointment of the Piraeus Bank Noteholders Agent, and (ii) the entering into the Piraeus Bank Noteholders Agency Agreement shall be included in the relevant Pricing Supplement and/or, if necessary, any supplement to this Offering Circular which will be prepared for the issue of Piraeus Bank Notes.

Selling Restrictions:

There are restrictions on the offer, sale and transfer of the Notes in the United States, Germany, Japan, Republic of France, the United Kingdom and Greece and such other restrictions as may be required in connection with the offering and sale of a particular Tranche of Notes. See "Subscription and Sale" below.

FORM OF THE NOTES

Each Tranche of Notes will be in bearer form and will be initially issued in the form of a temporary global Note without receipts, interest coupons or talons or, if so specified in the applicable Pricing Supplement, a permanent Global Note, which, in either case, will be delivered on or prior to the original issue date of the Tranche to a common depositary for Euroclear and Clearstream, Luxembourg. Whilst any Note is represented by a temporary global Note, payments of principal, interest (if any) and any other amount payable in respect of the Notes due prior to the Exchange Date (as defined below) will be made against presentation of the temporary global Note only to the extent that certification (in a form to be provided) to the effect that the beneficial owners of interests in such Note are not U.S. persons or persons who have purchased for resale to any U.S. person, as required by U.S. Treasury regulations, has been received by Euroclear and/or Clearstream, Luxembourg and Euroclear and/or Clearstream, Luxembourg, as applicable, has given a like certification (based on the certifications it has received) to the Agent. Any reference in this Section "Form of the Notes" to Euroclear and/or Clearstream, Luxembourg shall, whenever the context so permits, be deemed to include a reference to any additional or alternative clearance system approved by the relevant Issuer and the Agent.

On and after the date (the "Exchange Date") which is the later of (i) 40 days after the date on which any temporary global Note is issued and (ii) 40 days after the completion of the distribution of the relevant Tranche, as certified by the relevant Dealer (in the case of a non-syndicated issue) or the relevant lead manager (in the case of a syndicated issue) (the "Distribution Compliance Period") but, if such temporary global Note is issued in respect of a Tranche of Notes described as Partly Paid Notes in the applicable Pricing Supplement, only if the final instalment on all outstanding such Notes has been paid, interests in such temporary global Note will be exchangeable (free of charge) upon request as described therein either for interests in a permanent global Note without receipts, interest coupons or talons, or for definitive Notes with, where applicable, receipts, interest coupons and talons attached (as indicated in the applicable Pricing Supplement and subject, in the case of definitive Notes, to such notice period as is specified in the applicable Pricing Supplement) in each case against certification of beneficial ownership as described in the immediately preceding paragraph. The holder of a temporary global Note will not be entitled to collect any payment of interest, principal or other amount due on or after the Exchange Date unless upon due certification exchange of the temporary Global Note is improperly withheld or refused.

Pursuant to the Agency Agreement (as defined under "Terms and Conditions of the Notes" below) the Agent shall arrange that, where a further Tranche of Notes is issued, the Notes of such further Tranche shall be assigned a common code and ISIN by Euroclear and Clearstream, Luxembourg which are different from the common code and ISIN assigned to Notes of any other Tranche of the same Series until at least the expiry of the Distribution Compliance Period applicable to Notes of such Tranche.

Payments of principal, interest (if any) or any other amounts on a permanent global Note will be made through Euroclear and/or Clearstream, Luxembourg against presentation or surrender (as the case may be) of the permanent global Note without any requirement for certification.

The applicable Pricing Supplement will specify that either (i) a permanent global Note will be exchangeable (free of charge), in whole but not in part, for definitive Notes with, where applicable, receipts, interest coupons and talons attached upon not less than 60 days' written notice from Euroclear and/or Clearstream, Luxembourg (acting on the instructions of any holder of an interest in such permanent global Note) to the Agent as described therein or (ii) a permanent global Note will be exchangeable (free of charge), in whole but not in part, for definitive Notes with, where applicable, receipts, interest coupons and talons attached only upon the occurrence of an Exchange Event as described therein. "Exchange Event" means (i) in the case of Senior Notes, an Event of Default has occurred and is continuing or in the case of Dated Subordinated Notes, any Subordinated Default Event has occurred and is continuing, (ii) the relevant Issuer has been notified that either Euroclear or Clearstream, Luxembourg has been closed for business for a continuous period of 14 days (other than by reason of holiday, statutory or otherwise) or has announced an intention permanently to cease business or has in fact done so and no alternative clearing system is available or (iii) at the option of the relevant Issuer at any time. The relevant Issuer will promptly give notice to Noteholders in accordance with Condition 15 if an Exchange Event occurs. In the event of the occurrence of an Exchange Event as described in (i) or (ii) above, Euroclear and/or Clearstream, Luxembourg (acting on

the instructions of any holder of an interest in such permanent global Note) may give notice to the Agent requesting exchange and in the event of the occurrence of an Exchange Event as described in (iii) above, the relevant Issuer may give notice to the Agent requesting exchange. Any such exchange shall not occur not later than 30 days after the date of receipt of the first relevant notice by the Agent.

The following legend will appear on all global Notes, definitive Notes, receipts, interest coupons and talons:

"ANY UNITED STATES PERSON WHO HOLDS THIS OBLIGATION WILL BE SUBJECT TO LIMITATIONS UNDER THE UNITED STATES INCOME TAX LAWS, INCLUDING THE LIMITATIONS PROVIDED IN SECTIONS 165(J) AND 1287(A) OF THE INTERNAL REVENUE CODE."

The sections referred to provide that holders who are United States persons (as defined in the United States Revenue Code of 1986, as amended), with certain exceptions, will not be entitled to deduct any loss on any Notes, receipts or interest coupons and will not be entitled to capital gains treatment of any gain on any sale, disposition, redemption or payment of principal in respect of Notes, receipts or interest coupons.

Notes which are represented by a Global Note will only be transferable in accordance with the rules and procedures for the time being of Euroclear or Clearstream, Luxembourg as the case may be.

A Note may be accelerated by the holder thereof in certain circumstances described in Condition 11. In such circumstances, where any Note is still represented by a Global Note and the Global Note (or any part thereof) has become due and repayable in accordance with the Terms and Conditions of the Notes and payment in full of the amount due has not been made in accordance with the provisions of the global Note then the global Note will become void at 8.00 p.m. (London time) on such day. At the same time, holders of interest in such global Note credited to their accounts with Euroclear and/or Clearstream, Luxembourg, as the case may be, will become entitled to proceed directly against the relevant Issuer on the basis of statements of account provided by Euroclear and Clearstream, Luxembourg, on and subject to the terms of a deed of covenant (the "Deed of Covenant") dated 9th June, 2004 executed by the Issuers.

FORM OF PRICING SUPPLEMENT

The Pricing Supplement applicable to each Tranche of Notes will be in substantially the following form, duly supplemented (if necessary), amended (if necessary) and completed to effect the particular terms of the relevant Notes and their issue. Text in this section appearing in italics does not form part of the form of Pricing Supplement but denotes directions for completing the Pricing Supplement.

[PIRAEUS GROUP FINANCE PLC/PIRAEUS BANK S.A.

(acting through its Issuing Branch)]

Issue of [Aggregate Principal Amount of Tranche] [Title of Notes]

Issued under the

€2,000,000,000 Euro Medium Term Note Programme [guaranteed by PIRAEUS BANK S.A.]

This document constitutes the Pricing Supplement relating to the issue of Notes described herein. Terms used herein shall be deemed to be defined as such for the purposes of the Conditions set forth in the Offering Circular dated 9th June, 2004 [and the Supplemental Offering Circular dated ●]. This Pricing Supplement contains the final terms of the Notes and must be read in conjunction with such Offering Circular [as supplemented].

[The following alternative language applies if the first tranche of an issue which is being increased was issued under an Offering Circular with an earlier date.]

[Terms used herein shall be deemed to be defined as such for the purposes of the Conditions (the "Conditions") set forth in the Offering Circular dated 9th June, 2004. This Pricing Supplement contains the final terms of the Notes and must be read in conjunction with the Offering Circular dated [current date] [and the supplemental Offering Circular dated []], save in respect of the Conditions which are extracted from the Offering Circular dated 9th June, 2004 and are attached hereto.]

[Include whichever of the following apply or specify as "Not Applicable" (N/A). Note that the numbering should remain as set out below, even if "Not Applicable" is indicated for individual paragraphs or sub-paragraphs]

1.	Issuei	·:		eus Group Finance PLC] eus Bank S.A.] ¹		
	Issuin	Issuing Branch:		[not applicable/specify branch]		
	Guara	Guarantor:		[Piraeus Bank S.A. in respect of Notes issued by Piraeus PLC]		
2.	[(i)] [(ii)]	Series Number: Tranche Number:]]]		
	Series	gible with an existing Series, details of that s, including the date on which the Notes ne fungible)]				
3.	Speci ⁻	fied Currency or Currencies:	[1		
4.	Aggre	Aggregate Nominal Amount:]		
	(i)	Series:	[]		
	(ii)	Tranche:	[1		
5.	[(i)]	Issue Price:	Amo (in th	per cent. of the Aggregate Nominal unt [plus accrued interest from [date] ne case of fungible issues only, if icable)]		
	[(ii)]	Net proceeds:	[•] (Required only for listed issues)		

^{1.} All relevant corporate authorisations (including the approval of the board of directors) should be obtained prior to any issue of Notes by Piraeus Bank S.A.

6.	Specified Denominations:				
7.	[(i)]	Issue Date and Interest Commencement			
	[(ii)]	Date: Interest Commencement Date (if different from the Issue Date):			
8. Maturity Date:		y Date:	[Fixed Rate – Specify date Floating Rate – Interest Payment Date falling in or nearest to [Specify Month]		
			(N.B. in the case of Dated Subordinated Notes this must be at least five years after the Issue Date)]		
			[If the Notes have a maturity of less than one year from the Issue Date and either (a) the issue proceeds are received by the Issuer in the United Kingdom or (b) the activity of issuing the Notes is carried on from an establishment maintained by the Issuer in the United Kingdom (i) the Notes must have a minimum redemption value of £100,000 or its equivalent in other currencies and be sold only to "professional investors" (ii) or another applicable exemption from section 19 of the FSMA must be available.]		
9.	Interes	t Basis:	[[]% Fixed Rate] [[LIBOR/EURIBOR] +/- []% Floating Rate] [Zero Coupon] [Index Linked Interest] [Other (specify)] (further particulars specified below)		
10.	Redemption/Payment Basis:		[Redemption at par] [Index Linked Redemption] [Dual Currency] [Partly Paid] [Instalment] [Other (specify)]		
11.	_	e of Interest Basis or ption/Payment Basis:	[Specify details of any provision for convertibility of Notes into another interest basis or redemption/payment basis]		
12.	Put/Cal	l Options:	[Investor Put] [Issuer Call] [(further particulars specified below)]		
13.	(i)	Status of the Notes:	[Senior/Dated Subordinated]		
	(ii)	Status of the Deed of Guarantee:	[Senior/Dated Subordinated]		
14.	Listing		[Luxembourg/other (specify)/None]		
15.	Method	d of distribution:	[Syndicated/Non-syndicated]		

PROVISIONS RELATING TO INTEREST (IF ANY) PAYABLE

16. Fixed Rate Note Provisions [Applicable]

(If not applicable, delete the remaining sub-paragraphs of this paragraph)

			annually/semi-annually/quarterly/monthly] in arrear]. (If payable other than annually, consider amending Condition 5)
	(ii)	Interest Payment Date(s):	[] in each year [adjusted in accordance with [specify Business Day Convention and any applicable Business Centre(s) for the definition of "Business Day"]/not adjusted]
	(iii)	Fixed Coupon Amount[(s)]:	[] [per Note of [] Specified Denomination and per Note of [] Specified Denomination]
	(iv)	Broken Amount(s):	[Insert particulars of any initial or final broken interest amounts which do not correspond with the Fixed Coupon Amount(s)]
	(∨)	Day Count Fraction: (subject to paragraph 30)	[30/360 or Actual/Actual (ISMA) or other (give details)]
	(vi)	Determination Date(s):	[] in each year [Insert regular interest payment dates, ignoring issue date or maturity date in case of long or short first or last coupon] (NB: This will need to be amended in the case of regular interest payment dates which are not of equal duration) (NB: Only relevant where Day Count Fraction is Actual/Actual (ISMA))
	(vii)	Other terms relating to the method of calculating interest for Fixed Rate Notes:	[Not Applicable/give details]
17.	Floatin	g Rate Note Provisions	[Applicable/Not Applicable] (If not applicable, delete the remaining sub-paragraphs of this paragraph. If applicable also consider whether EURO BBA LIBOR or EURIBOR is the appropriate reference rate)
	(i)	Specified Period(s)/Specified Interest Payment Dates:	[]
	(ii)	Business Day Convention:	[Floating Rate Convention/Following Business Day Convention/Modified Following Business Day Convention/ Preceding Business Day Convention/other (give details)]
	(iii)	Additional Business Centre(s):	[]
	(iv)	Manner in which the Rate(s) of Interest and Interest Amount is/are to be determined:	[Screen Rate Determination/ISDA Determination/other (<i>give details</i>)]
	(v)	Party responsible for calculating the Rate of Interest and Interest Amount (if not the Agent):	[[Name] shall be the Calculation Agent (no need to specify if the Principal Paying Agent is to perform this function)]
	(vi)	Screen Rate Determination:	
		- Reference Rate:	[]

[] per cent. per annum [payable

Rate[(s)] of Interest:

(i)

		although additional information is required if other – including as to fallback provisions in the Agency Agreement)
	- Interest Determination Date(s):	[]
		(Second London business day prior to the start of each Interest Period if LIBOR other than euro LIBOR or Sterling LIBOR, first day of each Interest Period if Sterling LIBOR and the second day on which the TARGET System is open prior to the start of each Interest Period if EURIBOR or euro LIBOR)
_	Relevant Screen Page:	[]
		(In the case of EURIBOR, if not Moneyline Telerate 248 ensure it is a page which shows a composite rate or amend the fallback provisions appropriately)
(vii)	ISDA Determination:	
	- Floating Rate Option:	[]
	- Designated Maturity:	[]
	- Reset Date:	[]
(viii)	Margin(s):	[+/-] [] per cent. per annum
(ix)	Minimum Rate of Interest:	[] per cent. per annum
(x)	Maximum Rate of Interest:	[] per cent. per annum
(xi)	Day Count Fraction:	[Actual/365 Actual/365 Fixed Actual/365 Sterling Actual/360 30/360 30E/360 Other] (See Condition 5 for alternatives)
(xii)	Fall back provisions, rounding provisions and any other terms relating to the method of calculating interest on Floating Rate Notes, if different from those set out in the Conditions:	[]
Zero C	Coupon Note Provisions	[Applicable/Not Applicable] (If not applicable, delete the remaining sub-paragraphs of this paragraph)
(i)	Accrual Yield:	[] per cent. per annum
(ii)	Reference Price:	[]
(iii)	Any other formula/basis of determining amount payable:	[] (Consider applicable day count fraction if euro denominated)
(iv)	Day Count Fraction in relation to Early Redemption Amounts and late payment	[Condition 6(e)(iii) and 6(j) apply/specify other]
Index	Linked Interest Note Provisions	[Applicable/Not Applicable] (If not applicable, delete the remaining sub-paragraphs of this paragraph)

(Either LIBOR, EURIBOR or other,

18.

19.

	(i)	Index/Formula:	[give or annex details]
	(ii)	Calculation Agent responsible for calculating the principal and/or interest due:	[]
	(iii)	Provisions for determining Coupon where calculation by reference to Index and/or Formula is impossible or impracticable:	[]
	(iv)	Specified Period(s)/Specified Interest Payment Date(s):	[]
	(v)	Business Day Convention:	[Floating Rate Convention/Following Business Day Convention/Modified Following Business Day Convention/ Preceding Business Day Convention/other (give details)]
	(vi)	Additional Business Centre(s):	[]
	(vii)	Minimum Rate of Interest:	[] per cent. per annum
	(viii)	Maximum Rate of Interest:	[] per cent. per annum
	(ix)	Day Count Fraction:	[]
20.	Dual C	urrency Note Provisions	[Applicable/Not Applicable] (If not applicable, delete the remaining sub-paragraphs of this paragraph)
	(i)	Rate of Exchange/method of calculating Rate of Exchange:	[give details]
	(ii)	Calculation Agent, if any, responsible for calculating the principal and/or interest payable:	[]
	(iii)	Provisions applicable where calculation by reference to Rate of Exchange impossible or impracticable:	
	(iv)	Person at whose option Specified Currency(ies) is/are payable:	[]
PRO\	/ISIONS	RELATING TO REDEMPTION	
21.	Issuer Call		[Applicable/Not Applicable] (If not applicable, delete the remaining sub-paragraphs of this paragraph)
	(i)	Optional Redemption Date(s):	[]
	(ii)	Optional Redemption Amount(s) and method, if any, of calculation of such amount(s):	[] per Note of [] Specified Denomination
	(iii)	If redeemable in part:	
		(a) Minimum Redemption Amount:	[]
		(b) Maximum Redemption Amount:	[]
	(iv)	Notice period (if other than as set out in the Conditions):	[]
22.	Investo	r Put	[Applicable/Not Applicable] (If not applicable, delete the remaining sub-paragraphs of this paragraph)
	(i)	Optional Redemption Date(s):	

- (ii) Optional Redemption Amount(s) and method, if any, of calculation of such amount(s):
- (iii) Notice period (if other than as set out in the Conditions):
- 23. Final Redemption Amount
- 24. Early Redemption Amount(s) payable on redemption for taxation reasons or on event of default and/or the method of calculating the same (if required or if different from that set out in Condition 6):

l Specifie	d Denomination]
[1	
[Nominal Appendi	Amount/ <i>specify other</i> /se x]	е
[]	

GENERAL PROVISIONS APPLICABLE TO THE NOTES

25. Form of Notes:

[Temporary Global Note exchangeable for a Permanent Global Note which is exchangeable for Definitive Notes on [60 days'] notice given at any time/only upon an Exchange Event].

[Temporary Global Note exchangeable for Definitive Notes on and after the Exchange Date upon [] days' notice.]

[Permanent Global Note exchangeable for Definitive Notes on [] days' notice/at any time/in the limited circumstances specified in the Permanent Global Note].

- 26. Additional Financial Centre(s) or other special provisions relating to Payment Dates:
- 27. Talons for future Coupons or Receipts to be attached to Definitive Notes (and dates on which such Talons mature):
- 28. Details relating to Partly Paid Notes: amount of each payment comprising the Issue Price and date on which each payment is to be made and consequences (if any) of failure to pay, including any right of the Issuer to forfeit the Notes and interest due on late payment:
- 29. Details relating to Instalment Notes:
 - (i) Instalment Amount(s)
 - (ii) Instalment Date(s)
- 30. Redenomination and/or Exchange and/or Consolidation applicable:

- [Not Applicable/give details]
- [Yes/No. If yes, give details]

[Not Applicable/give details. NB: a new form of Temporary Global Note and/or Permanent Global Note may be required for Partly Paid issues]

[Not Applicable/give details]

[Not Applicable/give details]

[Not Applicable/give details]

Redemption [not] applicable (if Redenomination is applicable, specify either the applicable Fixed Day Count Fraction or any other provisions necessary to deal with floating rate interest calculation (including alternative interest rates))

Exchange [not] applicable Consolidation [not] applicable

31. Other terms or special conditions: [Not Applicable/give details]

ו פוע	KIBUI	ION					
32.	(i)	If syndicated, names of Managers:	[Not A	applicable/give details]			
	(ii)	Stabilising Manager (if any):	[Not A	applicable/give details]			
33.	If nor	n-syndicated, name of Dealer:]]			
34.	Addit	tional selling restrictions:	[Not A	[Not Applicable/give details]			
35. TEFRA:			[Not Applicable/the [C/D] Rules are applicable]				
OPE	RATIOI	NAL INFORMATION					
37.	Clear	clearing system(s) other than Euroclear and stream, Luxembourg and the relevant ification number(s):		applicable/ <i>give name(s</i> er(s)]) and		
38.	Deliv	ery:	Delive	ry [against/free of] pay	/ment		
39.	Addit	tional Paying Agent(s) (if any):	[]			
	ISIN:		[1			
	Comi	mon Code:	[]			
[This	Pricinguant to	PPLICATION g Supplement comprises the final terms req the €2,000,000,000 Euro Medium Term N Bank S.A.]					
RES	PONSII	BILITY					
The	lssuer a	accepts responsibility for the information co	ntained in	this Pricing Suppleme	nt.		
Sign	ed on b	pehalf of the Issuer:					
Ву:							
Duly	Author	rised					
[Sign	ed on I	behalf of the Guarantor:					
Ву:							
Duly	Author	rised]					

If the applicable Pricing Supplement specifies any modification to the Terms and Conditions of the Notes as described herein, it is envisaged that, to the extent that such modification relates only to Conditions 1, 7(c), (d) and (e), 5, 7, 6 (except 6(b)), 13, 8 9, 15 (insofar as the Notes are not listed or admitted to trade on any stock exchange) or 17, they will not necessitate the preparation of a supplement to this Offering Circular. If the Terms and Conditions of the Notes of any Series are to be modified in any other respect, a supplement to this Offering Circular will be prepared, if appropriate.

TERMS AND CONDITIONS OF THE NOTES

The following are the Terms and Conditions of the Notes which will be incorporated by reference into each global Note and each definitive Note, in the latter case only if permitted by the relevant stock exchange (if any) and agreed by the relevant Issuer and the relevant Dealer at the time of issue but, if not so permitted and agreed, each definitive Note will have endorsed thereon or attached thereto such Terms and Conditions. The term "Issuer" as used in these Terms and Conditions refers to the Issuer specified as such in the applicable Pricing Supplement in relation to a particular Tranche of Notes. The applicable Pricing Supplement in relation to any Tranche of Notes may specify other terms and conditions which shall, to the extent so specified or to the extent inconsistent with the following Terms and Conditions, replace or modify the following Terms and Conditions for the purpose of such Notes. The applicable Pricing Supplement (or the relevant provisions thereof) will be endorsed upon, or attached to, each global Note and each definitive Note. Reference should be made to "Form of the Notes and the Pricing Supplement" for a description of the content of Pricing Supplements which will specify which of such terms are to apply in relation to the relevant Notes.

This Note is one of a Series of notes issued by the Issuer specified as such in the applicable Pricing Supplement (as defined below), being either Piraeus Group Finance PLC ("Piraeus PLC") or Piraeus Bank S.A. ("Piraeus Bank"), acting through its Issuing Branch (as specified in the applicable Pricing Supplement) (together the "Issuers") the notes of such Series being hereinafter called the "Notes", which expression shall mean (i) in relation to any Notes represented by a global Note, units of the lowest Specified Denomination in the Specified Currency, (ii) definitive Notes issued in exchange for a global Note and (iii) any global Note issued in accordance with a Fiscal Agency Agreement (the "Agency Agreement", which expression shall include any amendments or supplements thereto) dated 9th June, 2004 and made between Piraeus PLC, Piraeus Bank and Deutsche Bank AG London in its capacity as Issuing and Principal Paying Agent (the "Agent", which expression shall include any successor to Deutsche Bank AG London in its capacity as such) and the other Paying Agents named therein (the "Paying Agents", which expression shall include the Agent and any substitute or additional Paying Agents appointed in accordance with the Agency Agreement).

The Notes, the Receipts and the Coupons (each as defined below) have the benefit of a deed of covenant (the "Deed of Covenant", which expression shall include any amendments or supplements thereto) dated 9th June, 2004 executed by the Issuers in relation to the Notes. The original Deed of Covenant is held by the common depositary for Euroclear and Clearstream, Luxembourg (each as defined below).

Notes issued by Piraeus PLC are the subject of a deed of guarantee dated 9th June, 2004 (as amended or supplemented from time to time, the "Deed of Guarantee") entered into by Piraeus Bank (in such capacity, the "Guarantor").

Interest bearing definitive Notes will (unless otherwise indicated in the applicable Pricing Supplement) have interest coupons ("Coupons") and, if indicated in the applicable Pricing Supplement, talons for further Coupons ("Talons") attached on issue. Any reference herein to Coupons or coupons shall, unless the context otherwise requires, be deemed to include a reference to Talons or talons. Definitive Notes repayable in instalments will have receipts ("Receipts") for the payment of the instalments of principal (other than the final instalment) attached on issue.

The Pricing Supplement for this Note (or the relevant provisions thereof) is attached hereto or endorsed hereon and supplements these Terms and Conditions and may specify other terms and conditions which shall, to the extent so specified or to the extent inconsistent with these Terms and Conditions, supplement, replace or modify these Terms and Conditions for the purposes of this Note. References herein to "applicable Pricing Supplement" are to the Pricing Supplement attached hereto or endorsed hereon.

As used herein, "Tranche" means Notes which are identical in all respects (including as to listing) and "Series" means a Tranche of Notes together with any further Tranche or Tranches of Notes which are (i) expressed to be consolidated and form a single series and (ii) identical in all respects (including as to listing) except for their respective Issue Dates, Interest Commencement Dates and/or Issue Prices.

Any reference to "Noteholders" or "holders" in relation to any Notes shall mean the holders of the Notes and shall, in relation to any Notes represented by a global Note, be construed as provided below. Any reference herein to "Receiptholders" shall mean the holders of the Receipts and any

reference herein to "Couponholders" shall mean the holders of the Coupons and shall, unless the context otherwise requires, include the holders of the Talons.

Certain provisions of these Conditions are summaries of the Agency Agreement and the Deed of Guarantee and subject to their detailed provisions. The Noteholders, the Receiptholders and the Couponholders are deemed to have notice of, and are entitled to the benefit of, all the provisions of the Agency Agreement, the Deed of Covenant, the Deed of Guarantee and the applicable Pricing Supplement which are applicable to them. Copies of the Agency Agreement, the Deed of Covenant and the Deed of Guarantee are available for inspection and copies of the applicable Pricing Supplement may be obtained during normal business hours at the specified office of each of the Agent and the other Paying Agents save that, if this Note is an unlisted Note of a Series, the applicable Pricing Supplement may only be obtained by a Noteholder holding one or more unlisted Notes of any Series and such Noteholder must produce evidence satisfactory to the relevant Paying Agent as to its holding of Notes and as to identity.

Words and expressions defined in the Agency Agreement, the Deed of Covenant or the Deed of Guarantee or which are used in the applicable Pricing Supplement shall have the same meanings where used in these Terms and Conditions unless the context otherwise requires or unless otherwise stated and provided that, in the event of inconsistency between the Agency Agreement, Deed of Covenant or the Deed of Guarantee and the applicable Pricing Supplement, the applicable Pricing Supplement will prevail.

1. FORM, DENOMINATION AND TITLE

The Notes are in bearer form in the Specified Currency and the Specified Denomination(s) and, in the case of definitive Notes, serially numbered. Notes of one Specified Denomination may not be exchanged for Notes of another Specified Denomination.

This Note may be a Fixed Rate Note, a Floating Rate Note, a Zero Coupon Note, an Index Linked Interest Note or a combination of any of the foregoing, depending upon the Interest Basis shown in the applicable Pricing Supplement.

This Note may be an Index Linked Redemption Note, an Instalment Note, a Dual Currency Note or a Partly Paid Note or a combination of any of the foregoing, depending upon the Redemption/Payment Basis shown in the applicable Pricing Supplement.

This Note may be a Senior Note or a Dated Subordinated Note, depending upon the Status of the Notes shown in the applicable Pricing Supplement.

Definitive Notes are issued with Coupons attached, unless they are Zero Coupon Notes in which case references to Coupons and Couponholders in these Terms and Conditions are not applicable. Instalment Notes in definitive form are issued with Receipts attached.

Subject as set out below, title to the Notes, Receipts and Coupons will pass by delivery. Except as ordered by a court of competent jurisdiction or as required by law, the Issuer and any Paying Agent shall (subject as provided below) be entitled to deem and treat (and no such person will be liable for so deeming and treating) the bearer of any Note, Receipt or Coupon as the absolute owner thereof (whether or not overdue and notwithstanding any notice of ownership or writing thereon or notice of any previous loss or theft thereof) for all purposes but, in the case of any global Note, without prejudice to the provisions set out in the next succeeding paragraph.

For so long as any of the Notes is represented by a global Note held on behalf of Euroclear Bank S.A./N.V., as operator of the Euroclear System ("Euroclear") and/or Clearstream Banking, socieóteó anonyme ("Clearstream, Luxembourg") each person (other than Euroclear or Clearstream, Luxembourg) who is for the time being shown in the records of Euroclear or Clearstream, Luxembourg as the holder of a particular nominal amount of Notes (in which regard any certificate or other document issued by Euroclear or Clearstream, Luxembourg as to the nominal amount of Notes standing to the account of any person shall be conclusive and binding for all purposes save in the case of manifest error) shall be treated by the Issuer, the Guarantor, the Agent and any other Paying Agent as the holder of such nominal amount of Notes for all purposes other than with respect to the payment of principal or interest on such Notes, for which purpose the bearer of the relevant global Note shall be treated by the Issuer, the Guarantor, the Agent and any other Paying Agent as the holder of such nominal amount of Notes in accordance with and subject to the terms of the relevant global Note (and the

expressions "Noteholder" and "holder of Notes" and related expressions shall be construed accordingly). Notes which are represented by a global Note will be transferable only in accordance with the rules and procedures for the time being of Euroclear or of Clearstream, Luxembourg, as the case may be.

Any reference herein to Euroclear and/or Clearstream, Luxembourg shall, whenever the context so permits, be deemed to include a reference to any additional or alternative clearing system approved by the Issuer, the Guarantor and the Agent and specified in the applicable Pricing Supplement.

2. STATUS OF THE SENIOR NOTES AND THE DEED OF GUARANTEE IN RESPECT OF SENIOR NOTES ISSUED BY PIRAEUS PLC

- (a) If the Notes are specified as Senior Notes in the applicable Pricing Supplement, the Notes and any relative Receipts and Coupons are direct, unconditional, unsubordinated and (subject to the provisions of Condition 4) unsecured obligations of the Issuer which will at all times rank pari passu without any preference among themselves and at least pari passu with all other present and future unsecured (subject as aforesaid) and unsubordinated obligations of the Issuer, save for such obligations as may be preferred by mandatory provisions of law.
- (b) The obligations of Piraeus Bank under the Deed of Guarantee in respect of Senior Notes issued by Piraeus PLC constitute direct, general, unconditional and unsubordinated obligations of the Guarantor which will at all times rank at least *pari passu* with all other present and future unsecured (subject as aforesaid) and unsubordinated obligations of the Guarantor, save for such obligations as may be preferred by mandatory provisions of law.

3. STATUS OF DATED SUBORDINATED NOTES AND THE DEED OF GUARANTEE IN RESPECT OF DATED SUBORDINATED NOTES

(a) If the Notes are specified as Subordinated Notes in the applicable Pricing Supplement, the Notes are and will be, direct, unsecured and subordinated obligations of the Issuer and rank at all times pari passu among themselves.

The claims of the Noteholders will be subordinated to the claims of Senior Creditors of the Issuer (as defined below) in that payments of principal and interest in respect of the Notes (whether in the winding up of the Issuer or otherwise) will be conditional upon the Issuer being solvent at the time of payment by the Issuer and in that no principal or interest shall be payable in respect of the Notes (whether in the winding up of the Issuer or otherwise) except to the extent that the Issuer could make such payment and still be solvent immediately thereafter. For this purpose, the Issuer shall be considered to be solvent if it can pay principal and interest in respect of the Notes and still be able to pay its outstanding debts to Senior Creditors of the Issuer, which are due and payable.

"Senior Creditors of the Issuer" means creditors of the Issuer (a) who are unsubordinated creditors of the Issuer, or (b) who are subordinated creditors of the Issuer whose claims are expressed to rank in priority to the claims of the holders of Dated Subordinated Notes (whether only in the winding up of the Issuer or otherwise).

In case of dissolution, liquidation and/or bankruptcy of the Issuer the holders of Dated Subordinated Notes will only be paid by the Issuer after all Senior Creditors of the Issuer have been paid in full and the holders of Dated Subordinated Notes irrevocably waive their right to be treated equally with all other unsecured, unsubordinated creditors of the Issuer in such circumstances.

(b) The payment of principal and interest in respect of any Dated Subordinated Notes issued by Piraeus PLC has been irrevocably guaranteed on a subordinated basis by the Guarantor.

All claims under the Deed of Guarantee will be subordinated to the claims of Senior Creditors of the Guarantor (as defined below) in that payments under the Deed of Guarantee (whether in the winding up of the Guarantor or otherwise) will be conditional upon the Guarantor being solvent at the time of payment by the Guarantor and in that no amount shall be payable under the Deed of Guarantee (whether in the winding up of the Guarantor or otherwise) except to the extent that the Guarantor could make such payment and still be solvent immediately thereafter. For this purpose, the Guarantor shall be considered to be solvent if it can pay principal and interest in

respect of the Notes and still be able to pay its outstanding debts to Senior Creditors of the Guarantor, which are due and payable.

"Senior Creditors of the Guarantor" means creditors of the Guarantor (a) who are unsubordinated creditors of the Guarantor, or (b) who are subordinated creditors of the Guarantor whose claims are expressed to rank in priority to the claims of the holders of Dated Subordinated Notes or other persons claiming under the Deed of Guarantee (whether only in the winding up of the Guarantor or otherwise).

In case of dissolution, liquidation and/or bankruptcy of the Guarantor the holders of Dated Subordinated Notes will only be paid by the Guarantor after all Senior Creditors of the Guarantor have been paid in full and the holders of Dated Subordinated Notes irrevocably waive their right to be treated equally with all other unsecured, unsubordinated creditors of the Guarantor.

4. NEGATIVE PLEDGE (SENIOR NOTES ONLY)

This Condition 4 shall apply only to Senior Notes and references to "Notes" and "Noteholders" shall be construed accordingly. If the Notes are specified as Senior Notes in the applicable Pricing Supplement, so long as any of the Notes remains outstanding (as defined in the Agency Agreement), neither the Issuer nor the Guarantor (if applicable) shall create or permit to be outstanding any mortgage, charge, lien, pledge or other similar encumbrance or security interest upon the whole or any part of its undertaking or assets, present or future (including any uncalled capital), to secure any Indebtedness (as defined below) or any guarantee or indemnity given in respect of any Indebtedness, without, in the case of the creation of an encumbrance or security interest, at the same time and, in any other case, promptly according to the Noteholders an equal and rateable interest in the same or providing to the Noteholders such other security as shall be approved by an Extraordinary Resolution (as defined in the Agency Agreement) of the Noteholders.

"Indebtedness" means any borrowings having an original maturity of more than one year in the form of or represented by bonds, notes, debentures or other debt securities which, with the consent of the Issuer are, or are intended to be, listed or traded on any stock exchange, overthe-counter or other organised market for securities (whether or not initially distributed by way of private placing).

5. INTEREST

- (a) Interest on Fixed Rate Notes
 - (i) Each Fixed Rate Note bears interest on its nominal amount (or, if it is a Partly Paid Note, the amount paid up) from (and including) the Interest Commencement Date specified in the applicable Pricing Supplement at the rate(s) per annum equal to the Rate(s) of Interest so specified payable in arrear on the Interest Payment Date(s) in each year and on the Maturity Date so specified if that does not fall on an Interest Payment Date.
 - Except as provided in the applicable Pricing Supplement, the amount of interest payable on each Interest Payment Date in respect of the Fixed Interest Period ending on (but excluding) such date will amount to the Fixed Coupon Amount. Payments of interest on any Interest Payment Date will, if so specified in the applicable Pricing Supplement, amount to the Broken Amount so specified.
 - (ii) As used in these Terms and Conditions, "Fixed Interest Period" means the period from (and including) an Interest Payment Date (or the Interest Commencement Date) to (but excluding) the next (or first) Interest Payment Date.
 - If interest is required to be calculated for a period other than a Fixed Interest Period, such interest shall be calculated by applying the Rate of Interest to each Specified Denomination, multiplying such sum by the applicable Day Count Fraction, and rounding the resultant figure to the nearest sub-unit of the relevant Specified Currency, half of any such sub-unit being rounded upwards or otherwise in accordance with applicable market convention.
 - "Day Count Fraction" means, in respect of the calculation of an amount of interest in accordance with this Condition 5(a):
 - (i) if "Actual/Actual (ISMA)" is specified in the applicable Pricing Supplement:

- (a) in the case of Notes where the number of days in the relevant period from (and including) the most recent Interest Payment Date (or, if none, the Interest Commencement Date) to (but excluding) the relevant payment date the "Accrual Period" is equal to or shorter than the Determination Period during which the Accrual Period ends, the number of days in such Accrual Period divided by the product of (1) the number of days in such Determination Period and (2) the number of Determination Dates (as specified in the applicable Pricing Supplement) that would occur in one calendar year; or
- (b) in the case of Notes where the Accrual Period is longer than the Determination Period during which the Accrual Period ends, the sum of:
 - (1) the number of days in such Accrual Period falling in the Determination Period in which the Accrual Period begins divided by the product of (x) the number of days in such Determination Period and (y) the number of Determination Dates (as specified in the applicable Pricing Supplement) that would occur in one calendar year; and
 - (2) the number of days in such Accrual Period falling in the next Determination Period divided by the product of (x) the number of days in such Determination Period and (y) the number of Determination Dates that would occur in one calendar year; and
- (ii) if "30/360" is specified in the applicable Pricing Supplement, the number of days in the period from (and including) the most recent Interest Payment Date (or, if none, the Interest Commencement Date) to (but excluding) the relevant payment date (such number of days being calculated on the basis of a year of 360 days with 12 30-day months) divided by 360.

In these Terms and Conditions:

"Determination Period" means each period from (and including) a Determination Date to but excluding the next Determination Date (including, whether the Interest Commencement Date of the final Interest Payment Date is not a Determination Date, the period commencing on the first Determination Date prior to, and ending on the first Determination Date falling after, such date);

"euro" means the currency introduced at the start of the third stage of European economic and monetary union pursuant to the Treaty;

"sub-unit" means, with respect to any currency other than euro, the lowest amount of such currency that is available as legal tender in the country of such currency and, with respect to euro, means one cent; and

"Treaty" means the Treaty establishing the European Community, as amended by the Treaty on European Union and as amended by the Treaty of Amsterdam.

- (b) Interest on Floating Rate Notes and Index Linked Interest Notes
 - (i) Interest Payment Dates

Each Floating Rate Note and Index Linked Interest Note bears interest on its outstanding nominal amount (or, if it is a Partly Paid Note, the amount paid up) from (and including) the Interest Commencement Date and such interest will be payable in arrear on either:

- (A) the Specified Interest Payment Date(s) (each an "Interest Payment Date") in each year specified in the applicable Pricing Supplement; or
- (B) if no Specified Interest Payment Date(s) is/are specified in the applicable Pricing Supplement, each date (each an "Interest Payment Date") which (save as otherwise mentioned in these Terms and Conditions or the applicable Pricing Supplement) falls the number of months or other period specified as the Specified Period in the applicable Pricing Supplement after the preceding Interest Payment Date or, in the case of the first Interest Payment Date, after the Interest Commencement Date.

Such interest will be payable in respect of each Interest Period (which expression shall, in these Terms and Conditions, mean the period from (and including) an Interest Payment Date (or the Interest Commencement Date) to (but excluding) the next (or first) Interest Payment Date).

If a Business Day Convention is specified in the applicable Pricing Supplement and (x) if there is no numerically corresponding day on the calendar month in which an Interest Payment Date should occur or (y) if any Interest Payment Date would otherwise fall on a day which is not a Business Day (as defined below), then, if the Business Day Convention specified is:

- (1) in any case where Specified Periods are specified in accordance with Condition 5(b)(i)(B) above, the Floating Rate Convention, such Interest Payment Date (i) in the case of (x) above, shall be the last day that is a Business Day in the relevant month and the provisions of (B) below shall apply *mutatis mutandis* or (ii) in the case of (y) above, shall be postponed to the next day which is a Business Day unless it would thereby fall into the next calendar month, in which event (A) such Interest Payment Date shall be brought forward to the immediately preceding Business Day and (B) each subsequent Interest Payment Date shall be the last Business Day in the month which falls the Specified Period after the preceding applicable Interest Payment Date occurred; or
- (2) the Following Business Day Convention, such Interest Payment Date shall be postponed to the next day which is a Business Day; or
- (3) the Modified Following Business Day Convention, such Interest Payment Date shall be postponed to the next day which is a Business Day unless it would thereby fall into the next calendar month, in which event such Interest Payment Date shall be brought forward to the immediately preceding Business Day; or
- (4) the Preceding Business Day Convention, such Interest Payment Date shall be brought forward to the immediately preceding Business Day.

"Business Day" means (unless otherwise stated in the applicable Pricing supplement) a day which is both:

- (A) a day on which commercial banks and foreign exchange markets settle payments and are open for general business (including dealing in foreign exchange and foreign currency deposits) in London and any Additional Business Centre specified in the applicable Pricing Supplement; and
- (B) either (1) in relation to any sum payable in a Specified Currency other than euro, a day on which commercial banks and foreign exchange markets settle payments and are open for general business (including dealing in foreign exchange and foreign currency deposits) in the principal financial centre of the country of the relevant Specified Currency (if other than London and any Additional Business Centre and which if the Specified Currency is Australian dollars or New Zealand dollars shall be Melbourne or Wellington respectively) or (2) in relation to any sum payable in euro, a day on which the Trans-European Automated Real-Time Gross Settlement Express Transfer (TARGET) system (the "TARGET System") is open.

(ii) Rate of Interest

The Rate of Interest payable from time to time in respect of Floating Rate Notes and Index Linked Interest Notes will be determined in the manner specified in the applicable Pricing Supplement.

(iii) ISDA Determination for Floating Rate Notes

Where ISDA Determination is specified in the applicable Pricing Supplement as the manner in which the Rate of Interest is to be determined, the Rate of Interest for each Interest Period will be the relevant ISDA Rate plus or minus (as indicated in the applicable Pricing Supplement) the Margin (if any). For the purposes of this sub-paragraph (iii), "ISDA Rate" for an Interest Period means a rate equal to the Floating Rate that would be determined by the Agent or other person specified in the applicable Pricing Supplement under an interest rate swap transaction if the Agent or that other person were acting as Calculation Agent for that swap transaction under the terms of an agreement incorporating the 2000 ISDA Definitions as published by the International Swaps and Derivatives Association Inc.

and as amended and updated as at the Issue Date of the first Tranche of the Notes (the "ISDA Definitions") and under which:

- (A) the Floating Rate Option is as specified in the applicable Pricing Supplement;
- (B) the Designated Maturity is a period specified in the applicable Pricing Supplement;
- (C) the relevant Reset Date is either (i) if the applicable Floating Rate Option is based on the London inter-bank offered rate ("LIBOR") or on the Euro-zone inter-bank offered rate ("EURIBOR") for a currency, the first day of that Interest Period or (ii) in any other case, as specified in the applicable Pricing Supplement.

For purposes of this sub-paragraph (iii)(a) "Floating Rate", "Calculation Agent", "Floating Rate Option", "Designated Maturity" and "Reset Date" have the meanings given to those terms in the ISDA Definitions, (b) the definition of "Banking Day" in the ISDA Definitions shall be amended to insert after the words "are open for" in the second line the word "general" and (c) "Euro-zone" means the region comprised of Member States of the European Union that adopt the single currency in accordance with the Treaty.

Where this sub-paragraph (iii) applies, in respect of each relevant Interest Period, the Agent will be deemed to have discharged its obligations under paragraph (vi) below in respect of the determination of the Rate of Interest if it has determined the Rate of Interest in respect of such Interest Period in the manner provided in this sub-paragraph (iii).

(iv) Screen Rate Determination for Floating Rate Notes

Where Screen Rate Determination is specified in the applicable Pricing Supplement as the manner in which the Rate of Interest is to be determined, the Rate of Interest for each Interest Period will, subject as provided below, be either:

- (A) the offered quotation (if there is only one quotation on the Relevant Screen Page); or
- (B) the arithmetic mean (rounded if necessary to the fourth decimal place, with 0.00005 being rounded upwards) of the offered quotations,

(expressed as a percentage rate per annum), for the Reference Rate which appears or appear, as the case may be, on the Relevant Screen Page as at 11.00 a.m. (London time, in the case of LIBOR, or Brussels time, in the case of EURIBOR) on the Interest Determination Date in question plus or minus (as indicated in the applicable Pricing supplement) the Margin (if any), all as determined by the Agent. If five or more such offered quotations are available on the Relevant Screen Page, the highest (or, if there is more than one such highest quotation, one only of such quotations) and the lowest (or, if there is more than one such lowest quotation, only one of such quotations) shall be disregarded by the Agent for the purpose of determining the arithmetic mean (rounded as provided above) of such offered quotations.

The Agency Agreement contains provisions for determining the Rate of Interest in the event that the Relevant Screen Page is not available or if, in the case of (A) above no such quotation appears or, in the case of (B) above, fewer than three such offered quotations appear, in each case as at the time specified in the preceding paragraph.

If the Reference Rate from time to time in respect of Floating Rate Notes is specified in the applicable Pricing Supplement as being other than LIBOR or EURIBOR, the Rate of Interest in respect of such Notes will be determined as provided in the applicable Pricing Supplement.

(v) Minimum and/or Maximum Rate of Interest

If the applicable Pricing Supplement specifies a Minimum Rate of Interest for any Interest Period then, in the event that the Rate of Interest in respect of such Interest Period determined in accordance with the above provisions is less than such Minimum Rate of Interest, the Rate of Interest for such Interest Period shall be such Minimum Rate of Interest. If the applicable Pricing Supplement specifies a Maximum Rate of Interest for any Interest Period then, in the event that the Rate of Interest in respect of any such Interest Period determined in accordance with the above provisions is greater than such

Maximum Rate of Interest, the Rate of Interest for such Interest Period shall be such Maximum Rate of Interest.

(vi) Determination of Rate of Interest and Calculation of Interest Amount

The Agent, in the case of Floating Rate Notes, and the Calculation Agent, in the case of Index Linked Interest Notes, will, at or as soon as practicable after each time at which the Rate of Interest is to be determined, determine the Rate of Interest for the relevant Interest Period. In the case of Index Linked Interest Notes, the Calculation Agent will notify the Agent of the Rate of Interest for the relevant Interest Period as soon as practicable after calculating the same. The Agent will calculate the amount of interest (the ''Interest Amount'') payable on the Floating Rate Notes or Index Linked Interest Notes in respect of each Specified Denomination for the relevant Interest Period. Each Interest Amount shall be calculated by applying the Rate of Interest to the Specified Denomination, multiplying such sum by the applicable Day Count Fraction, and rounding the resultant figure to the nearest cent (or its approximate equivalent sub-unit of the relevant Specified Currency, half of any sub-unit being rounded upwards or otherwise in accordance with applicable market convention).

"Day Count Fraction" means, in respect of the calculation of an amount of interest for any Interest Period:

- (a) if "Actual/365" or "Actual/Actual" is specified in the applicable Pricing Supplement, the actual number of days in the Interest Period divided by 365 (or, if any portion of that Interest Period falls in a leap year, the sum of (A) the actual number of days in that portion of the Interest Period falling in a leap year divided by 366 and (B) the actual number of days in that portion of the Interest Period falling in a non-leap year divided by 365);
- (b) if "Actual/365 Fixed" is specified in the applicable Pricing Supplement, the actual number of days in the Interest Period divided by 365;
- (c) if "Actual/365 (Sterling)" is specified in the applicable Pricing Supplement, the actual number of days in the Interest Period divided by 365 or, in the case of an Interest Payment Date falling in a leap year, 366;
- (d) if "Actual/360" is specified in the applicable Pricing Supplement, the actual number of days in the Interest Period divided by 360;
- (e) if "30/360", "360/360" or "Bond Basis" is specified in the applicable Pricing Supplement, the number of days in the Interest Period divided by 360 (the number of days to be calculated on the basis of a year of 360 days with 12 30-day months (unless (a) the last day of the Interest Period is the 31st day of a month but the first day of the Interest Period is a day other than the 30th or 31st day of a month, in which case the month that includes that last day shall not be considered to be shortened to a 30-day month, or (b) the last day of the Interest Period is the last day of the month of February, in which case the month of February shall not be considered to be lengthened to a 30-day month)); and
- (f) if "30E/360" or "Eurobond Basis" is specified in the applicable Pricing Supplement the number of days in the Interest Period divided by 360 (the number of days to be calculated on the basis of a year of 360 days with 12 30-day months, without regard to the date of the first day or the last day of the Interest Period unless, in the case of an Interest Period ending on the Maturity Date, the Maturity Date is the last day of the month of February, in which case the month of February shall not be considered to be lengthened to a 30-day month).

(vii) Notification of Rate of Interest and Interest Amount

The Agent will cause the Rate of Interest and each Interest Amount for each Interest Period and the relevant Interest Payment Date to be notified *inter alia* to the Issuer and, if applicable, the Guarantor and to any stock exchange on which the relevant Floating Rate Notes or Index Linked Interest Notes are for the time being listed, and notice thereof to be published in accordance with Condition 15 as soon as possible after their determination

but in no event later than the fourth London Business Day thereafter. Each Interest Amount and Interest Payment Date so notified may subsequently be amended (or appropriate alternative arrangements made by way of adjustment). Any such amendment will be promptly notified to each stock exchange on which the relevant Floating Rate Notes or Index Linked Interest Notes are for the time being listed and to the Noteholders in accordance with Condition 15. For the purposes of this paragraph, the expression "London Business Day" means a day (other than a Saturday or a Sunday) on which banks and foreign exchange markets are open for business in London.

(viii) Certificates to be final

All certificates, communications, opinions, determinations, calculations, quotations and decisions given, expressed, made or obtained for the purposes of the provisions of this Condition 5(b) shall (in the absence of wilful default, bad faith or manifest error) be binding on the Issuer, the Guarantor (if applicable), the Agent, the Calculation Agent (if applicable), the other Paying Agents and all Noteholders, Receiptholders and Couponholders and (in the absence as aforesaid) no liability to the Issuer, the Guarantor (if applicable), the Noteholders, the Receiptholders or the Couponholders shall attach to the Agent or the Calculation Agent (if applicable) in connection with the exercise or non-exercise by it of its powers, duties and discretions pursuant to such provisions.

(c) Interest on Dual Currency Notes

In the case of Dual Currency Notes, if the rate or amount of interest falls to be determined by reference to an exchange rate, the rate or amount of interest payable shall be determined in the manner specified in the applicable Pricing Supplement.

(d) Interest on Partly Paid Notes

In the case of Partly Paid Notes (other than Partly Paid Notes which are Zero Coupon Notes), interest will accrue as aforesaid on the paid-up nominal amount of such Notes and otherwise as specified in the applicable Pricing Supplement.

(e) Accrual of Interest

Each Note (or in the case of the redemption of part only of a Note, that part only of such Note) will cease to bear interest (if any) from the due date for its redemption unless, upon due presentation thereof, payment of principal is improperly withheld or refused. In such event, interest will continue to accrue thereon (as well after as before any demand or judgment) at the rate then applicable to the principal amount of the Notes or such other rate as may be specified in the relevant Pricing Supplement until whichever is the earlier of (1) the date on which all amounts due in respect of such Note have been paid, and (2) date on which the Agent having received the funds required to make such payment, notice is given to the Noteholders in accordance with Condition 15 of that circumstance (except to the extent that there is failure in the subsequent payment thereof to the relevant Noteholder).

6. REDEMPTION AND PURCHASE

(a) Redemption at Maturity

Unless previously redeemed or purchased and cancelled as specified below, each Note will be redeemed by the Issuer at its Final Redemption Amount specified in, or determined in the manner specified in, the applicable Pricing Supplement in the relevant Specified Currency on the Maturity Date specified in the applicable Pricing Supplement.

(b) Redemption for Tax Reasons

If as a result of any amendment to or change in the laws or regulations of the jurisdiction of incorporation of the Issuer or, if applicable, the Guarantor or, in the case of Piraeus Bank issuing Notes through a branch situated in a jurisdiction other than the Hellenic Republic, such other jurisdiction or in each case of any political subdivision thereof or any authority or agency therein or thereof having power to tax or in the interpretation or administration of any such laws or regulations which amendment or change becomes effective on or after the date on which agreement is reached to issue the first Tranche of the Notes the Issuer would be unable for reasons outside its control to make payment or the Guarantor (if applicable) would be unable for

reasons outside its control to procure payment by the Issuer and in making payment itself would be required to pay additional amounts as provided in Condition 10, the Issuer may, (subject, in the case of Dated Subordinated Notes, to the prior approval of the Bank of Greece), at its option and having given no less than 30 nor more than 60 days' notice (ending, in the case of Notes which bear interest at a floating rate, on any Interest Payment Date) to the Agent and, in accordance with Condition 15, the Noteholders (which notice shall be irrevocable), redeem all (but not some only) of the outstanding Notes at their Early Redemption Amount as may be specified in, or determined in accordance with, the applicable Pricing Supplement together (if appropriate) with interest accrued to (but excluding) the date of redemption provided that no such notice of redemption shall be given earlier than 90 days prior to the earliest date on which the Issuer or, as the case may be, the Guarantor (if applicable) would be obliged to pay such additional amounts were a payment in respect of the Notes then due. Upon the expiry of such notice, the Issuer shall be bound to redeem the Notes accordingly.

(c) Redemption at the Option of the Issuer (Issuer Call)

If Issuer Call is specified in the applicable Pricing Supplement, the Issuer may, (subject, in the case of Dated Subordinated Notes, to the prior approval of the Bank of Greece), having (unless otherwise specified in the applicable Pricing Supplement) given not more than 30 nor less than 15 days' notice to the Agent and, in accordance with Condition 15, the Noteholders (which notice shall be irrevocable), redeem all or some only of the Notes then outstanding on any Optional Redemption Date and at the Optional Redemption Amount(s) specified in, or determined in the manner specified in, the applicable Pricing Supplement together, if applicable, with interest accrued to (but excluding) the relevant Optional Redemption Date. Upon the expiry of such notice, the Issuer shall be bound to redeem the Notes accordingly.

In the event of a redemption of some only of the Notes, such redemption must be of a nominal amount being not less than the Minimum Redemption Amount or not more than a Maximum Redemption Amount, both as indicated in the applicable Pricing Supplement. In the case of a partial redemption of definitive Notes, the Notes to be redeemed will be selected individually by lot not more than 30 days prior to the date fixed for redemption and a list of the Notes called for redemption will be published in accordance with Condition 15 not less than 15 days prior to such date. In the case of a partial redemption of Notes which are represented by a global Note, the relevant Notes will be selected in accordance with the rules of Euroclear and/or Clearstream, Luxembourg.

(d) Redemption at the Option of the Noteholders (Investor Put)

This Condition 6(d) is applicable only in relation to Notes specified in the relevant Pricing Supplement as being Senior Notes and references to "Notes" and "Noteholders" shall be construed accordingly.

If Investor Put is specified in the applicable Pricing Supplement, upon any Noteholder giving to the Issuer in accordance with Condition 15 not more than 30 nor less than 15 days' notice (which notice shall be irrevocable), the Issuer will, upon the expiry of such notice, redeem subject to, and in accordance with, the terms specified in the applicable Pricing Supplement such Note on the Optional Redemption Date and at the Optional Redemption Amount specified in, or determined in the manner specified in, the applicable Pricing Supplement together, if applicable, with interest accrued to (but excluding) the relevant Optional Redemption Date.

If this Note is in definitive form, to exercise any right to require redemption of this Note the holder of this Note must deliver such Note at the specified office of any Paying Agent at any time during normal business hours of such Paying Agent falling within the notice period, accompanied by a duly completed and signed notice of exercise in the form (for the time being current) obtainable from any specified office of any Paying Agent (a "Put Notice") and in which the holder must specify a bank account (or, if payment is by cheque, an address) to which payment is to be made under this Condition.

Any Put Notice given by a holder of any Note pursuant to this paragraph shall be irrevocable except where prior to the due date of repayment an Event of Default shall have occurred and be continuing in which event such holder, at its option, may elect by notice to the Issuer to withdraw the notice given pursuant to this paragraph.

(e) Early Redemption Amounts

For the purposes of paragraph (b) above and Condition 11, each Note will be redeemed at an amount (the "Early Redemption Amount") determined or calculated as follows:

- (i) in the case of a Note with a Final Redemption Amount equal to the Issue Price, at the Final Redemption Amount thereof; or
- (ii) in the case of a Note (other than a Zero Coupon Note but including an Instalment Note and Partly Paid Note) with a Final Redemption Amount which is or may be less or greater than the Issue Price or which is payable in a Specified Currency other than that in which the Notes are denominated, at the amount set out in, or determined in the manner set out in, the applicable Pricing Supplement or, if no such amount or manner is set out in that Pricing Supplement, at their nominal amount; or
- (iii) in the case of a Zero Coupon Note, at an amount (the "Amortised Face Amount") equal to the sum of:
 - (A) the Reference Price specified in the applicable Pricing Supplement; and
 - (B) the product of the Accrual Yield specified in the applicable Pricing Supplement (compounded annually) being applied to the Reference Price from (and including) the Issue Date of the first Tranche of the Notes to (but excluding) the date fixed for redemption or (as the case may be) the date upon which such Note becomes due and repayable,

or such other amount as is provided in the applicable Pricing Supplement.

Where such calculation is to be made for a period which is not a whole number of years, it shall be made (i) in the case of a Zero Coupon Note other than a Zero Coupon Note payable in euro, on the basis of a 360-day year consisting of 12 months of 30 days each or (ii) in the case of a Zero Coupon Note payable in euro, on the basis of the actual number of days elapsed divided by 365 (or, if any of the days elapsed falls in a leap year, the sum of (x) the number of those days falling in a leap year divided by 365 and (y) the number of those days falling in a non-leap year divided by 365) or (in either case) on such other calculation basis as may be specified in the applicable Pricing Supplement.

(f) Instalments

If the Notes are repayable in instalments, they will be redeemed in the Instalment Amounts and on the Instalment Dates specified in the applicable Pricing Supplement.

(g) Partly Paid Notes

Partly Paid Notes will be redeemed, whether at maturity, early redemption or otherwise, in accordance with the provisions of this Condition and the applicable Pricing Supplement.

(h) Purchases

The Issuer, the Guarantor (if applicable) or any Subsidiary (as defined in the Agency Agreement) of the Issuer or the Guarantor (if applicable) may (subject, in the case of Dated Subordinated Notes, to the prior approval of the Bank of Greece), at any time purchase Notes (together, in the case of definitive Notes, with all Receipts, Coupons and Talons appertaining thereto) in any manner and at any price. In the case of a purchase by tender, such tender must be made available to all Noteholders alike. Such Notes may be held, reissued, resold or, at the option of the Issuer or the Guarantor, as the case may be, surrendered to any Paying Agent for cancellation.

(i) Cancellation

All Notes which are redeemed in full will forthwith be cancelled (together with all unmatured Receipts, Coupons and Talons attached thereto or surrendered therewith at the time of redemption). All Notes so cancelled and the Notes which are purchased and cancelled pursuant to paragraph (h) above (together with all unmatured Receipts, Coupons and Talons attached thereto or delivered therewith) shall be forwarded to the Agent and cannot be reissued or resold.

(j) Late Payment on Zero Coupon Notes

If the amount payable in respect of any Zero Coupon Note upon redemption of such Zero Coupon Note pursuant to paragraph (a), (b), (c) or (d) above or upon its becoming due and repayable as provided in Condition 11 is improperly withheld or refused, the amount due and repayable in respect of such Zero Coupon Note shall be the amount calculated as provided in paragraph (e)(iii) above as though the references therein to the date fixed for redemption or the date upon which the Zero Coupon Note becomes due and repayable were replaced by references to the date which is the earlier of:

- (1) the date on which all amounts due in respect of the Zero Coupon Note have been paid; and
- (2) the date on which the full amount of the moneys payable has been received by the Agent and notice to that effect has been given to the Noteholders in accordance with Condition 15.

7. PAYMENTS

(a) Method of Payment

Subject as provided below:

- (i) payments in a Specified Currency other than euro will be made by credit or transfer to an account in the relevant Specified Currency (which, in the case of a payment in Japanese yen to a non-resident of Japan, will be a non-resident account) maintained by the payee with, or, at the option of the payee, by a cheque in such Specified Currency drawn on, a bank in the principal financial centre of the country of such Specified Currency (which, if the Specified Currency is Australian dollars or New Zealand dollars, shall be Melbourne or Wellington, respectively); and
- (ii) payments in euro will be made by credit or transfer to a euro account (or any other account to which euro may be credited or transferred) specified by the payee or, at the option of the payee, by a euro cheque.

Payments will be subject in all cases to any fiscal or other laws and regulations applicable thereto in the place of payment, but without prejudice to the provisions of Condition 10.

(b) Presentation of Notes, Receipts and Coupons

Payments of principal in respect of definitive Notes will (subject as provided below) be made in the manner provided in paragraph (a) above against presentation and surrender (or, in the case of part payment only, endorsement) of definitive Notes and payments of interest in respect of definitive Notes will (subject as provided below) be made as aforesaid against presentation and surrender (or, in the case of part payment only, endorsement) of Coupons, in each case at the specified office of any Paying Agent outside the United States (as referred to below).

Payments of instalments (if any) of principal in respect of definitive Notes, other than the final instalment, will (subject as provided below) be made in the manner provided in (a) above against presentation and surrender (or, in the case of part payment of any sum due, endorsement) at the specified office of any Paying Agent of the relevant Receipt in accordance with the preceding paragraph. Payment of the final instalment will be made in the manner provided in (a) above only against surrender (or, in the case of part payment of any sum due, endorsement) of the relevant Note. Each Receipt must be presented for payment of the relevant instalment together with the definitive Note to which it appertains. Receipts presented without the definitive Note to which they appertain do not constitute valid obligations of the Issuer. Upon the date on which any definitive Note becomes due and repayable, unmatured Receipts (if any) appertaining thereto (whether or not attached) shall become void and no payment shall be made in respect thereof.

Fixed Rate Notes in definitive form (other than Dual Currency Notes or Index Linked Notes) should be presented for payment together with all unmatured Coupons appertaining thereto (which expression shall for this purpose include Coupons falling to be issued on exchange of matured Talons) failing which the amount of any missing unmatured Coupon (or, in the case of payment not being made in full, the same proportion of the amount of such missing unmatured Coupon as the sum so paid bears to the sum due) will be deducted from the sum due for payment. Each amount of principal so deducted will be paid in the manner mentioned above

against presentation and surrender (or, in the case of part payment only, endorsement) of the relative missing Coupon at any time before the expiry of ten years after the Relevant Date (as defined in Condition 10) in respect of such principal (whether or not such Coupon would otherwise have become void under Condition 14) or, if later, five years from the date on which such Coupon would otherwise have become due but in no event thereafter. Upon any Fixed Rate Note in definitive form becoming due and repayable prior to its Maturity Date, all unmatured Talons (if any) appertaining thereto will become void and no further Coupons will be issued in respect thereof.

Upon the date on which any Floating Rate Note, Dual Currency Note or Index Linked Interest Note in definitive form becomes due and repayable, unmatured Coupons and Talons (if any) relating thereto (whether or not attached) shall become void and no payment or, as the case may be, exchange for further Coupons shall be made in respect thereof.

If the due date for redemption of any definitive Note is not an Interest Payment Date, interest (if any) accrued in respect of such Note from (and including) the preceding Interest Payment Date or, as the case may be, the Interest Commencement Date shall be payable only against surrender of the relevant definitive Note.

Payments of principal and interest (if any) in respect of Notes represented by any global Note will (subject as provided below) be made in the manner specified above in relation to definitive Notes and otherwise in the manner specified in the relevant global Note against presentation or surrender (or, in the case of part payment only, endorsement), as the case may be, of such global Note at the specified office of any Paying Agent outside the United States. A record of each payment made against presentation or surrender of such global Note, distinguishing between any payment of principal and any payment of interest, will be made on such global Note by the Paying Agent to which it was presented and such record shall be prima facie evidence that the payment in question has been made.

The holder of the relevant global Note shall be the only person entitled to receive payments in respect of Notes represented by such global Note and the Issuer will be discharged by payment to, or to the order of, the holder of such global Note in respect of each amount so paid. Each of the persons shown in the records of Euroclear or Clearstream, Luxembourg as the beneficial holder of a particular nominal amount of Notes represented by such Global Note must look solely to Euroclear or Clearstream, Luxembourg, as the case may be, for his share of each payment so made by the Issuer, or to the order of, the holder of the relevant global Note. No person other than the holder of the relevant global Note shall have any claim against the Issuer in respect of any payments due in respect of the Notes represented by such global Note.

Payments of principal and/or interest in respect of the Notes will be made at the specified office of a Paying Agent in the United States (which expression, as used herein, means the United States of America (including the States and the District of Columbia, its territories, its possessions and other areas subject to its jurisdiction)) if:

- (i) the Issuer has appointed Paying Agents with specified offices outside the United States with the reasonable expectation that such Paying Agents would be able to make payment at such specified offices outside the United States of the full amount of principal and interest on the Notes in the manner provided above when due;
- (ii) payment of the full amount of such principal and interest at such specified offices outside the United States is illegal or effectively precluded by exchange controls or other similar restrictions on the full payment or receipt of principal and interest; and
- (iii) such payment is then permitted under United States law without involving, in the opinion of the Issuer, adverse tax consequences to the Issuer or the Guarantor (if applicable).

(c) Redenomination

Where Redenomination is specified in the applicable Pricing Supplement as being applicable, the Issuer may, without the consent of the Noteholders, the Receiptholders or the Couponholders, on giving prior notice to the Agent, Euroclear and Clearstream, Luxembourg and at least 30 days' prior notice to the Noteholders in accordance with Condition 15, elect that, with effect from the Redenomination Date specified in the notice, the Notes shall be redenominated in euro.

The election will have effect as follows:

- (i) the Notes and the Receipts shall be deemed to be redenominated into euro in the denomination of euro 0.01 with a principal amount for each Note and Receipt equal to the principal amount of that Note or Receipt in the Specified Currency, converted into euro at the Established Rate, provided that, if the Issuer determines, with the agreement of the Agent, that the then market practice in respect of the redenomination into euro of internationally offered securities is different from the provisions specified above, such provisions shall be deemed to be amended so as to comply with such market practice and the Issuer shall promptly notify the Noteholders, the stock exchange (if any) on which the Notes may be listed and the Paying Agents of such deemed amendments;
- (ii) save to the extent that an Exchange Notice has been given in accordance with paragraph (iv) below, the amount of interest due in respect of the Notes will be calculated by reference to the aggregate principal amount of Notes presented (or, as the case may be, in respect of which Coupons are presented) for payment by the relevant holder and the amount of such payment shall be rounded down to the nearest euro 0.01;
- (iii) if definitive Notes are required to be issued after the Redenomination Date, they shall be issued at the expense of the Issuer in the denominations of euro 1,000, euro 100,000 and (but only to the extent of any remaining amounts less than euro 1,000 or such smaller denominations as the Agent may approve) euro 0.01 and such other denominations as the Agent shall determine and notify to the Noteholders;
- (iv) if issued prior to the Redenomination Date, all unmatured Coupons denominated in the Specified Currency (whether or not attached to the Notes) will become void with effect from the date on which the Issuer gives notice (the "Exchange Notice") that replacement euro-denominated Notes, Receipts and Coupons are available for exchange (provided that such securities are so available) and no payments will be made in respect of them. The payment obligations contained in any Notes and Receipts so issued will also become void on that date although those Notes and Receipts will continue to constitute valid exchange obligations of the Issuer. New euro-denominated Notes, Receipts and Coupons will be issued in exchange for Notes, Receipts and Coupons denominated in the Specified Currency in such manner as the Agent may specify and as shall be notified to the Noteholders in the Exchange Notice. No Exchange Notice may be given less than 15 days prior to any date for payment of principal or interest on the Notes;
- (v) after the Redenomination Date, all payments in respect of the Notes, the Receipts and the Coupons, other than payments of interest in respect of periods commencing before the Redenomination Date, will be made solely in euro as though references in the Notes to the Specified Currency were to euro. Payments will be made in euro by credit or transfer to a euro account (or any other account to which euro may be credited or transferred) specified by the payee or, at the option of the payee, by a euro cheque;
- (vi) if the Notes are Fixed Rate Notes and interest for any period ending on or after the Redenomination Date is required to be calculated for a period ending other than on an Interest Payment Date, it will be calculated by applying the Rate of Interest to each Specified Denomination, multiplying such sum by the applicable Fixed Day Count Fraction specified in the applicable Pricing Supplement, and rounding the resultant figure to the nearest sub-unit of the relevant Specified Currency, half of any such sub-unit being rounded upwards or otherwise in accordance with applicable market convention;
- (vii) if the Notes are Floating Rate Notes, any applicable changes to the provisions relating to interest will be specified in the applicable Pricing Supplement; and
- (viii) such other changes shall be made to these Terms and Conditions as the Issuer may decide, after consultation with the Agent, and as may be specified in the notice, to conform them to conventions then applicable to instruments denominated in euro or to enable the Notes to be consolidated with one or more issues of other notes, whether or not originally denominated in the Specified Currency or euro.

(d) Exchange

Where Exchange is specified in the applicable Pricing Supplement as being applicable, the Issuer may, without the consent of the Noteholders, the Receiptholders or the Couponholders, on giving prior notice to the Agent, Euroclear and Clearstream, Luxembourg and not less than 30 days' prior notice to the Noteholders in accordance with Condition 15 (and, if the Notes are listed, to the relevant Stock Exchange), elect that, with effect from the Redenomination Date specified in the notice, the Notes shall be exchangeable for notes expressed to be denominated in euro in accordance with such arrangements as the Issuer may decide, after consultation with the Agent, and as may be specified in the notice, including arrangements under which Receipts and Coupons unmatured at the date so specified become void.

(e) Consolidation

Where Consolidation is specified in the applicable Pricing Supplement as being applicable, the Issuer may also from time to time, without the consent of the Noteholders, Couponholders or Receiptholders, on giving prior notice to the Agent, Euroclear and Clearstream, Luxembourg and not less than 30 days' prior notice to the Noteholders in accordance with Condition 15, consolidate the Notes, with effect from the Redenomination Date specified in the notice, with one or more issues of other notes ("Other Notes") issued by it, whether or not originally issued in the relevant currency or euro, provided that such Other Notes have been redenominated into euro (if not originally denominated in euro) and otherwise have, in respect of all periods subsequent to such consolidation, the same or substantially the same terms and conditions as the Notes.

The Issuer may exercise its right referred to above if it determines, in consultation with the Agent, that the Notes and Other Notes which it proposes to consolidate will, with effect from their consolidation:

- (i) be cleared and settled on an interchangeable basis with the same International Securities Identification Number through each Relevant Clearing System through which the Notes or the relevant Other Notes were cleared and settled immediately prior to consolidation; and
- (ii) be listed on at least one European stock exchange on which debt obligations issued in the euromarkets are then customarily listed and on which either the Notes or the relevant Other Notes were listed immediately prior to consolidation.

(f) Definitions

In this Condition, the following expressions have the following meanings:

"Established Rate" means the rate for the conversion of the Specified Currency (including compliance with rules relating to roundings in accordance with applicable European Community regulations) into euro established by the Council of the European Union pursuant to Article 109(1)(4) of the Treaty;

"Redenomination Date" means (in the case of interest bearing Notes) any date for payment of interest under the Notes or (in the case of Zero Coupon Notes) any date, in each case specified by the Issuer in the notice given to the Noteholders pursuant to paragraph (c) or, as the case may be, (d) above, and which falls on or after the date on which the country of the Specified Currency first participates in the third stage of European economic and monetary union.

"Relevant Clearing System" means:

- (i) Euroclear and Clearstream, Luxembourg;
- (ii) any clearing system which is a central securities depositary for the Notes or the relevant Other Notes; and
- (iii) the principal clearing system (if any) in the country of the original currency of denomination of the Notes or the relevant Other Notes if the Notes or the relevant Other Notes were clearing and settling in such clearing system immediately prior to consolidation.

(g) Payment Day

If the date for payment of any amount in respect of any Note, Receipt or Coupon is not a Payment Day, the holder thereof shall not be entitled to payment until the next following

Payment Day in the relevant place and shall not be entitled to further interest or other payment in respect of such delay. For these purposes, unless otherwise specified in the applicable Pricing Supplement, "Payment Day" means any day which (subject to Condition 14) is:

- (i) a day on which commercial banks and foreign exchange markets settle payments and are open for general business (including dealing in foreign exchange and foreign currency deposits) in
 - (a) the relevant place of presentation;
 - (b) London;
 - (c) any Additional Financial Centre specified in the applicable Pricing Supplement; and
- (ii) either (1) in relation to any sum payable in a Specified Currency other than euro, a day on which commercial banks and foreign exchange markets settle payments and are open for general business (including dealing in foreign exchange and foreign currency deposits) in the principal financial centre of the country of the relevant Specified Currency (if other than the place of presentation, London and any Additional Financial Centre and which if the Specified Currency is Australian dollars or New Zealand dollars shall be Melbourne or Wellington respectively or (2) in relation to any sum payable in euro, a day on which the TARGET System is open.

(h) Interpretation of Principal and Interest

Any reference in these Terms and Conditions to principal in respect of the Notes shall be deemed to include, as applicable:

- (i) any additional amounts which may be payable with respect to principal under Condition 10;
- (ii) the Final Redemption Amount of the Notes;
- (iii) the Early Redemption Amount of the Notes;
- (iv) the Optional Redemption Amount(s) (if any) of the Notes;
- (v) in relation to Notes redeemable in instalments, the Instalment Amounts;
- (vi) in relation to Zero Coupon Notes, the Amortised Face Amount (as defined in Condition 6(e)); and
- (vii) any premium and any other amounts which may be payable by the Issuer under or in respect of the Notes.

Any reference in these Terms and Conditions to interest in respect of the Notes shall be deemed to include, as applicable, any additional amounts which may be payable with respect to interest under Condition 10.

8. AGENT AND PAYING AGENTS

The names of the initial Agent and the other initial Paying Agents and their initial specified offices are set out below.

The Issuer and, if applicable, the Guarantor is/are entitled to vary or terminate the appointment of any Paying Agent and/or appoint additional or other Paying Agents and/or approve any change in the specified office through which any Paying Agent acts, provided that:

- so long as the Notes are listed on any stock exchange or admitted to listing by any other relevant authority, there will at all times be a Paying Agent with a specified office in such place as may be required by the rules and regulations of the relevant stock exchange or other relevant authority;
- (ii) there will at all times be an Agent;
- (iii) the Issuer undertakes that it will ensure that it maintains a Paying Agent in a Member State of the European Union that is not obliged to withhold or deduct tax pursuant to European Council Directive 2003/48/EC or any other Directive implementing the conclusions of the ECOFIN Council meeting of 26th-27th November, 2000 or any law implementing or complying with, or introduced in order to conform to, such Directive; and

(iv) there will at all times be a Paying Agent in a jurisdiction within continental Europe, other than the jurisdiction in which the Issuer is incorporated.

In addition, the Issuer shall forthwith appoint a Paying Agent having a specified office in New York City in the circumstances described in the final paragraph of Condition 7(b). Any variation, termination, appointment or change shall only take effect (other than in the case of insolvency, when it shall be of immediate effect) after not less than 30 nor more than 45 days' prior notice thereof shall have been given to the Noteholders in accordance with Condition 15 provided that no such variation, termination, appointment or change shall take effect (except in the case of insolvency) within 15 days before or after any Interest Payment Date.

9. EXCHANGE OF TALONS

On and after the Interest Payment Date on which the final Coupon comprised in any Coupon sheet matures, the Talon (if any) forming part of such Coupon sheet may be surrendered at the specified office of the Agent or any other Paying Agent in exchange for a further Coupon sheet including (if such further Coupon sheet does not include Coupons to (and including) the final date for the payment of interest due in respect of the Notes to which it appertains) a further Talon, subject to the provisions of Condition 14. Each Talon shall, for the purposes of these Terms and Conditions, be deemed to mature on the Interest Payment Date on which the final Coupon comprised in the relative Coupon sheet matures.

10. TAXATION

All amounts of principal, premium and interest in respect of the Notes, Receipts and Coupons payable by or on behalf of the Issuer or the Guarantor (if applicable) shall be made free and clear of, and without withholding or deduction for or on account of any present or future taxes, duties, assessments or governmental charges of whatever nature imposed, collected, withheld, assessed or levied by or on behalf of, in the case of Piraeus PLC, the United Kingdom or, in the case of Piraeus Bank, the Hellenic Republic and, in the case of Piraeus Bank issuing Notes through a branch situated in a jurisdiction other than the Hellenic Republic, the jurisdiction where such branch is situated and, in the case of Piraeus Bank guaranteeing Notes issued by Piraeus PLC, the United Kingdom or, in each case, any political subdivision thereof or any authority or agency therein or thereof having power to tax, unless such withholding or deduction of such taxes, duties, assessments or governmental charges is required by law. In that event, the Issuer or, as the case may be, the Guarantor shall pay such additional amounts as may be necessary in order that the net amounts received by the holders of the Notes, Receipts or Coupons after such withholding or deduction shall equal the respective amounts which would otherwise have been receivable in respect of the Notes, Receipts or Coupons, as the case may be, in the absence of such withholding or deduction; except that no such additional amounts shall be payable in respect of any Note, Receipt or Coupon presented for payment:

- (i) by or on behalf of, a Noteholder, Receiptholder or Couponholder who is liable to such taxes, duties, assessments or governmental charges in respect of such Note, Receipt or Coupon by reason of his having some connection with the United Kingdom, or, as the case may be, the Hellenic Republic, or, as the case may be, the jurisdiction in which the issuing branch is situated other than the mere holding of such Note, Receipt or Coupon; or
- (ii) by or on behalf of a Noteholder, Receiptholder or Couponholder who would not be liable or subject to such withholding or deduction if he were to comply with any statutory requirement or to make a declaration of non-residence or other similar claim for exemption but fails to do so; or
- (iii) more than thirty days after the Relevant Date (as defined below), except to the extent that the relevant Noteholder, Receiptholder or Couponholder would have been entitled to such additional amounts on presenting the same for payment on the expiry of such period of thirty days; or
- (iv) in Greece (in the case of Piraeus Bank unless Piraeus Bank issues Notes through a branch situated in a jurisdiction other than the Hellenic Republic, in which case the reference to Greece shall be construed as a reference to such other jurisdiction) or the United Kingdom (in the case of Piraeus PLC); or

- (v) where such withholding or deduction is imposed on a payment to an individual and is required to be made pursuant to European Council Directive 2003/48/EC or any other Directive implementing the conclusions of the ECOFIN Council meeting of 26th-27th November, 2000 on the taxation of savings income or any law implementing or complying with, or introduced in order to conform to, such Directive; or
- (vi) presented for payment by or on behalf of a holder who would have been able to avoid such withholding or deduction by presenting the relevant Note, Receipt or Coupon to another Paying Agent in a Member State of the European Union.

For the purposes of these Terms and Conditions, the "Relevant Date" means, in respect of any payment, the date on which such payment first becomes due and payable, but if the full amount of the moneys payable has not been received by the Agent on or prior to such due date, it means the first date on which, the full amount of such moneys having been so received, notice to that effect is duly given to the Noteholders in accordance with Condition 15.

11. EVENTS OF DEFAULT

(1) Senior Notes

This Condition 11(1) is applicable only in relation to Notes specified in the relevant Pricing Supplement as being Senior Notes and references to "Notes" and "Noteholders" shall be construed accordingly.

- (a) Unless otherwise specified in the relevant Pricing Supplement, the following events or circumstances (each an "Event of Default") shall be acceleration events in relation to the Notes, namely:
 - (i) the Issuer fails to pay any amount of principal or interest in respect of the Notes on the due date for payment thereof and such failure continues for a period of 14 days; or
 - (ii) the Issuer or, if applicable, the Guarantor defaults in the performance or observance of any of its other obligations under or in respect of the Notes, Receipts or Coupons and such default remains unremedied for 30 days after written notice thereof has been delivered by a Noteholder to the Issuer or the Guarantor, as the case may be, requiring the same to be remedied; or
 - (iii) the repayment of any indebtedness owing by the Issuer or, if applicable, the Guarantor or any Material Subsidiary is accelerated by reason of default and such acceleration has not been rescinded or annulled, or the Issuer or, if applicable, the Guarantor or any Material Subsidiary defaults (after whichever is the longer of any originally applicable period of grace and 14 days after the due date) in any payment of any indebtedness or in the honouring of any guarantee or indemnity in respect of any indebtedness provided that no such event shall constitute an Event of Default unless the indebtedness whether alone or when aggregated with other indebtedness relating to all (if any) other such events which shall have occurred and be continuing shall exceed U.S.\$10,000,000 (or its equivalent in any other currency or currencies); or
 - (iv) any order shall be made by any competent court or resolution passed for the winding up or dissolution of the Issuer or, if applicable, the Guarantor or any Material Subsidiary (other than for the purpose of amalgamation, merger or reconstruction (1) on terms approved by an Extraordinary Resolution of the Noteholders or (2) in the case of a Material Subsidiary whereby the undertaking and the assets of the Material Subsidiary are transferred to or otherwise vested in Piraeus Bank or another of its Subsidiaries); or
 - (v) the Issuer or, if applicable, the Guarantor or any Material Subsidiary shall cease to carry on the whole or substantially the whole of its business (other than for the purpose of an amalgamation, merger or reconstruction (1) on terms approved by an Extraordinary Resolution of the Noteholders or (2) in the case of a Material Subsidiary whereby the undertaking and the assets of the Material Subsidiary are transferred to or otherwise vested in Piraeus Bank or another of its Subsidiaries); or
 - (vi) the Issuer or, if applicable, the Guarantor or any Material Subsidiary shall stop payment or shall be unable to, or shall admit inability to, pay its debts as they fall due, or shall

be adjudicated or found bankrupt or insolvent by a court of competent jurisdiction or shall make a conveyance or assignment for the benefit of, or shall enter into any composition or other arrangement with, its creditors generally; or

- (vii) a receiver, trustee or other similar official shall be appointed in relation to the Issuer or, if applicable, the Guarantor or any Material Subsidiary or in relation to the whole or over half of the assets of the Issuer or, if applicable, the Guarantor or any Material Subsidiary or an interim supervisor of Piraeus Bank is appointed by the Bank of Greece or an encumbrancer shall take possession of the whole or over half of the assets of the Issuer or, if applicable, the Guarantor or any Material Subsidiary, or a distress or execution or other process shall be levied or enforced upon or sued out against the whole or a substantial part of the assets of the Issuer or, if applicable, the Guarantor and in any of the foregoing cases it or he shall not be discharged within 60 days; or
- (viii) the Issuer or, if applicable, the Guarantor or any Material Subsidiary sells, transfers, lends or otherwise disposes of the whole or a major part of its undertaking or assets (including shareholdings in its Subsidiaries or associated companies) and such disposal is substantial in relation to the assets of the Issuer or Piraeus Bank and its Subsidiaries as a whole, other than selling, transferring, lending or otherwise disposing on an arm's length basis;
- (ix) with respect to any Notes issued by Piraeus PLC, the Deed of Guarantee is not in full force and effect.

For the purposes of this Condition 11(1)(a) "Material Subsidiary" means at any time any Subsidiary of Piraeus Bank:

- (i) whose profits or (in the case of a Subsidiary which has subsidiaries) consolidated profits, before taxation and extraordinary items or before taxation and after extraordinary items as shown by its latest audited profit and loss account are at least 15 per cent. of the consolidated profits before taxation and extraordinary items of Piraeus Bank and its Subsidiaries as shown by the then latest published audited consolidated profit and loss account of Piraeus Bank and its Subsidiaries; or
- (ii) whose gross assets or (in the case of a Subsidiary which has subsidiaries) gross consolidated assets as shown by its latest audited balance sheet are at least 15 per cent. of the gross consolidated assets of Piraeus Bank and its Subsidiaries as shown by the then latest published audited consolidated balance sheet of Piraeus Bank and its Subsidiaries; or
- (iii) to which is transferred the whole or substantially the whole of the assets and undertaking of a Subsidiary which immediately prior to such transfer is a Material Subsidiary provided that, in such a case, the Subsidiary so transferring its assets and undertaking shall thereupon cease to be a Material Subsidiary.
- (b) If any Event of Default shall occur and be continuing in relation to any Note, any Noteholder may, by written notice to the Issuer at the specified office of the Agent, declare that such Note shall be forthwith due and payable, whereupon the same shall become immediately due and payable at its Early Redemption Amount as may be specified in or determined in accordance with the relevant Pricing Supplement, together (if appropriate) with interest accrued to (but excluding) the date of redemption.

(2) Dated Subordinated Notes

This Condition 11(2) is applicable only in relation to Notes specified in the relevant Pricing Supplement as being Dated Subordinated Notes and any references to "Notes" or "Noteholders" shall be construed accordingly. The events specified below are both "Subordinated Default Events":

(a) If default is made in the payment of any amount due in respect of the Notes or any of them on the due date and such default continues for a period of 7 days, any Noteholder may institute proceedings for the winding up of the Issuer.

(b) If, otherwise than for the purposes of a reconstruction or amalgamation on terms previously approved by an Extraordinary Resolution of the Noteholders, an order is made or an effective resolution is passed for the winding up of the Issuer, any Noteholder may, by written notice to the Agent, declare such Note to be due and payable whereupon the same shall become immediately due and payable at its Early Redemption Amount as may be specified in or determined in accordance with the relevant Pricing Supplement, together (if appropriate) with interest accrued to (but excluding) the date of redemption unless such Subordinated Default Event shall have been remedied prior to receipt of such notice by the Agent.

12. MEETINGS OF NOTEHOLDERS, MODIFICATION AND WAIVER

The Agency Agreement contains provisions (which shall have effect as if incorporated herein) for convening meetings of the Noteholders to consider any matter affecting their interests, including (without limitation) the modification by Extraordinary Resolution (as defined in the Agency Agreement) of these Terms and Conditions. An Extraordinary Resolution passed at any meeting of the Noteholders will be binding on all Noteholders whether or not they are present at the meeting, and on all holders of Coupons or Receipts relating to the Notes.

The Agent and the Issuer may agree, without the consent of the Noteholders, Receiptholders or Couponholders, to:

- (i) any modification (except as mentioned above) of the Agency Agreement which is not prejudicial to the interests of the Noteholders; or
- (ii) any modification of the Notes, the Receipts, the Coupons or the Agency Agreement which is of a formal, minor or technical nature or is made to correct a manifest error or to comply with mandatory provisions of law.

Any such modification shall be binding on the Noteholders, the Receiptholders and the Couponholders and any such modification shall be notified to the Noteholders in accordance with Condition 15 as soon as practicable thereafter.

13. REPLACEMENT OF NOTES, RECEIPTS, COUPONS AND TALONS

Should any Note, Receipt, Coupon or Talon be lost, stolen, mutilated, defaced or destroyed, it may be replaced at the specified office of the Agent in London (or such other place as may be notified to the Noteholders), in accordance with all applicable laws and regulations, upon payment by the claimant of the costs and expenses incurred in connection therewith and on such terms as to evidence and indemnity as the Issuer may require. Mutilated or defaced Notes, Receipts, Coupons or Talons must be surrendered before replacements will be issued.

14. PRESCRIPTION

The Notes, Receipts and Coupons will become void unless presented for payment within a period of ten years (in the case of principal) and five years (in the case of interest) after the Relevant Date (as defined in Condition 10) therefor.

There shall not be included in any Coupon sheet issued on exchange of a Talon any Coupon the claim for payment in respect of which would be void pursuant to this Condition 14 or Condition 7(b) or any Talon which would be void pursuant to Condition 7(b).

15. NOTICES

All notices to Noteholders regarding the Notes shall be valid if published in the *Financial Times* or another leading English language daily newspaper with circulation in London. The Issuer will ensure that notices to Noteholders are published (a) if and for so long as the Notes are listed on the Luxembourg Stock Exchange and so long as the rules so require, in a daily newspaper with circulation in Luxembourg, which is expected to be the *Luxemburger Wort* and (b) in a manner which complies with the rules and regulations of any other stock exchange on which the Notes are for the time being listed. Any such notices will, if published more than once, be deemed to have been given on the date of the first publication, as provided above.

Except in the case of Notes listed on the Luxembourg Stock Exchange (unless its rules so permit), until such time as any definitive Notes are issued, there may, so long as the global

Note(s) representing the Notes is or are held in its or their entirety on behalf of Euroclear and/or Clearstream, Luxembourg, be substituted for such publication as aforesaid the delivery of the relevant notice to Euroclear and/or Clearstream, Luxembourg, as appropriate, for communication by them to the Noteholders. Any such notice shall be deemed to have been given to the Noteholders on the seventh day after the day on which the said notice was given to Euroclear and/or Clearstream, Luxembourg, as appropriate.

Notices to be given by any Noteholder shall be in writing and given by lodging the same, together (in the case of any Note in definitive form) with the relative Note or Notes, with the Agent. Whilst any of the Notes are represented by a global Note, such notice may be given by any Noteholder to the Agent via Euroclear and/or Clearstream, Luxembourg, as the case may be, in such manner as the Agent and Euroclear and/or Clearstream, Luxembourg, as the case may be, may approve for this purpose.

The holders of Receipts, Coupons and Talons will be deemed for all purposes to have notice of the contents of any notice given to Noteholders in accordance with this Condition.

16. SUBSTITUTION OF THE ISSUER

- (a) The Issuer may, without the consent of any Noteholder or Couponholder, substitute for itself any other body corporate incorporated in any country in the world as the debtor in respect of the Notes, any Coupons, the Deed of Covenant and the Agency Agreement (the "Substituted Debtor") upon notice by the Issuer and the Substituted Debtor to be given in accordance with Condition 15, provided that:
 - (i) the Issuer is not in default in respect of any amount payable under the Notes;
 - (ii) the Issuer and the Substituted Debtor have entered into such documents (the "Documents") as are necessary to give effect to the substitution and in which the Substituted Debtor has undertaken in favour of each Noteholder to be bound by these Terms and Conditions and the provisions of the Agency Agreement as the debtor in respect of the Notes in place of the Issuer (or of any previous substitute under this Condition 16);
 - (iii) the Substituted Debtor shall enter into a deed of covenant in favour of the holders of the Notes then represented by a global Note on terms no less favourable than the Deed of Covenant then in force in respect of the Notes;
 - (iv) if the Substituted Debtor is not Piraeus Bank, the Deed of Guarantee extends to the obligations of the Substituted Debtor under or in respect of the Notes, any Coupons, the Deed of Covenant and the Agency Agreement and continues to be in full force and effect;
 - (v) if the Substituted Debtor is resident for tax purposes in a territory (the "New Residence") other than that in which the Issuer prior to such substitution was resident for tax purposes (the "Former Residence"), the Documents contain an undertaking and/or such other provisions as may be necessary to ensure that each Noteholder has the benefit of an undertaking in terms corresponding to the provisions of Condition 10, with the substitution of references to the Former Residence with references to the New Residence;
 - (vi) the Substituted Debtor and the Issuer have obtained all necessary governmental approvals and consents for such substitution and for the performance by the Substituted Debtor of its obligations under the Documents;
 - (vii) legal opinions shall have been delivered to the Agent from lawyers of recognised standing in the jurisdiction of incorporation of the Substituted Debtor, in England and in Greece as to the fulfilment of the requirements of this Condition 16 and that the Notes and any Receipts, Coupons and/or Talons are legal, valid and binding obligations of the Substituted Debtor;
 - (viii) if Notes issued or to be issued under the Programme have been assigned a credit rating by Standard & Poor's and/or Moody's, Standard & Poor's and/or Moody's as the case may be, having been notified of the proposed substitution, shall not have

- stated within 30 days thereafter that, as a result of such substitution, the credit rating of the Notes would be downgraded;
- (ix) each stock exchange on which the Notes are listed shall have confirmed that, following the proposed substitution of the Substituted Debtor, the Notes will continue to be listed on such stock exchange; and
- (x) if applicable, the Substituted Debtor has appointed a process agent as its agent in England to receive service of process on its behalf in relation to any legal proceedings arising out of or in connection with the Notes and any Coupons.
- (b) Upon such substitution the Substituted Debtor shall succeed to, and be substituted for, and may exercise every right and power, of the Issuer under the Notes, any Coupons, the Deed of Covenant and the Agency Agreement with the same effect as if the Substituted Debtor had been named as the Issuer herein, and the Issuer shall be released from its obligations under the Notes, any Receipts, Coupons and/or Talons, the Deed of Covenant and under the Agency Agreement.
- (c) After a substitution pursuant to Condition 16(a) the Substituted Debtor may, without the consent of any Noteholder or Couponholder, effect a further substitution. All the provisions specified in Conditions 16(a) and 16(b) shall apply *mutatus mutandis*, and references in these Terms and Conditions to the Issuer shall, where the context so requires, be deemed to be or include references to any such further Substituted Debtor.
- (d) After a substitution pursuant to Condition 16(a) or 16(c) any Substituted Debtor may, without the consent of any Noteholder or Couponholder, reverse the substitution, *mutatus mutandis*.
- (e) The Documents shall be delivered to, and kept by, the Agent. Copies of the Documents will be available free of charge during normal business hours at the specified office of each of the Paying Agents.

17. FURTHER ISSUES

The Issuer shall be at liberty from time to time without the consent of the Noteholders to create and issue further notes ranking *pari passu* in all respects (or in all respects save for the amount and date of the first payment of interest thereon) with the outstanding Notes and so that the same shall be consolidated and form a single series with the outstanding Notes.

18. GOVERNING LAW; SUBMISSION TO JURISDICTION

- (a) The Agency Agreement, the Deed of Covenant, the Deed of Guarantee, the Notes, the Receipts and the Coupons are governed by, and shall be construed in accordance with, English law except that (i) Condition 20 and (ii), in the case of Dated Subordinated Notes issued by Piraeus Bank, Condition 3(a) is governed by and shall be construed in accordance with Greek law and in the case of Dated Subordinated Notes issued by Piraeus PLC, Condition 3(b) and clause 5.8 of the Deed of Guarantee are governed by and shall be construed in accordance with Greek law.
- (b) Piraeus Bank irrevocably agrees, for the exclusive benefit of the Noteholders that the courts of England shall have jurisdiction to hear and determine any suit, action or proceedings, and to settle any disputes (together "Proceedings"), which may arise out of or in connection with the Agency Agreement, the Deed of Covenant, the Deed of Guarantee and the Notes and, for such purpose, irrevocably submits to the jurisdiction of such courts.
- (c) Piraeus Bank irrevocably and unconditionally waives and agrees not to raise any objection which it may have now or subsequently to the laying of the venue of any Proceedings in the courts of England and any claim that any Proceedings have been brought in an inconvenient forum and further irrevocably and unconditionally agrees that a judgment in any Proceedings brought in the courts of England shall be conclusive and binding upon it and may be enforced in the courts of any other jurisdiction. Nothing in this Condition shall limit any right to take Proceedings against Piraeus Bank in any other court of competent jurisdiction, nor shall the taking of Proceedings in one or more jurisdictions preclude the taking of Proceedings in any other jurisdiction, whether concurrently or not.

(d) Piraeus Bank irrevocably and unconditionally agrees that service in respect of any Proceedings may be effected upon Piraeus Bank S.A., London branch at Tower 42, 25 Old Broad Street, London EC2N 1HQ and undertakes that in the event of it ceasing to maintain a London branch Piraeus Bank will forthwith appoint a further person as its agent for that purpose and notify the name and address of such person to the Agent and agrees that, failing such appointment within fifteen days, any Noteholder shall be entitled to appoint such a person by written notice addressed to Piraeus Bank and delivered to Piraeus Bank or to the specified office of the Agent. Nothing contained herein shall affect the right of any Noteholder to serve process in any other manner permitted by law.

19. THIRD PARTY RIGHTS

No person shall have any right to enforce any term or condition of the Notes under the Contracts (Rights of Third Parties) Act 1999, but this does not affect any right or remedy of any person which exists or is available apart from that Act.

20. PIRAEUS BANK NOTEHOLDERS AGENT

Should law 3156/2003 of the Hellenic Republic (the "Bond Law") apply in the case of issue of Notes by Piraeus Bank (the "Piraeus Bank Notes"), Piraeus Bank shall, if required to do so under the Bond Law, whether the holders of Piraeus Bank Notes (the "Piraeus Bank Noteholders") are organised in a group or otherwise, appoint an agent (the "Piraeus Bank Noteholders Agent") by way of a written agreement (the "Piraeus Bank Noteholders Agency Agreement"). The Piraeus Bank Noteholders Agent shall represent the Piraeus Bank Noteholders judicially and extra-judicially in accordance with the provisions of the Bond Law. The Piraeus Bank Noteholders Agency Agreement shall include, among others, provisions for convening meetings of the Piraeus Bank Noteholders to consider, inter alia, any matter affecting their interests, as may be required under the Bond Law. The particular duties, rights and liabilities of the Piraeus Bank Noteholders Agent and any amendments to the Conditions and this Offering Circular, inherent to (i) the appointment of the Piraeus Bank Noteholders Agent, and (ii) the entering into the Piraeus Bank Noteholders Agency Agreement shall be included in the relevant Pricing Supplement and/or, if necessary, any supplement to this Offering Circular which will be prepared for the issue of Piraeus Bank Notes.

USE OF PROCEEDS

The net proceeds from each issue of Notes will be used by the relevant Issuer for the general corporate and financing purposes of the Group (as defined below).

PIRAEUS GROUP FINANCE PLC

Introduction

Piraeus PLC was incorporated under the laws of England on 26th October, 2000 as a public limited company with number 4097418. The registered office of Piraeus PLC is at Tower 42, 25 Old Broad Street London EC2N 1HQ. Piraeus PLC was acquired by Piraeus Bank on 25th January, 2001 and the share capital of Piraeus PLC continues to be held, directly or indirectly, by Piraeus Bank.

Directors

The Directors of Piraeus PLC and their respective business addresses and principal activities in relation to Piraeus PLC and Piraeus Bank are:

Name	Address	Principal activities in relation to Piraeus PLC and Piraeus Bank
Irini Tzortzoglou	Tower 42, 25 Old Broad Street London EC2N 1HQ	Director of Piraeus PLC
John Kyriakopoulos	Tower 42, 25 Old Broad Street London EC2N 1HQ	Director of Piraeus PLC

The Secretary of Piraeus PLC is Jamestown Investments Limited, 4 Felstead Gardens, Ferry Street, London E14 3BS.

Piraeus PLC has no employees or non-executive Directors.

Activities

The share capital of Piraeus PLC was acquired, directly or indirectly, by Piraeus Bank with the intention that Piraeus PLC should operate as a financing vehicle for Piraeus Bank and the Group. Except in connection with the establishment of the Programme, Piraeus PLC has not engaged in any activities since its incorporation.

Capitalisation

The following table sets out the capitalisation and indebtedness of Piraeus PLC as at 31st December, 2003. There has been no material change in the capitalisation and indebtedness of Piraeus PLC since 31st December, 2003.

Capitalisation and Indebtedness

	Year ended 31st December, 3 2003 (Amount	
Authorised Share Capital 50,000 Ordinary Shares of £1 each	50,000	50,000
Issued Share Capital 50,000 Ordinary Shares of £1 each paid up as to 25p each	12,500	12,500
Profit and loss account	54,194	(11,103)
Total Shareholders' equity	66,694	1,397
Shareholders' Equity		1,397 (5,435)
Total shareholders' equity and liabilities	157,460,696	(4,038)

The debt of Piraeus PLC as of 31st December, 2003 was £157.4 million, as a result of the issue of commercial paper in 2003.

Accounts and Dividends

Since the date of its incorporation, no dividends been declared or paid. Copies of the latest annual accounts for the years dated 31st December, 2002 and 2003 and interim (if any) accounts of Piraeus PLC, if required to be produced, will be available free of charge at the specified offices of Deutsche Bank S.A. Luxembourg in Luxembourg.

Selected financial information relating to Piraeus PLC

The financial information set out below has been derived from the audited financial statements of the Issuer at 31st December, 2003. Such information should be read in conjunction with, and is qualified in its entirety by reference to, the Issuer's audited financial statements and the related notes thereto incorporated by reference to this Offering Circular.

Profit and Loss Account

	2003 (Amounts	2002 in GBP)
Turnover	1,647,573 (1,540,926)	360
Administrative Expenses	106,647 (13,360)	360 (11,138)
Profit/Loss on ordinary activities before Taxation	93,287 (27,990)	(10,778) (46)
Retained Profit/loss for the financial period	65,297	(10,824)
Balance sheet		
3	Year ended 1st December, 31 2003 (Amounts	2002
Current Assets Amounts due from Parent undertakings Prepayments and accrued Income Cash at bank and in hand.	157,458,483 63 2,150	— 63 6,769
Net Current Assets Creditors: Amounts falling due within one year Net Assets Capital and Reserves	157,460,696 (157,394,002) 66,694	6,832 (5,435) 1,397
Called up capitalProfit and loss	12,500 54,194	12,500 (11,103)
Shareholders' Funds	66,694	1.397

PIRAEUS BANK S.A. AND THE PIRAEUS BANK GROUP

The following overview should be read in conjunction with, and is qualified in its entirety by, the more detailed information and the financial statements, including the notes thereto, appearing elsewhere or incorporated by reference in the Offering Circular.

1. Overview of Piraeus Bank S.A. and the Piraeus Bank Group

Founded in 1916, Piraeus Bank (the "Bank") was initially headquartered in the city of Piraeus, port of Athens. The Bank was nationalised in 1975 and reverted to private ownership in 1991 to a group of prominent businessmen. Today, the Bank is the flagship company of the Piraeus Bank Group of companies (the "Piraeus Bank Group" or the "Group") and the direct parent of the majority of the subsidiaries comprising the Group.

The Bank is a public bank under Greek Law and has been listed on the Athens Exchange ("ATHEX") since 1918. Piraeus Bank is subject to regulation and supervision by the Bank of Greece as well as the Hellenic Capital Market Commission. The Bank's registered office is at 20 Amalias & 5 Souri Street, Athens, Greece 105 57.

Both the Bank and the Group, as a whole, have developed rapidly over the last few years, through organic growth and acquisitions, and the Group is now the third largest privately-held banking group in Greece. At 31st December, 2003 the Group's assets totalled €14.7 billion representing approximately 8.2 per cent. of all commercial bank assets in Greece. The Group contains a number of companies covering a wide spectrum of retail and commercial banking services in the Greek market, including corporate and investment banking, mutual funds management, equity brokerage, leasing, financial consulting, venture capital, and bancassurance.

In addition to organic growth, the Piraeus Bank Group has made a series of strategic acquisitions with the goal of establishing a strong presence in the dynamically developing market. In 1998, Piraeus Bank acquired and absorbed the Greek operations of Chase Manhattan Bank and in 1999 of National Westminster Bank. In June 2000, through an exchange of shares, Piraeus Bank merged with two of its banking subsidiaries, Macedonia-Thrace Bank and XiosBank, in which it had held controlling interests since April 1998 and February 1999, respectively. In early 2002, Piraeus Bank acquired the Hellenic Industrial Development Bank ("ETBA Bank"), thus enhancing the Group's capital base and increasing its market share in banking activities, leasing and asset management. ETBA Bank was successfully absorbed by Piraeus Bank in December 2003.

At the beginning of 2002, a strategic alliance agreement for the Greek market was signed between the Piraeus Bank Group and the international banking and insurance ING Group. As part of this agreement, a cross-shareholding took place in November 2002 and two joint ventures were established at the beginning of 2003 in the fields of Bancassurance – Employee Benefits and Asset Management.

The Bank's know-how extends in retail banking, small and medium-sized enterprises (SMEs), capital markets and investment banking, leasing, and shipping. These services are offered through the Bank's branch network and its subsidiaries, and through the electronic banking network of Winbank.

Internationally, the Group has steadily expanded its presence. The Group operates in New York through its subsidiary Marathon Bank (11 branches), in London through a branch of Piraeus Bank, in Albania through its subsidiary Tirana Bank (15 branches), in Romania through its subsidiary Piraeus Bank Romania S.A. (6 branches) and in Bulgaria through 8 branches of Piraeus Bank.

In accordance with Greek law, the Bank prepares annual audited and semi-annual reviewed financial statements in accordance with Greek GAAP. PriceWaterhouseCoopers and SOL are the auditors for the annual financial statements and reviewers of the semi-annual financial statements. The Bank also prepares quarterly unaudited financial statements, in accordance with the requirements of the Hellenic Capital Market Commission.

As at 31st December, 2003, Piraeus Bank Group had a network of 257 branches (of which 36 were abroad) and 365 ATMs and employed 4,896 people (3,996 of which were employed by the Bank). Its equity capital amounted to €1.3 billion with a BIS ratio of 10.8 per cent. (Tier I only). Customer deposits (including customer repos) amounted to €10.4 billion, loans reached €10.7 billion and total assets were €14.7 billion.

2. Strategy

Piraeus Bank has taken advantage of the deregulation and consolidation of the Greek market in the 1990s by increasing its presence in the domestic retail banking market, and raising its share of the

loan market from 0.3 per cent. in 1991 to 10.3 per cent. at the end of 2003. The Greek banking market offers opportunities for development as viewed by a variety of measures, such as household loans-to-GDP (26 per cent. as opposed to 48 per cent. in the Eurozone) or business loans-to-GDP (40 per cent. as opposed to 73 per cent. in the Eurozone).

Over the next four years, the Bank seeks to achieve a 14 per cent. share of loans in Greece where room for growth in the mortgage and consumer credit segments is considerable. The Group plans to maintain its focus on servicing small and medium sized enterprises ("SMEs") through specialised products and longer credit terms. With regard to medium and large enterprises and shipping, the Group aims to establish a larger presence, with profit margins commensurate with the assumed risk. The Group's non-performing loans are to be reduced to approach the long-term target of approximately 2.5 per cent. of outstanding loans.

In investment banking, the Group shall seek to enhance its current presence in the market, whereas in the private banking area the renewal of electronic data processing ("EDP") and organisation infrastructures is anticipated to strengthen the Group's involvement in asset management.

In Southeastern Europe, the Group aims to take advantage of the banking reforms expected in the medium term by raising its share of the loan market to 5 per cent. in each country where the Group has a presence.

The Bank plans to maintain its branch expansion rate by establishing approximately 40-50 new branches in two to three years, mainly in the Attica prefecture surrounding Athens where economic activity exceeds the potential of the existing network. This will complement the historically strong presence in Northern Greece which the Bank had acquired via the purchase of ex-Macedonia Thrace Bank in 1998. These new branches, along with the maturing of 80 branches established in the past four years, are expected to contribute decisively to the further growth of the Group's operations.

The Group is keen to expand its business while maintaining efficiency. To contain cost, personnel hires to new branches are to be filled primarily through staff transfers from the Head Office in Athens. The Group's medium-term target cost-to-income target ratio is set at 55 per cent. (as opposed to 63.1 per cent. in 2003). The maturing of its Greek branch network and the cost containment policy are expected to drive after-tax return on equity ("ROE") above the 15 per cent. threshold, from 12.5 per cent. and 11.1 per cent. in 2003 and 2002 respectively.

3. Piraeus Bank Group Organisational Structure

The Greek financial services sector has historically been characterised by the presence of specialised companies established around a principal bank. In a similar manner, the Piraeus Bank Group is comprised of Piraeus Bank S.A. and its subsidiaries. The following diagram summarises the divisional structure of the principal subsidiaries of the Piraeus Bank Group as at 31st December, 2003:

Piraeus	Bank
Grou	ıp

Commercial Banking	Investment Banking	Asset Management	Bancassurance	Non-Financial Companies
-Piraeus Bank -Tirana Bank (83.9%) -Marathon Banking Corporation (63.4%) -Piraeus Bank Romania (100.0%) -Piraeus Leasing Romania (100.0%) -Piraeus Leasing (58.9%) -Piraeus Best Leasing (27.2%) -Piraeus Multifin (57.5%) -Piraeus Factoring (72.4%) -Multicollection (25.5%)	-Sigma Securities (100.0%) -Piraeus Equities Holding (100.0%) -Piraeus Finance (100.0%)	ING Piraeus Asset Management (49.9%) ING Piraeus Mutual Funds Management (40.0%) Piraeus Mutual Funds (100.0%) Hellenic Investment Co. (37.0%) Piraeus Asset Management Europe (99.9%)	-ING Piraeus Life Insurance (49.9%) -Piraeus Insurance Agency (99.8%)	e-Vision (77.3%) Piraeus Direct Services (77.5%) ABC Professional Services (40.2%) Exodus (38.7%) Picar (100.0%) Piraeus Real Estate (71.8%) Piraeus Real Estate Investment Property (83.5%) ETBA Industrial Estates (65.0%) Piraeus Botifin (98.1%)

4. Ownership of Piraeus Bank S.A.

Piraeus Bank's share capital consists of 197,578,101 common registered shares listed on the Athens Exchange. As of 31st December, 2003, the total number of shareholders stood at 240,094. This represents an increase from the previous year due to the merger with ETBA Bank. The two largest shareholding interest groups are the members of the Vardinoyiannis family controlling an approximate 7.5 per cent. stake and the Dutch financial group ING, which holds 4.2 per cent. No single shareholder owns an interest in excess of 5.0 per cent.

Ownership

(%)	Shareholder	Identity
(/0 /	Onal Cholaci	idelitity

- 4.2 ING Group
- 20.8 Foreign institutional investors
- 12.1 Greek institutional investors
- 6.8 Corporates
- 2.7 Greek State (ex-ETBA Bank's shareholder)
- 53.4 Individual Shareholders

It should be noted that the number of foreign institutional investors holding Bank shares has increased following the recent placement of Piraeus Bank S.A. treasury stock, equal to 6.7 per cent. of share capital to foreign and Greek institutional investors in October 2003 and the increase of Piraeus Bank's share weight in the MSCI Greece index.

5. Management of Piraeus Bank S.A.

The Annual General Shareholders' Meeting ("AGSM") which took place on 7th April, 2004 appointed the Board of Directors of the Bank to a three-year term, which is renewable, ending on 30th June, 2007. The Board consists of sixteen (16) members, four (4) executive and twelve (12) non-executive, two (2) of which are independent.

Executive Members

Michalis G. Sallas, Chairman and Managing Director

Michael H. Colakides, Vice Chairman and Deputy Managing Director

Theodoros N. Pantalakis, Vice Chairman and Deputy Managing Director

Nikolaos D. Remantas, Legal Advisor

Non-Executive Vice Chairmen

Konstantinos P. Angelopoulos, Economist – Businessman

Ioannis V. Vardinoyiannis, Businessman

Non-Executive Members

lakovos G. Georganas, Economist, Chief Financial Advisor

Georgios P. Alexandridis^{1,3}, Economist, Member of the Board of Directors of Motor Oil S.A.

Vassilios S. Fourlis, Businessman, Chairman and Managing Director of Fourlis Holding S.A.

Loukas A. Gerostathopoulos, Electrical Mechanical Engineer – Businessman

Michalis D. Gigilinis, Businessman

Stilianos D. Golemis, Economist, Chairman of Goldair Group

Solomon I. Kapetas, Businessman, Chairman of the Board of Directors of Profisol S.A. and Thebes Steel Pipe Manufacturers S.A.

Panagiotis A. Karalis, Mathematician – Actuary, Chairman of ING General Insurances

Eftichios Th. Vassilakis, Economist, Vice Chairman of the Board of Directors of Autohellas S.A., Vassilakis Group

Nikolaos J. Zografos, Economist^{2,3}

6. Description of the Business of the Piraeus Bank Group

The Piraeus Bank Group, either through the Bank or its subsidiaries, provides a wide variety of banking products and services to retail customers and corporate clients. The Group is active in retail banking, corporate banking, shipping, investment banking, e-banking, and provides services in equity brokerage, asset management and bancassurance.

6.1. Retail Banking and Branch Network

Retail banking is mainly conducted through the Bank's branch network in Greece and abroad. The Bank offers a variety of products in retail banking and is focused on developing specialised products for the Greek market. Facilitated by the Bank's branch network and alternative distribution channels, mortgage and consumer credit totals have grown significantly over the last few years and are expected to continue, particularly as the loan market itself has significant room for development.

6.1.1. Personal Deposit Products

The Bank offers a wide range of depositary and investment products suited for individual clients, in all major foreign currencies. Total deposits have been increasing, supported by the expanding branch network.

Personal Deposits (on a consolidated basis)

Amounts in € million (end of year)	2003	2002	Change
Savings	2,426.0	2,194.4	10.6%
Current Accounts	610.7	479.1	27.5%
Time Deposits	1,657.9	917.8	80.6%
Investment Products	270.0	375.2	-28.0%
Bank Bonds issued	465.1	261.0	78.2%
Total Deposits	5,429.7	4,227.5	28.4%
Customer Repos	943.5	1,929.7	-51.1%
Total Deposits and Repos	6,373.2	6,157.2	3.5%

¹ Member of the Audit Committee

² Chairman of the Audit Committee

³ Non-Executive Independent Director, as per AGSM resolution on 7th April, 2004

6.1.2. Personal Investment and Mutual Funds

Investment opportunities in mutual funds are provided by ING Piraeus Asset Management S.A., Piraeus Mutual Funds Management S.A., and Piraeus Asset Management Europe S.A.

6.1.3. Mortgage and Consumer Credit

Mortgage and Consumer Credits continued their growth in 2003, accounting for 29.0 per cent. of the Group's total loan advances. The 2003 domestic market share for the Group reached 11.4 per cent. (3rd overall) in the consumer credit segment (19.4 per cent. when excluding credit cards). Similarly, market share in mortgage credits reached 7.0 per cent. in 2003.

Regarding personal loans, the Bank offers customized interest-rate products off its individualized consumer loan platform. With respect to mortgage and home repair loans, the Bank distributes a wide range of fixed and floating rate mortgages of up to 30 years' maturity through the branch network as well as the alternative networks such as ING's insurance agents. Emphasis is placed on product innovation and service quality as the Bank targets specific customer groups. The Bank also issues consumer factoring loans to individuals through a network of more than 3,500 retail outlets (merchant co-operation). With respect to credit card issuance, holders of Visa, MasterCard, and co-branded credit cards amounted to 218,000, generating €278 million in turnover. Debit cardholders totalled 405,000 as at 31st December, 2003, and the market is expected to grow as spending habits converge with the European average. The Bank is active in consumer vehicle financing via Piraeus Multifin S.A., granting financing for new and used vehicles at either the purchase (stock finance) or sale stages. Piraeus Multifin works with more than 300 car dealerships, including select central dealers.

Consumer Credit (on a consolidated basis)

Amounts in € million (end of year)	2003	2002	Change
Consumer Loans	1,480.7	1,322.1	12.0%
Mortgage Loans	1,572.3	1,269.5	23.8%
Totals	3,053.0	2,591.6	17.8%

6.1.4. Other Retail Banking Services

6.1.4.1. Bancassurance

ING Piraeus Life Insurance S.A., a bancassurance joint venture between Piraeus Bank and the ING Group, was established in 2003 for the purpose of offering insurance products through the Bank's network and, banking products through the insurance advisors of ING. The upgraded electronic data processing system of ING Piraeus Life Insurance S.A. and specialised training of the sales forces of both networks assist this endeavour. In 2003 individual and group insurance premia amounted to €13.1 million.

6.1.4.2. Fund Transfer and Payments Systems

The Bank maintains a competitive edge in the domestic market with regard to fund transfers and payment systems, thanks to high automation standards of such transactions and its state-of-the-art information systems. In this context, the migration from the automated fund transfer system SWIFT to the new SWIFTNetFin environment was completed in 2003. The new system operates exclusively via the internet and Group companies in Southeastern Europe are online with the Athens centralised units. Piraeus Bank successfully joined the European STEP1 Straight Through Euro Processing clearing system, a pan-European means of electronically processing payments, and has commenced procedures to join STEP2.

6.1.4.3. e-banking – Winbank

The Group is continually developing its electronic banking capacity to complement traditional distribution networks. Electronic banking was enhanced via the expansion of the ATM network to 365 terminals and the introduction of Winbank services that have attracted more than 113,000 customers in four years. Winbank, which handles a significant volume of tax and payment orders, recently received the ISO 9001: 2000 Certification – the first electronic financial services unit so certified in Greece.

6.2. Corporate Banking

Piraeus Bank Group offers financing services to businesses that operate in all sectors of the economy through its: Corporate Banking Division, Shipping Banking Division, Long-Term Credit & Project Finance Division, branch network, subsidiary banks and subsidiary leasing and factoring companies.

Piraeus Bank attributes great importance to its relationship with medium-large corporations, providing a wide range of modern bank services and products, including syndicated loans and bond issues. The Bank manages its larger corporate relationships, including Greece's biggest corporate names, centrally, through the Corporate Banking Division. The needs of SMEs are met through the branch network, where specialised products are offered, as well as loans targeted to specific market segments. The product range encompasses all types of working capital, trade finance, fixed assets & equipment and mortgages, leasing, factoring, documentary, letters of guarantee, foreign exchange, capital markets and advisory services.

Piraeus Bank has also established a specialised shipping centre providing the full range of banking products and services needed by shipping companies.

6.2.1. Corporate Deposit Products

Corporate deposits amounted to €3,715 million at the end of 2003, compared with €3,646 million at the end of 2002, recording an increase of 1.9 per cent.

Corporate Deposits (on a consolidated basis)

Amounts in € million (end of year)	2003	2002	Change
Sight	1,257.3	1,193.8	5.3%
	2,304.9	2,322.0	-0.7%
	153.0	130.1	17.6%
Total Deposits	3,715.2	3,645.9	1.9%
	305.4	532.9	-42.7%
Total Deposits and Repos	4,020.6	4,178.8	-3.8%

6.2.2. Corporate Loans and Advances to Businesses

Medium-large corporates and shipping accounts constitute more than one-third of the Group's loans. In 2003, Piraeus Bank improved its return on employed capital, by means of more efficient use of the existing portfolio and cross selling. In addition, the Corporate Banking Division lead or co-lead 15 syndicated loans and bond issues totalling €920 million in 2003. The Shipping Banking Division continued its growth in 2003, by playing an active role in the renewal of its customers' fleet.

The Bank uses a threefold approach to SMEs that consists of product design, customer service procedures and after-sales support. The Bank supports this approach via a network of executives trained to assess customer needs, evaluate them and implement decisions effectively and unbureaucratically, and sees itself as having a competitive edge in the area of SMEs.

With respect to leasing activities, Piraeus Leasing S.A. focuses on car, real estate and machinery leasing and has an estimated market share of 16.0 per cent. Its market position is based both on organic growth and acquisitions (OTE Leasing S.A. and ETBA Leasing S.A.). Total assets have increased fivefold to €662.3 million within a five year period and turnover in 2003 rose 53.5 per cent. (as compared to 2002) to €181.3 million. Piraeus Best Leasing S.A. is a subsidiary of Piraeus Leasing S.A. and currently manages over 4,500 autos (as opposed to 4,000 in 2002). The customer base consists of companies, professionals or retail customers and lending tenors range from two to five years.

The Group provides domestic and export factoring services to Greek businesses, as well as consumer factoring through Piraeus Factoring S.A. It offers amounts receivable management and collection, credit risk insurance, financial statements improvement and ongoing information on customers' solvency. The company is a member of the international organisation Factor Chain International ("FCI") and co-operates with the major factoring organisations abroad.

Loans (on a consolidated basis)

Amounts in € million (end of year)	2003	2002	Change
Medium – Large Enterprises	3,079.2	2,723.5	13.1%
Shipping	695.5	573.9	21.2%
SMEs	3,083.0	2,576.9	19.6%
Leasing	619.3	477.5	29.7%
Total	7,477.2	6,351.8	17.7%

6.3. Investment Banking

Piraeus Bank has a significant presence in the developing capital markets of Greece and has acquired a large share in the securities underwriting market. Piraeus Bank Group is one of the leading IPO advisory institutions and among the major underwriters in the Greek market, reaching a market share of 10.7 per cent. in 2003. The Group has also developed in the areas of syndicated loans arrangement, bond issuance, and offers consulting services for capital restructuring, company valuation, acquisitions and mergers and special financing for corporate clients.

6.3.1. Capital Market Operations

Piraeus Bank provides underwriting services for IPOs on the ATHEX, for share capital increases, and for corporate bonds (convertible or regular). It also provides consulting services for company listings, capital restructuring, company valuation, acquisitions and mergers.

Piraeus Bank participated in 16 IPOs during 2003; 13 private sector companies and one public-interest company listed their shares in ATHEX through hard underwriting, and two public-interest companies proceeded with secondary offerings existing shares through soft underwriting. The Bank acted as principal underwriter in three offerings and as underwriter in 11 offerings. It topped all underwriters in terms of risk amount assumed in all 13 private IPOs, with a market share of 14.4 per cent. (1st place), and captured 7.6 per cent. market share (4th place) when measured against all 16 issues in 2003 (including three cases of soft underwriting).

In terms of financial advice and consulting in 2003, the Bank acted as the issue advisor in four out of 13 applicant listings. The Bank also provided consulting services in three cases of privatisations to a strategic investor.

6.3.2. Stock Exchange Operations - Sigma Securities S.A.

Sigma Securities S.A. is the Bank's brokerage house. It trades and intermediates in the trade of Greek and foreign shares, derivatives, government and corporate bonds and offers a wide range of investment services to its customers through its network. Sigma's national network includes 4 own branches and 54 associated brokerage offices as well as the entire network of Piraeus Bank's branches. The firm works with the majority of Greek and foreign institutional investors who are active in the domestic market.

In terms of market presence in 2003, Sigma Securities was placed 5th in total trading volume (6.1 per cent. market share) and 4th in trading value after deduction of repurchase agreements and block trades (6.8 per cent. market share). It was the first Greek private securities company engaged in derivatives trading and is a market maker on the Derivatives Market of ATHEX ("ADEX").

6.3.3. Custody Services

Custodian services are provided on a wide range of instruments including shares, bonds and derivative products etc. in the domestic as well as in foreign markets, for the Bank's network and institutional investors. The Bank is a general clearing member of the ADEX and the service range includes dividend/interest collections, corporate actions, and underwriting services for listed companies. Despite adverse market conditions in the Greek and international markets in 2003, Piraeus Bank Custody's clientele encompasses approximately 100,000 retail customers and 36 Greek and foreign institutional clients with assets under custody exceeding €4.7 billion as at 31st December, 2003.

6.4. Asset Management

In the asset gathering market, the Group operates in the context of its strategic alliance with the ING Group. In early 2003, it established a joint venture ING Piraeus Asset Management S.A. and offers

mutual funds covering all investment categories. The strategic alliance with ING has reinforced the Group's position in the area of asset management, as it brings international know-how and a variety of investment products.

Assets Under Management by the Group

Amounts in € million (end of year)	2003	2002	Change
Deposits	8,679.8	7,612.2	14.0%
Bank issued bonds (held by customers)	465.1	261.0	78.2%
Repos	1,248.9	2,462.6	-49.3%
Assets managed by private banking	158.0	108.5	45.6%
Mutual funds (excluding money market funds) ⁽¹⁾	761.3	710.5	7.1%
Net assets value of investment companies	398.2	310.5	28.2%
Total	11,711.3	11,465.5	2.1%

^{(1) 2002} figures include the assets of the former NN Mutual Funds S.A.

6.4.1. Hellenic Investment Company S.A.

Following the absorption of Piraeus Investment S.A. by Hellenic Investment S.A. in early October 2003, Piraeus Bank Group possesses the largest closed-end fund among listed companies of the domestic industry with net assets of €398.2 million on 31st December, 2003 (*vs.* €310.5 million in 2002). Hellenic Investment Company is the oldest Greek investment company and the largest investment company listed on the ATHEX.

6.4.2. ING Piraeus Asset Management S.A.

ING Piraeus Asset Management S.A. was established in 2003 in the framework of the strategic alliance of Piraeus Bank with the ING Group. It manages 10 domestic mutual funds and offers 69 additional international mutual funds into the Greek market. Domestic mutual fund assets amounted to €717 million in 2003 (approximately 2.4 per cent. of total market assets). The company offers 31 international mutual funds of ING Luxembourg and 36 mutual funds of Goldman Sachs, along with two of Piraeus Asset Management Europe, with assets amounting to €114 million in 2003. It also manages another €27 million from institutional investors. In total, mutual funds managed/offered by the company rose to €858 million as at 31st December, 2003, up from €835 million in the previous year.

6.4.3. Piraeus Mutual Funds Management S.A.

Piraeus Mutual Funds Management S.A. manages two money market mutual funds with assets totalling €582.4 million as at 31st December, 2003.

6.4.4. Piraeus Asset Management Europe S.A.

Based in Luxembourg, Piraeus Asset Management Europe manages two mutual funds, PiraeusInvest European Equity and PiraeusInvest European Bond, with assets under management totalling €23.3 million as at 31st December, 2003.

6.4.5. Private Banking

The Bank's Private Banking Division targets customers of medium-high financial strength holding investment portfolios in excess of €600,000. Portfolios are designed around the availability of funds, the time horizon of the investment, customer risk preferences, the purpose of the investment and the customer's liquidity needs and monitored throughout accordingly. Total assets under management over all investment types and markets were €158 million as at 31st December, 2003, up 46 per cent. over 2002.

6.5. Treasury

Treasury is entrusted with the Bank's asset and liability management and serves as the Group's principal point of access to the financial markets by actively participating in the interbank markets for money, foreign exchange, bond and derivatives. Within guidelines of rational risk exposure and efficient capital allocation, Treasury trades and manages market risks, with the aim of delivering results and contributing to the Bank's overall performance.

The Bank is a primary dealer of Greek State Bonds and plays an active role in the Greek debt markets. During 2003, the Bank has participated, in a series of international issues totalling €11.7 billion. The Bank is a member of EUREX and a founding member of the ADEX.

Treasury has an established client base of institutional investors, which underpins the distribution of a variety of investment and risk management products addressing specific customer needs. The Bank is also active in the niche market of trading banknotes. In terms of technology, Treasury is equipped with digital information platforms, a variety of trading systems and comprehensive risk management systems.

In the course of expanding its funding capacity and broadening its funding base, the Bank established a €1.5 billion Euro Commercial Paper ("ECP") Programme in July 2003. Outstanding issuance under the Programme equalled €223 million as at 31st December, 2003, capped by the Bank's funding requirements.

6.6. Bancassurance Services

The Group operates in the fields of bancassurance and employee benefits through ING Piraeus Life S.A. in the context of its strategic alliance with the ING Group. The company sees its competitive edge in offering structured products with low distribution and operational costs at competitive prices. It promotes the entire spectrum of life, accident, health, medical insurance care and investment products through dedicated insurance agents located in every branch of Piraeus Bank. ING Piraeus Life S.A. also designs and promotes special employee benefits programmes. The Group's insurance brokerage company, Piraeus Insurance Agency S.A., operates as a broker for a range of insurance policies to satisfy the insurance requirements of the Group's customers.

6.7. International Banking Activities

The Group is present in the financial centres of New York and London through its subsidiary's branch network in the former and its London branch in the latter. In Southeastern Europe, the Group expanded its physical presence in 2003 through the opening of 6 new branches and establishment of two new subsidiaries, Piraeus Leasing Romania in Romania and Bulfina, a real estate company in Bulgaria. It has also been decided to set up a leasing company in Albania.

The Group intends to carefully build on its strategic presence in Southeastern Europe, with the aim of providing a full spectrum of commercial banking services.

At the end of 2003, total customer deposits in units of Piraeus Bank Group abroad amounted to €534.8 million, compared with €534.6 million in the previous year. Such deposits represent 5.1 per cent. of the Group's total deposits.

Deposits from Customers

Amounts in € million (end of year)	2003	2002	Change
UK – Piraeus Bank branch	47.5	73.4	-35.3%
USA – Marathon Bank NY	248.6	269.5	-7.8%*
Romania – Piraeus Bank Romania S.A	33.1	23.2	42.5%
Albania – Tirana Bank IBC	175.0	150.7	16.1%
Bulgaria – Piraeus Bank branches	30.6	17.8	71.8%
Total	534.8	534.6	0.0%
_			

^{*} Deposits have been impacted by \$ depreciation against €. In \$ prices deposits grew by 11.1 per cent.

Loans and advances to customers account for 9.2 per cent. of the Group's total loans and advances.

Loans and Advances to Customers

Amounts in € million (end of year)	2003	2002	Change
UK – Piraeus Bank branch	547.5	531.6	3.0%
USA – Marathon Bank (N.Y.)	166.4	159.2	4.5%*
Romania – Piraeus Bank Romania S.A	111.3	67.1	65.9%
Albania – Tirana Bank IBC	53.6	41.8	28.3%
Bulgaria – Piraeus Bank branches	98.4	39.0	100.0%
Total	977.2	838.7	16.5%

^{*} Loans have been impacted by \$ depreciation against €. In \$ prices loans grew by 25.9 per cent.

6.7.1. Piraeus Bank Branch in London

The Piraeus Bank London branch provides banking services to the Greek London community and offshore products to Greek corporate customers of the Corporate Banking Division. Furthermore, the branch has the appropriate expertise to search for and select investment opportunities with attractive risk/return profiles with an emphasis on developing countries.

6.7.2. Marathon Banking Corporation

Marathon Bank of New York is a subsidiary of the Marathon Banking Corporation. It holds a U.S. banking operating license, is supervised by the U.S. Office of the Comptroller of the Currency, and provides a wide range of banking services and products through its branch network.

Marathon Banking Corporation became a member of the Piraeus Group in July 1999. Marathon focused on providing commercial housing mortgage credits as well as deposit products for private and corporate customers through its network of six branches. At the end of 2003, Marathon Banking Corporation agreed to acquire Interbank NY, a U.S. commercial bank with \$275 million in assets and a network of 5 branches in the New York district, and merged it with its Marathon Bank operation. The takeover and integration of Interbank into Marathon Bank were concluded in the beginning of 2004. As a result of this merger, combined assets now total \$620 million with a network of 11 branches.

6.7.3. Piraeus Bank Romania S.A.

Piraeus Bank Romania was founded in 1995 as Pater Credit Bank, and in 2000 it was acquired and incorporated into the Piraeus Bank Group. The Bank's growth in 2003 was mainly based on its wholesale banking operations. Its range of retail banking products includes mortgages, debit and credit cards, and is supported by a call centre. It has also established a leasing subsidiary, Piraeus Leasing Romania, to capitalize on the growth prospects offered by the leasing sector.

In 2003, Piraeus Bank Romania added one branch to its network, bringing the total to six, and plans to add nine more during 2004. By 31st December, 2003, Piraeus Bank Romania doubled its loans market share to 1.7 per cent. of the local market and total assets grew by 67.1 per cent. As at 31st December, 2003, total assets were €176 million, while equity stood at €22 million.

6.7.4. Tirana Bank IBC

Tirana Bank IBC was founded in September 1996 as the first privately owned banking institution in Albania and currently has assets totalling €196.2 million (as at 31st December, 2003, up 12.5 per cent. over the previous year). It increased its share of the banking sector in 2003 capturing 14.4 per cent. of loans (as against 13.8 per cent. in 2002) and 10.6 per cent. of deposits (as against 7.3 per cent. in 2002) in the domestic market. The current network of Tirana Bank IBC consists of 15 branches covering the main cities of Albania, with plans to open four more in 2004. As at 31st December, 2003, total equity was €12 million.

6.7.5. Piraeus Bank Branches in Bulgaria

Piraeus Bank started operating as the first foreign bank in Bulgaria in 1993. The Bank initially focused on servicing Greek business in its efforts to penetrate the local market. Today, the Bank caters to local, non-Greek business and individual needs via its network of eight branches through a broad range of

products and services. As at 31st December, 2003, total assets had risen 113 per cent. to €106 million and loans represented 2.1 per cent. of the local loan market.

6.8. Other activities

Other activities pertain basically to the real estate sector and information technology sectors, with the aim of exploiting investment opportunities and synergies on the real estate market, as well as implementing new technologies in the banking sector as they play an increasingly crucial role.

The Group's activities in the real estate sector expanded in 2003 in the following three segments: real estate development, real estate advisory services and fixed assets management.

6.8.1. Piraeus Real Estate S.A. Real Estate Development - Management and Operation

The company is listed on the ATHEX and is the Group's most significant real estate firm. In 2003, Piraeus Real Estate restructured in order to provide more comprehensive real estate services, develop its own real estate and, finally, manage its shareholdings, mainly in Piraeus Real Estate Investment Property S.A.

6.8.2. Piraeus Real Estate Investment Property S.A.

The company was the first in Greece to undertake collective investments in fixed assets.

6.8.3. Picar S.A.

Picar S.A. was awarded the commercial development and management of the Army Pension Fund Building, a prime real estate in central Athens, based on a long contract expiring in 2049. Restoration and renovation are expected to be complete with operations commencing at the end of 2004.

6.8.4. Piraeus Botifin S.A.

The company owns a large plot in Northern Athens, which is being developed into an amusement and commercial centre with underground public parking facilities for 500 vehicles. The project is expected to be completed by the end of 2004.

6.8.5. ETBA Industrial Estates S.A.

ETBA Industrial Estates S.A. is engaged in managing 33 industrial development zones set close to large urban centres throughout Greece. It was formed in 2003 as a separate entity, jointly owned by Piraeus Bank (65.0 per cent.) and the Greek State (35.0 per cent.) following the former's acquisition of the state-controlled ETBA Bank. In early 2004, Piraeus Bank established eight new branches in these industrial zones to capitalise on the proximity of more than 2,000 businesses that are based there and more than 35,000 employees.

6.8.6. e-Vision Advanced Systems and Information Services S.A.

e-Vision focuses on information technology, telecommunications and related services by exploiting synergies in areas such as the internet, e-commerce, call centres, customer support and banking applications that are complementary to the core business of the Group.

6.8.7. Exodus S.A.

Exodus S.A. is an e-business solution provider. It offers advanced solutions and services in e-commerce, application content management for business-to-business and business-to-commerce processes, workflow and knowledge management support, data warehouses and Decision Support Systems, new media exploitation over the internet, intranet, extranet as well as e-learning applications. In 2003, Exodus was ISO 9001:2000 certified and awarded the EFQM-Level I 'Committed to Excellence' distinction by the EFQM Levels of Excellence program.

6.8.8. ABC Professional Services S.A.

For more than two decades, ABC Professional Services S.A. has been operating in the software development and integrated IT solutions sectors. In the last three years, major investments were made to establish a new modern Card Processing Centre, as well as creating and promoting new technology products and services in the Greek market and countries in the broader geographic region.

6.8.9. Piraeus Direct Services S.A.

Piraeus Direct Services S.A. ("PDS") was established in 2000 as an evolution of Piraeus Bank's call centre. The company offers its services to both Piraeus Bank (customer service, products and services promotion, Winbank etc.) and Piraeus Group companies, as well as to third parties. Besides financial contact services provided, PDS also operates credit and debit card management services including issuance, support, applications' processing, customer service and product and programme development.

7. Risk Management

The Bank considers effective risk management critical to safe operations growth, to limiting adverse profit variations and to the rational allocation of capital. The role of the Bank's Risk Management Division is to analyse, monitor and control the Bank's position using advanced risk management methods and practices. The Bank follows international best practices, including centralising the risk control function and developing a risk management culture within the organisation.

In 1999, the Bank established an independent Risk Management Division and an Asset and Liability Management Committee ("ALCO") to operate within a well-established framework for the monitoring of the organisation's activities and the maintenance of the business risks within predefined limits. The members of the ALCO are responsible for defining the strategy regarding balance sheet items evolution and the developments in the business environment. The Committee meets on a monthly basis, to review financial data and risk exposures of the Group business units.

With regard to the development of risk management infrastructure, the integrated risk management system IRIS/Risk-Pro went live for Piraeus Bank in March 2002. During 2003, the transactional data of Sigma Securities Company S.A., Hellenic Investment Company S.A., Piraeus Multifin S.A., Tirana Bank IBC and Piraeus Leasing S.A. were interfaced with the integrated risk management system. As a result, over 97 per cent. of the Piraeus Bank Group assets are being monitored by the risk management system. In 2004, the remaining of the Group's subsidiaries will be interfaced with the system, thus providing an integrated view of risk exposures at a Group level. The new risk management system provides analyses for market and liquidity risks and credit exposures on a daily basis, using data of the previous business day. The overall design allows for an integrated information management through an appropriate Risk Data Model, as well as an automated production of risk reports. Thus, operational errors and the resources required to support risk reporting have been substantially reduced.

Piraeus Bank closely monitors developments regarding the new Basel II regulatory framework. A working group is committed to the implementation of the new framework by developing the required infrastructure and by notifying the Group's executives on the new proposals and their implications. The integrated risk management system provides a new function for the evaluation of capital requirements in line with Basel II proposals. At the same time, the development of new applications, such as historic databases for monitoring past due items, collateral management system, credit limit monitoring and credit rating systems, will further support the implementation of Basel II framework.

7.1. Market Risk

Market risk refers to the possibility of incurring losses due to variations in market prices, such as share prices, interest rates or currency exchange rates. Market risk is therefore differentiated in Equity Risk, Interest Rate Risk and Foreign Exchange Risk, respectively. Piraeus Bank applies modern and widely accepted market risk analysis techniques, such as Value-at-Risk ("VaR"), earnings-at-risk, stress test results and sensitivity indicators.

In September 2002, the Piraeus Bank Board of Directors approved a common market risk management policy for Piraeus Bank and its subsidiaries. This policy, applied since early 2003, outlines the main definitions pertaining to market risk management, determines the roles and responsibilities of units and executives involved, and describes the market risk measurement and monitoring methodologies. On the basis of this policy, every unit of Piraeus Bank Group has been assigned specific market risk limits, which are monitored on a consistent basis.

For market risk assessment the VaR measure is used, which captures the maximum loss in the net present value of a portfolio over a specified period (holding period) with a specified probability (confidence level). Piraeus Bank implements Risk Metrics parametric methodology, assuming a one-day holding period and utilising a 99.0 per cent. confidence level.

7.2. Liquidity Risk

Liquidity risk management focuses on the ability of the Bank to maintain sufficient liquid assets in order to meet its contractual obligations. Management of this type of risk involves systematic monitoring of future cash flows and related funding needs by currency, depending on the maturity of particular transactions.

In line with Market Risk Management Policy, a common Liquidity Risk Management Policy has been approved for the Group. The policy specifies the definitions and methodology of liquidity risk assessment, determines the roles and responsibilities of involved parties and describes the actions to be taken to manage a liquidity crisis. The policy focuses on the liquidity position in one week and one month time horizons, based on a liquidity crisis hypothesis.

Piraeus Bank manages liquidity risk by holding liquid portfolios of Fixed Income instruments, by attracting "diversified" deposit accounts and by expanding the average maturity of time deposits. At the same time, the Bank is actively diversifying its funding sources, for example, through its Euro Commercial Paper Programme.

7.3. Operational Risk

Piraeus Bank acknowledges operational risk as a major risk element facing financial institutions. The Bank staff take all necessary actions to limit the impact of legal risks, natural disasters, inadequate procedures or systems failures. The Bank relies on the quality of its human resources and technological infrastructure, the internal audit functions and the use of insurance policies to minimise losses due to operational risk. Insurance coverage is based on banker blanket bonds (which are insurance coverage packages for banks) insurance policies for the assets of the Group, and house insurance policies linked with mortgage loans.

Special emphasis is placed on the protection of e-banking activities and IT systems security. The development of the Business Continuity/ Disaster Recovery Site for the Bank's central information system in 2003 has minimised the risks due to central system failures.

Currently, operational loss event databases are being developed to record operating risk events, which will form the basis for operating risk analysis and management in the future.

7.4. Credit Risk

It is the aim of the Credit Division to actively and systematically maintain credit risk at "moderate" levels. This goal is achieved through pro-active measures, such as the pre-screening of potential credits and the active monitoring and hedging of credit risk, and retroactive measures, such as the proper management of doubtful loans.

The Group applies a common credit policy and practice on credit approval procedures, renewals and monitoring of credit lines. Approvals are granted on the basis of total credit risk per obligor or group of associated obligors, taking into account credit exposures in Piraeus Bank Group subsidiaries. In the credit assessment process, a thorough analysis of the qualitative and quantitative criteria, is applied according to the internal credit rating methodology defined by the Bank.

With respect to credit risk exposure to financial institutions, Piraeus Bank applies a credit approval policy and interbank credit lines are monitored by the limit monitoring functionality of the Treasury system.

Regarding country risk exposures, a country risk policy has been approved with specific limits that cap exposure to countries with a credit rating lower than that of Greece.

With respect to personal loans, Piraeus Bank emphasises the implementation of modern credit risk management methods. Emphasis is placed on the analysis of credit scoring parameters, the population parameters' distribution and the monitoring of past due amounts. The use of three-year historical data has permitted assessing default rates and recovery rates in particular portfolios, in accordance with the Basel II framework.

In 2003, new credit rating models (scorecards) were developed for consumer loans, personal loans and credit cards. In addition, analysis of historical data demonstrated the importance of the effectiveness of the collection process in increasing recoverability of past due amounts. The refinement of these two factors contributed significantly to the improved quality of retail loans, despite their growth in 2003.

For the year 2004, the use of the "Moody's Risk Advisor" system is planned to support the rating of companies. The rating is based on quantitative and qualitative data compared with benchmarks calculated for related industries. This system will enhance the ability to create projected financial statements and capability to provide analytical information for financial data of a large number of companies.

With respect to doubtful credits, the Bank has developed a policy where business loans are considered delinquent when, after a period of 90 days, no interest or principal has been paid. This period is 180 days for household loans. Delinquent loans are reported through a special Report of Classifiable Outstandings ("ROCO") from the branch network or the Corporate Account Officer to the General Manager, who is in charge of the Problem Loan Division. A loan is also reported immediately in the ROCO once its collection is considered to bear increased risk. Each case is assessed by the General Manager, who decides on the status of the delinquent loan and the course of action to be taken by the responsible business unit (branch or corporate). Delinquent loans are classified as either (a) Special mention, or accruing interest, (b) Substandard, or accruing interest, (c) Doubtful, or non-accruing interest, or (d) Loss, non-accruing interest.

The ROCOs are then distributed to the managers responsible for those loans to implement the courses of action that have been decided. A copy of the ROCOs is sent to the Internal Audit Division. The necessary courses of action are reassessed and documented monthly. A summary of all the delinquent loans, exceeding €150,000, is reviewed monthly and referred to senior management.

The Problem Loan Division and the relevant branch or account officer are jointly responsible for taking appropriate measures such as collecting payment, increasing security or increasing collateral by communicating with the delinquent borrower, or initiating extrajudicial and judicial actions. The Bank's Legal Division assists in recovering problem assets. After all legal actions have been exhausted the balance of any remaining exposure is classified as a loss.

At least once a year, the Asset Monitoring Committee reviews all write-off proposals for doubtful loans and formally approves those loans to be written off. Asset write-offs are subject to the approval of the Board of Directors.

The Bank annually raises general provisions of up to 1.0 per cent. of the average loan balance, which is tax deductible. The Bank can also apply additional special provisions to specific loans on a case-by-case basis. The Board of Directors decides all write-offs on the proposals made by the Problem Loan Division every December. Approved write-offs are deducted from the accumulated provisions amount (either general or special).

8. Analysis of Loan Portfolio

Due to significant loan growth achieved, gross loans increased their share in total assets in 2003 to 69.8 per cent. (from 59.5 per cent. in 2002). The loan portfolio of the Piraeus Bank Group is highly diversified across various sectors with loans to individuals (mortgage, consumer credit) comprising 29.0 per cent. of the total loan portfolio of the Group, loans to medium and large enterprises and shipping 35.8 per cent., and loans to SMEs 35.2 per cent. of the loan portfolio as at 31st December, 2003

Distribution of Piraeus Bank Group Loans and Advances per Sector

Amounts in € million (end of year)	2003	2002	Change
Industry	1,784.2	1,623.6	9.9%
Handicraft	147.9	89.1	65.9%
Trade	1,581.8	1,172.8	34.9%
Shipping – Shipyards	695.4	573.9	21.2%
Energy and Transport	290.7	145.2	100.2%
Construction	771.5	503.7	53.2%
Mortgage	1,572.3	1,269.5	23.8%
Consumer	1,480.7	1,322.1	12.0%
Public Companies and Organisations	43.0	111.8	-61.5%
Other Sectors	2,162.7	2,131.7	1.5%
Total	10,530.2	8,943.4	17.7%
Other receivables	150,9	139.6	8.1%
Total Loans	10,681.1	9,083.0	17.6%

The majority of loans granted by the Group are on a floating rate basis, with interest resets mostly at one- or three-month intervals. As of 31st December, 2003, the Group's loans and advances, in currencies other than Euro, amounted to €1,156.5 (10.8 per cent. of total loans and advances to customers).

Loans and Advances to Customers in Euro & Foreign Currencies

				Compos	sition
Amounts in € million (end of year)	2003	2002	Change	2003	2002
EuroOther Currencies	9,524.6 1,156.5	7,775.8 1,307.2	22.5% -11.5%	89.2% 10.8%	85.6% 14.4%
Total Loans and Advances to Customers	10,681.1	9,083.0	17.6%	100.0%	100.0%

The Group's asset quality improved, as indicated by the Group's declining non-performing loan ("NPL") percentage. Approximately 45 per cent. of NPLs are attributable to ex-ETBA Bank and are covered with sufficient loan loss reserves and collateral securities. If ex-ETBA Bank's loan portfolio were excluded, the NPL percentage drops to approximately 2.5 per cent. The 94.8 per cent. loan loss reserve coverage ratio of NPLs is the highest coverage ratio in the Greek banking market, up from 84.6 per cent. in 2002. Accumulated loan loss reserves more than cover total doubtful loans as well as the reserves required by Bank of Greece (according to the 2513/2003 Bank of Greece Governor's Act).

Loan Quality

Amounts in € million (end of year)	2003	2002
Total Loans	10,681.1	9,083.0
Non-performing Loans (NPLs)	424.7	383.8
Total loan loss provisions	402.8	324.5
Addition to loan provisions during the year	68.5	72.5
Amounts written off during the year	31.0	44.8
NPLs as a percentage of total loans	4.0%	4.2%
Loan loss provisions as a percentage of total loans	3.8%	3.6%
Loan loss provisions as a percentage of NPLs	94.8%	84.6%
Write-offs as a percentage of NPLs	7.3%	11.7%

9. Analysis of Funding

As at 31st December, 2003, the Group's total obligations to customers amounted to €10.4 billion, basically unchanged over the previous year. Customer repos amounted to €1,249 million against €2,463 million a year earlier, a decline of 49.3%.

Development of Obligations to Customers

				Compos	oitioii
Amounts in € million (end of year)	2003	2002	Change	2003	2002
Sight	1,868.0	1,672.9	11.7%	18.0%	16.2%
Savings	2,426.0	2,194.4	10.6%	23.3%	21.2%
Time Deposits	4,232.8	3,615.0	17.1%	40.7%	35.0%
ETBA bonds	465.1	261.0	78.2%	4.5%	2.5%
Other obligations	153.0	130.1	17.7%	1.5%	1.3%
Total Deposits	9,144.9	7,873.4	16.2%	88.0%	76.2%
Customer repos	1,248.9	2,462.6	-49.3%	12.0%	23.8%
Total Obligations to Customers	10,393.8	10,336.0	0.6%	100.0%	100.0%

Composition

Campagitian

As at 31st December, 2003, the Group's deposits, in currencies other than Euro, amounted to €1,414.0 (13.6 per cent. of total obligations to customers).

Total Obligations to Customers in Euro and Other Currencies

				Compos	sition
Amounts in € million (end of year)	2003	2002	Change	2003	2002
EuroOther Currencies	8,979.7 1,414.0	8,873.1 1,462.9	1.2% -3.3%	86.4% 13.6%	85.8% 14.2%
Total obligations to Customers	10,393.8	10,336.0	0.6%	100.0%	100.0%

About 41.3 per cent. of total obligations to customers comprise sight and savings accounts, the vast majority of the remainder maturing in less than a year.

Obligations to Customers by Maturity as at 31st December, 2003

		More than 3 months		
Amounts in € million	Less than 3 months	and up to 1 vear	More than 1 vear	Total
Total obligations to customers	9.638.0*	641.8	114.0	10,393.8
Total obligations to dastomore.		04110		10,000.0

^{*} Includes savings and sight deposits

Liabilities to credit institutions totalled €2,283 million as at 31st December, 2003 compared to €2,403 million at the end of 2002, a decrease of 5.0 per cent. Interbank funding in foreign currencies represents almost half of the total interbank deposits, whereas maturities in all currencies do not exceed one year. Currency mismatches are managed through short-term foreign exchange forward transactions.

Piraeus Bank Group established a Euro Commercial Paper Programme in July 2003 with a size of €1.5 billion. As at 31st December, 2003 the amount outstanding under this programme stood at €223 million.

10. Information Technology

It is the goal of Piraeus Bank to ascertain the availability of leading technology capable of supporting business needs and ensuring delivery of quality services. Technology infrastructure is primarily based on four major banking systems: (a) customer relationship management ("CRS"), (b) accounts management, (c) general ledger, and (d) treasury systems. These four core systems are complemented by additional product and service oriented applications.

The Bank has developed a number of alternative electronic sales, delivery and service channels, utilizing a broad range of technologies. The Bank has branded its electronic services under the commercial name of Winbank, offering full Internet Banking services, Internet Stock Brokerage, Mobile Banking through WAP and SMS, e-Commerce Solutions and Call Centre services which are fully integrated with the systems of the Bank.

Access to the various Bank systems is granted via a modern, sophisticated high-speed telecommunications network, serving data, voice and video facilities. This network has been developed to support the operational needs of all entities and individuals having access to the branch network, customers and external agents. Part of the telecommunications network is satellite based and is mainly used to support shipboard ATMs, providing on-line/real-time connection with the Bank's mainframe computer system via satellite links. Piraeus Bank is the first bank in Greece to provide this facility.

Network perimeter security is provided by a series of mechanisms, such as firewalls, virtual private networks ("VPNs"), Intrusion Detection Systems and appropriate network segregation. Furthermore, information security is of major concern to the Bank. Significant resources have been applied to raise security awareness of IT personnel, including other initiatives such as private key infrastructure ("PKI"), and on-going risk assessments.

Piraeus Bank's Disaster Recovery Site was created in 2003 to fully support banking operations should any disaster occur in the main computer centre. The IT Division identified and evaluated factors that could threaten business continuity and devised cost effective and realistic solutions. Appropriate risk transfer arrangements coupled with recovery plans and procedures were developed. The Disaster Recovery Site IT systems are fully synchronised online/real-time with those of the main centre at the transactions level, a technique that ensures full operational recovery within three to four hours.

The Bank's credit and debit card management and processing operations were transferred from Delta Singular S.A. to ABC Professional Services S.A., whose more modern systems allow greater flexibility in the growing credit card sector and give the Group a major competitive edge. The online/real-time connection of Winbank and ABC systems was put in place and new more 'user friendly' Winbank screens and transaction interfaces were developed.

Piraeus Bank's payment system is highly sophisticated and fully supports STEP1: on-line electronic connection for in-out remittances, as well as enhancement and automation of on-line dispatch of individual or mass remittances via Winbank.

As at 31st December, 2003 Piraeus Bank is equipped with a network of 365 ATMs, of which 130 are located outside of the Bank's branches (off-site) and ten are on ships travelling between Greece and Italy. In addition, the Bank's POS network now has more than 11,500 terminals and 5,000 imprinters.

The Piraeus Bank I.T. Division supports more than two million customers holding over 1.3 million accounts and producing over 400,000 transactions per day using all the available system channels.

11. Human Resources

As at 31st December, 2003, the Piraeus Bank Group employed 4,896 persons (as compared to 4,743 in 2002, up 3.2 per cent.), Piraeus Bank S.A. employed 3,996 persons (as compared to 3,932 in 2002, an increase of 1.6 per cent.), and the Group's subsidiaries employed 900 persons (as compared to 811 in 2002, an increase of 11.0 per cent.).

The majority of the Group's activities are within the prefecture of Attica. This is reflected in the number of employees working in the greater Athens area (2,466 or 50.4 per cent.), in the Thessaloniki region (783 or 16.0 per cent.) and 1,131 (23.1 per cent.) in the remaining counties. In 2003, the number of staff employed by the network abroad grew significantly, rising to 516 (an increase of 10.5 per cent.) from 436 in 2002.

The Group is an active practitioner of equal opportunity employment. The male-female ratio of employees is balanced at 50.1 per cent. to 49.9 per cent. as at 31st December, 2003.

The ratio of the Group's employees holding university, postgraduate or PhDs degrees as compared to those with only secondary school education levels is 53.1 per cent. and 46.9 per cent. respectively. In 2003 the number of employees with postgraduate degrees grew by 10.7 per cent. over 2002. As at 31st December, 2003, the average age of the Group's staff was 35.4 years (as compared to 34.2 years a year earlier) and the average age of the Group's executives was 41.5 years (as compared to 41.0 a year earlier).

12. Participations (Subsidiaries and Affiliates)

The Bank's direct and indirect participations in subsidiaries which are fully consolidated in the Consolidated Balance Sheet as at 31st December, 2003, are illustrated in the table below:

Financial Sector Subsidiaries

Amounts in €	Direct and Indirect participation (%)	Total Assets as at 31st December, 2003	Total Equity as at 31st December, 2003	Profit before Tax as at 31st December, 2003
Marathon Banking Corporation	63.4%	274,771,883.58	19,135,584.32	6,450,153.27
Tirana Bank IBC	83.9%	196,207,080.76	12,108,200.73	2,766,006.06
Piraeus Bank Romania S.A	100.0%	177,836,296.03	22,206,054.69	2,248,961.74
Piraeus Leasing S.A	58.9%	662,277,933.19	152,912,513.50	13,016,659.32
Piraeus Leasing Romania SRL	100.0%	15,748,212.67	939,244.21	-81,227.62
Piraeus Multifin S.A	57.5%	454,959,760.56	13,345,071.22	10,736,501.58
Piraeus Factoring S.A	72.4%	152,217,223.59	15,652,403.57	467,752.44
Sigma Securities S.A	100.0%	133,320,931.23	31,716,331.90	3,534,579.78
Piraeus Finance S.A	100.0%	15,786,975.90	13,981,928.78	293,989.02
Piraeus Equities Holding S.A	100.0%	10,511,110.21	4,157,066.11	-204,121.01
Piraeus Investment Consulting S.A	100.0%	217,212.40	216,635.49	-19,624.86
Hellenic Investment Company S.A	37.0%	394,471,119.05	391,785,502.23	21,939,038.01
Piraeus Mutual Funds Management S.A.	100.0%	3,166,005.52	1,667,649.36	-760,635.94
Piraeus Asset Management Europe S.A.	99.9%	1,452,346.50	1,379,337.75	108,949.59
Piraeus Group Finance PLC	100.0%	223,889,044.33	94,627.67	134,807.21
Piraeus Insurance Agency S.A	99.8%	4,588,046.90	1,229,728.61	-815,338.42
ETBA Insurance Agency S.A	84.5%	957,312.83	309,965.03	-12,612.75
Multicollection S.A	25.5%	2,571,720.22	773,251.17	889,267.90

As at 31st December, 2003, the Bank's principal direct and indirect participations in subsidiaries, which are accounted for via the net equity method in the Consolidated Balance Sheet, as they do not belong to the financial sector, are illustrated in the table below:

Non-Financial Sector Subsidiaries

Amounts in €	Business activity	Direct and Indirect participation (%)	Total Assets	Total Equity	Balance Sheet Date
ETBA Industrial Estates S.A	Real Estate	65.0%	223,370,668.96	202,395,445.00	31.12.2002
Piraeus Real Estate S.A Piraeus Real Estate Investment	Real Estate Real Estate	71.8%	60,933,733.99	53,678,431.22	31.12.2002
Property S.A	Invest. Fund	83.5%	48,074,047.17	39,842,507.29	31.12.2003
Picar S.A	Real Estate	100.0%	144,919,236.14	29,488,594.81	31.12.2002
Piraeus Botifin S.A e-vision S.A	Real Estate Holding	98.1%	17,665,523.39	8,440,661.26	31.12.2002
	company	77.3%	32,031,028.48	31,957,407.44	31.12.2002
Exodus S.A	e-business Banking software and	38.7%	13,073,777.76	7,624,936.22	31.12.2003
Piraeus Direct Services S.A	Card Proces. Call Centre –	40.2%	7,286,563.76	973,086.90	31.12.2003
	Card Services	s 77.5%	1,291,272.23	398,041.21	31.12.2002

Certain other non-financial sector subsidiaries are excluded from consolidation based on article 130 of Greek Law 2190/1920.

The table below depicts the Bank's principal direct and indirect participations in affiliate companies that are accounted for in the Consolidated Balance Sheet using the net equity method.

Participation in Affiliate Companies

Business activity	Indirect participation (%)	Total Equity	Balance Sheet Date
Life Insurance	20.0%	92,979,717.52	31.12.2002
General Insurance	20.0%	18,895,880.74	31.12.2002
Bank Assurance	49.9%	3,934,385.86	31.12.2002
Asset Management	49.9%	4,267,852.85	31.12.2003
Mutual Fund	40.0%	1,188,183.01	31.12.2003
Operating Car Leasin	g 27.2%	3,108,547.35	31.12.2003
	Life Insurance General Insurance Bank Assurance Asset Management Mutual Fund	Business activity Life Insurance General Insurance Bank Assurance Asset Management Mutual Fund Indirect participation (%) 20.0% 49.9% 49.9% 49.9% 40.0%	Indirect participation (%) Total Equity

13. Profit and Loss Account

Set out below is the consolidated Profit and Loss Account of the Piraeus Bank Group for the years ending 31st December, 2003 and 2002 respectively. After-tax profit attributable to Piraeus Bank's shareholders amounted to \in 101.5 million in 2003 compared to \in 66.2 million the year before, representing a growth of 53.3 per cent. EPS in 2003, according to the year-end number of shares (197,578,101) was \in 0.514.

The 2003 annual results for the Piraeus Bank Group were characterised by the following highlights (with the previous years in parentheses):

- Net Interest Margin ("NIM") on average interest earning assets grew to 2.9 per cent. (against 2.6 per cent.)
- Net Revenues grew by 15.2 per cent., while operating expenses grew by 4.7 per cent.
- The Cost-to-Income ratio improved to 63.1 per cent. (against 69.4 per cent.)
- Core profitability, excluding financial operations and extraordinary results, grew by 75.8 per cent.
- Loan Portfolio expansion amounted to 17.6 per cent.
- After-Tax ROE improved to 12.5 per cent. (against 11.1 per cent.)
- After-Tax ROA improved to 0.8 per cent. (against 0.6 per cent.)

Consolidated Profit and Loss Account

Amounts in € thousands	2003	2002	Change
Interest income	757,191 -365,997	777,351 -422,257	-2.6% -13.3%
Net Interest Income Plus: Income from securities. Plus: Net Commission Income Plus: Net profit from financial transactions Plus: Other operating income Plus: Income from operation of Industrial Estates.	391,194 19,793 110,061 57,647 16,509 0	355,094 18,746 88,943 32,238 11,666 10,109	10.2% 5.6% 23.7% 78.8% 41.5%
Gross Operating Results	595,205	516,797	15.2%
Less: Staff expenses	173,531 147,900 4,142 50,040	168,046 129,603 5,268 55,949	3.3% 14.1% -21.4% -10.6%
Operating expenses	375,614 68,508	358,865 72,549	4.7% -5.6%
Total Operating Results	151,083 13,958	85,382 29,713	76.9% -53.0%
Profit before Tax	165,041 27,254 137,787 41,319	115,095 24,801 90,294 34,254	43.4% 9.9% 52.6% 20.6%
Net Profit	123,722 22,241	80,841 14,641	53.0% 51.9%
Net Profit of Piraeus Bank Shareholders	101,481	66,200	53.3%

Net revenue in 2003 amounted to €595.2 million compared to €516.8 million in 2002, enhanced by 15.2 per cent. Net interest income and commissions constitute 84.2 per cent. of the Group's total net revenues.

Operating cost has remained almost stable, due to the cost containment policy and despite the significant expansion of the branch network and the range of activities during 2002 and 2003.

The cost to income ratio improved to 63.1 per cent. from 69.4 per cent. in 2002, towards the Groups' medium-term goal for a ratio lower than 55 per cent.

The ratio of pre-provision profit to average assets improved to 1.5 per cent. against 1.1 per cent. the previous year.

As at 31st December, 2003, return on equity increased to 17.0 per cent. before tax (against 15.2 per cent. in 2002) and to 12.5 per cent. after tax (against 11.1 per cent. in 2002). Similarly, return on assets rose to 1.1 per cent. before tax (against 0.8 per cent. in 2002), and to 0.8 per cent. after tax (against 0.6 per cent. in 2002).

14. Balance Sheet

As at 31st December, 2003 the Group's assets had risen slightly to €14.7 billion, but expanded their profitable items. As a result of this expansion, the share of gross loans in total assets increased to 69.8 per cent. (against 59.5 per cent. in 2002), mainly off-setting the drop in bonds to €1,975 million or 13.4 per cent. of total assets (against 24.5 per cent. in 2002). This is in line with the Group's policy of gradually enhancing the most profitable assets of the balance sheet.

As at 31st December, 2003, customer deposits and domestic bonds in issue constituted 62.1 per cent. of Total Liabilities & Equity (against 53.5 per cent. in 2002), while interbank deposits and commercial paper constituted 17 per cent. and 16.3 per cent. respectively.

Consolidated Balance Sheet

Amounts in € thousands	31st December, 2003	31st December, 2002
ASSETS		
Cash in hand and balances with the Central Bank	785,912.4	592,754.1
Treasury bills and other eligible bills	117,705.7	90,775.3
Loans and Advances to Credit Institutions	219,946.8	253,238.2
Loans and Advances to Customers	10,278,343.6	8,758,418.6
Bonds and other fixed-income securities	1,857,004.8	3,517,391.1
Shares (closed end fund)	307,804.5	214,848.7
Shares	225,333.6	239,955.9
Equity participations	464,432.0	340,440.4
Intangible Assets	43,245.5	56,238.3
Tangible Assets	150,328.7	207,289.0
Land-buildings from Industrial Estates	0.0	115,834.4
Other Assets	204,911.2	238,181.3
Prepaid expenses and accrued income	79,569.3	99,484.6
Total Assets	14,734,537.9	14,724,849.7
LIABILITIES AND EQUITY		
Deposits from Credit Institutions	2,283,202.8	2,403,136.9
Customer Deposits	8,679,746.1	7,612,209.2
Customer Repos	1,248,906.0	2,462,598.9
Bank issued bonds (held by customers) due in one year	465,095.6	261,009.4
Commercial Paper	223,281.7	0.0
Other liabilities	326,434.2	502,813.5
Deferred income and accrued expenses	97,536.8	107,003.2
Provisions	64,177.0	36,363.8
Subordinated Debt	3,958.8	4,767.8
Share Capital and Reserves	1,257,672.7	808,860.8
Own shares	-19,767.0	-62,788.7
Goodwill – Amounts written off	-221,984.7	-137,422.5
Minority interests in equity	326,277.8	726,297.5
Total Liabilities and Equity	14,734,537.9	14,724,849.7

As at 31st December, 2003 the share of Equity in Total Liabilities and Equity decreased slightly to 9.1 per cent., rising slightly in absolute terms to €1,342.2 million from €1,335.0 million in 2002.

15. Capital Adequacy

On a consolidated basis, the Group's capital adequacy ratio as at 31st December, 2003, calculated in accordance with the Bank of International Settlements stood at 10.8 per cent., comprised entirely of core capital (Tier I).

THE BANKING SECTOR IN GREECE

Structure of the Market

Owing to the Greek legal framework, which historically has required the establishment of specialised institutions for the provision of specific financial services, the majority of Greek banks until recently created subsidiaries for the provision of specific categories of financial services. As a consequence, the market was dominated by groups of companies each established around a principal bank.

The banking sector has expanded rapidly in the last ten years as a result of deregulation and modernisation, as well as entry into the Eurozone. In the past six years, restructuring has led to higher concentration. Six state-controlled banks and four private banks have changed ownership, while some new banks have entered the market. However, the five biggest commercial banks had a 77.7 per cent. share in the market (in terms of loans) at the end of December 2003, compared with a 60.2 per cent. share in 1997.

The domestic banks can be grouped into two principal categories, namely commercial banks and specialised credit institutions. However, most specialised institutions have recently been either absorbed by other commercial banks (e.g. The Hellenic Industrial Development Bank or ETBA Bank which has been absorbed by Piraeus Bank) or transformed into full-scale commercial banks (e.g. Agricultural Bank of Greece).

Commercial Banks

There are currently five large commercial banks. These are the National Bank of Greece, Alpha Bank, EFG Eurobank Ergasias, Emporiki Bank and Piraeus Bank. Most specialised credit institutions, like the Agricultural Bank of Greece, have been transformed into commercial banks (listed on the Athens Exchange) following increased liberalisation of the Greek market. Traditionally, commercial banks are the dominant group among all categories of deposit and credit institutions operating in the Greek financial market.

Foreign Banks

At the end of March 2004, there were approximately 21 foreign-owned or incorporated credit institutions, which are still operating through branches in the Greek banking market¹. Principal participants include Citibank, HSBC and Bank of Cyprus. Overall, foreign banks have made limited inroads into the Greek retail market.

Specialised Credit Institutions

Today, the major specialised credit institutions are the Deposits and Loans Fund (which is under the Ministry of Economy and Finance) and the Postal Savings Bank. The role of specialised credit institutions has been decreasing significantly in the last few years.

Economic Environment

Greek banks operate in a rather stable economic environment with the economy growing at high rates and with good prospects for strong growth in the following years. Entry into the Eurozone (implying monetary stability and low interest rates) and the substantial investment programme of infrastructure projects associated with the 2004 Olympic Games and the Community Support Framework III ("CSF III") have contributed to the achievement of high rates of growth of more than 4 per cent. in the last three years and provide for the maintenance of good prospects for the economy to grow in the following three to four years at growth rates well above 3.5 per cent. As a consequence, Greek banks have the opportunity to expand their activities given the low bank intermediation in relation to Greek GDP when compared with their European peers. Greece's entry into the Eurozone has redefined the strategic goals and the activities of domestic financial institutions, although rapid technological developments and the integration of the financial and capital markets pose a whole new range of challenges.

In order to face these challenges, Greek banks have made substantial investments in IT projects and in the modernisation of the products and services they provide. On the other hand, in recent years a significant number of mergers and acquisitions have taken place as a result of the transformation of the Greek banking system to conform to the new European environment. At the same time, Greek

¹ Source: Hellenic Banking Association.

banks have increased their presence in Southeastern Europe either through the acquisition of local credit institutions or through the establishment of representative offices and branches. The expansion in the Balkans follows the significant expansion and growing presence in this area of Greek businesses and utility firms, which have made significant investments in the area.

The growth prospects of the Greek market for financial products and services seem rather positive when compared to the other markets in the Eurozone. The outstanding balances of housing and consumer loans as a percentage of GDP were 17.0 per cent. and 9.0 per cent. respectively at the end of December 2003, while in the other markets in the Eurozone the corresponding figures were 32.0 per cent. and 16.0 per cent. respectively. This suggests there is significant potential for the further growth of this retail banking business in the next few years.

Apart from the retail banking business, there are also very good prospects for expansion in the areas of investment banking and asset management services, such as pension fund management and private banking, as well as in bank assurance.

It is also important to note that although competition in the Greek market has intensified during recent years, the net interest margin of the Greek banks remains at satisfactory levels due to the major restructuring of the asset side of their balance sheets, which now include more profitable asset categories, in particular mortgages consumer lending, and lending to small and medium-sized firms.

Another important development characteristic of the Greek banking system is the gradual improvement of the quality of the Greek banks' assets following substantial clean-up operations in recent years. This has been supported by the strength of the economy and the lack of major credit exposures, either to businesses or to the individual sectors. For Piraeus Bank, specifically, non-performing loans do not exceed 4.0 per cent. of the total loan portfolio (or 2.5 per cent. when excluding the loan portfolio of the absorbed ETBA Bank).

Market Share of the Five Largest Banks

	Assets	Lending	Deposits
		(per cent.)	
1998	63.9	62.0	68.4
1999	73.1	73.1	80.2
2000	77.9	76.9	85.8
2001	79.8	76.9	84.1
2002	81.3	78.0	82.6
2003	79.2	77.7	80.8

Source: Published financial statements of each bank

Market Share of the Principal Commercial Banks in Greece at 31st December, 2003

	Assets	Lending	Deposits
		(per cent.)	
National Bank of Greece	28.7	20.6	29.3
Alpha Bank	17.3	18.6	16.7
EFG Eurobank	15.3	15.9	15.1
Emporiki Bank	9.7	12.3	11.4
Piraeus Bank	8.2	10.3	8.3
Other	20.8	22.3	19.2

SELECTED CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL INFORMATION OF THE GROUP

In accordance with Greek law, the Bank currently prepares consolidated and non-consolidated audited annual and semi-annual financial statements, in accordance with Greek GAAP. The Bank also prepares unaudited non-consolidated quarterly financial statements in accordance with Greek GAAP which are not reviewed by its auditors.

Consolidated Capitalisation and Indebtedness of the Group

The following table sets out the capitalisation and indebtedness of the Group as at 31st March, 2004. The information in the table has been extracted from the consolidated audited financial statements of the Group as at 31st December, 2003 which were prepared in accordance with Greek GAAP and the unaudited consolidated financial statements as at 31st March, 2004 prepared in accordance with Greek GAAP. There has been no material change in the capitalisation and indebtedness of the Group since 31st March, 2004.

	31st March, 2004	31st December, 3 2003(*	
a	(Euro thousands)		
Shareholders' Equity			
Share capital	819,949.1	819,949.1	548,276.6
Share premium account	355,531.4	355,531.4	323,098.5
Other reserves	23,877.5	,	-18,070.6
Goodwill-Amounts written off	-239,776.1	-221,984.7	-137,422.5
Retained Earnings and restatements	65,569.9	,	-44,443.8
Treasury shares	-26,509.8	-19,767.0	-62,788.7
Total Shareholders' equity (A)	998,642.0	1,015,921.0	608,649.5
Profit for Q1 2004 (B)	55,033.4	_	_
Minority Interest (C)	337,600.9	326,277.8	726,297.5
Subordinated debt due in one year (D)	4,090.3	3,958.8	4,767.8
Total Capitalisation (A+B+C+D)	1,395,366.6	1,346,157.6	1,339,714.8
Indebtedness			
Deposits from Credit Institutions	2,173,454.6	2,283,202.8	2,403,136.9
Customer Deposits	8,828,860.9	8,679,746.1	7,612,209.2
Customer Repos	1,345,237.5	1,248,906.0	2,462,598.9
Bank issued bonds	421,712.1	465,095.6	261,009.4
Commercial Paper	584,071.5	223,281.7	0.0
Other Liabilities	261,181.8	326,434.2	502,813.5
Deferred Income and Accrued Expenses	112,570.8	97,536.8	107,003.2
Other provisions	64,268.3	64,177.0	36,363.8
Total Indebtedness	13,791,357.5	13,388,380.2	13,385,134.9

^(*) During 2003, the merger with ETBA Bank was completed

Summary Consolidated Balance Sheet for Piraeus Bank Group (in accordance with Greek GAAP)

	31st March, 3 2004	2003(*)	
	(Euro thousands)		
ASSETS			
Cash in hand and balances with the Central Bank	337,362.0	785,912.4	592,754.1
Treasury bills and other eligible bills	142,354.5	117,705.7	90,775.3
Loans and Advances to Credit Institutions	400,376.1	219,946.8	253,238.2
Net Loans and Advances to Customers	10,866,663.7	10,278,343.6	8,758,418.6
Bonds and other fixed-income securities	1,796,015.7	1,857,004.8	3,517,391.1
Shares (closed end fund)	319,182.9	307,804.5	214,848.7
Shares	226,869.9	225,333.6	239,955.9
Equity participations	463,396.7	464,432.0	340,440.4
Intangible Assets	41,996.0	43,245.5	56,238.3
Tangible Assets	152,345.7	150,328.7	207,289.0
Land-buildings from Industrial Estates	0.0	0.0	115,834.4
Other Assets	322,867.3	204,911.2	238,181.3
Prepaid expenses and accrued income	117,293.4	79,569.3	99,484.6
Total Assets	15,186,724.1	14,734,537.9	14,724,849.7
LIABILITIES AND EQUITY			
Deposits from Credit Institutions	2,173,454.6	2,283,202.8	2,403,136.9
Customer Deposits	8,828,860.9	8,679,746.1	7,612,209.2
Customer Repos	1,345,237.5	1,248,906.0	2,462,598.9
Bank issued bonds	421,712.1	465,095.6	261,009.4
Commercial Paper	584,071.5	223,281.7	0.0
Other liabilities	261,181.8	326,434.2	502,813.5
Deferred income and accrued expenses	112,570.8	97,536.8	107,003.2
Other Provisions	64,268.3	64,177.0	36,363.8
Subordinated Debt	4,090.3	3,958.8	4,767.8
Share Capital and Reserves	1,264,927.9	1,257,672.7	808,860.8
Treasury shares	-26,509.8	-19,767.0	-62,788.7
Goodwill - Amounts written off	-239,776.1	-221,984.7	-137,422.5
Minority interests in equity	337,600.9	326,277.8	726,297.5
Profit for Q1 2004	55,033.4		<u> </u>
Total Liabilities and Equity	15,186,724.1	14,734,537.9	14,724,849.7

^(*) During 2003, the merger with ETBA Bank was completed

Certain Footnotes to the Consolidated Balance Sheet as at 31st December, 2003:

- Due to the merger of ETBA Bank S.A by Piraeus BANK S.A, the Share Capital has increased by €270,372,801.00 resulting from the Share Capital of the merged Bank and increased by €1,299,770.63 from the capitalisation of part of the Share Premium Account. In addition, due to this merger, the resulting goodwill that amounted to €144,706,691.83 was offset completely against the Share Premium Account.
- 2. The Bank and certain consolidated subsidiaries valued the securities portfolio following the requirements of Law 2992/2002. The resulting positive difference of €37.9 million was added to the Reserves. Other non-listed shares and investments portfolio (mainly non-financial sector affiliated companies) of total amount €563.3 million, was valued at cost. The proportional equity value, according to the relevant requirements of Law 2190/1920, amounts to €372.4 million approximately.
- 3. Fixed assets employed for leasing activities are presented as receivables from customers, according to International Financial Reporting Standards, for the consolidated companies PIRAEUS LEASING S.A. and PIRAEUS LEASING ROMANIA SRL. The relevant balances have been reclassified, with no effect on the Group Profit before tax.
- 4. The Bank and its most significant subsidiaries book a retirement benefit provision consistently, based on the 205/1988 Interpretation of the Legal Advisory Committee to the Government, and article 10 of Law 2065/1992. Had the Bank and these subsidiaries created a retirement benefit provision for all serving employees, in accordance with Law 2112, the total amount required as at the 31st of December, 2003 would amount to €27.2 million, of which €2.8 million relate to the year ended 31st December, 2003. The total amount of retirement benefit provision as at 31st December, 2003 amounts to €12.1 million.
- Tax Authorities have audited Piraeus Bank and ETBA Bank's tax positions for the year up to and including 1997 and 1998
 respectively. The tax position of certain consolidated subsidiaries has not been audited for the years up to and including
 2002.

Consolidated Profit and Loss Account

	Q1 2004	2003(*)	2002
		(Euro thousands)	
Interest income	184,753.2	757,191.4	777,351.2
Less: Interest expense	-81,954.1	-365,997.1	-422,257.2
Net Interest Income	102,799.1	391,194.3	355,094.0
Plus: Dividend income from securities	9,060.0	19,793.4	18,746.4
Plus: Net Commission Income	32,710.1	110,061.0	88,943.2
Plus: Net profit from financial transactions	17,276.2	57,647.3	32,238.0
Plus: Other operating income	3,769.7	16,508.6	11,666.1
Plus: Income from operation of Industrial Estates	0.0	0.0	10,108.9
Gross Operating Results	165,615.2	595,204.6	516,796.7
Less: Staff expenses	43,136.4	173,531.2	168,045.7
Less: Other administrative expenses	33,653.3	147,900.4	129,602.6
Less: Other operating expenses	1,346.2	4,142.0	5,267.8
Less: Depreciation of fixed assets	11,502.0	50,040.0	55,949.2
Operating Expenses	89,637.8	375,613.6	358,865.3
Less: Provisions for Bad Debt and Doubtful debts	23,644.8	68,507.9	72,549.1
Total Operating Results	52,332.6	151,083.1	85,382.3
Plus: Extraordinary results	2,700.8	13,958.3	29,712.9
Profit before tax	55,033.4	165,041.4	115,095.2
Share of minority in profit before tax	10,802.8	27,254.2	24,801.1
Profit of Piraeus Bank Shareholders before tax	44,320.6	137,787.2	90,294.0
Less: Tax	10,577.3	41,319.2	34,254.1
Net Profit	44,456.1	123,722.2	80,841.1
Share of minority in profit after tax	9,458.8	22,241.0	14,641.3
Net Profit of Piraeus Bank Shareholders	34,997.3	101,481.3	66,199.8

^(*) During 2003, the Merger with ETBA Bank was completed

FORM OF THE DEED OF GUARANTEE

The following is the form of the Deed of Guarantee of Piraeus Bank:

"THIS DEED OF GUARANTEE is made on 9th June, 2004, in London, England

by

(1) **PIRAEUS BANK S.A.**, a company incorporated in the Hellenic Republic (the "Guarantor").

IN FAVOUR OF

(2) **THE HOLDERS AND THE ACCOUNTHOLDERS** (each as defined below) (together, the "Beneficiaries").

WHEREAS

- (A) Piraeus Bank S.A., in its capacity as an issuer and Piraeus Group Finance PLC ("Piraeus PLC" and together with Piraeus Bank S.A. in its capacity as issuer, (the "Issuers") have established a Euro Medium Term Note Programme (the "Programme") for the issuance of notes. The Guarantor has authorised the giving of its irrevocable guarantee in relation to the notes issued by Piraeus PLC (the "Notes").
- (B) The Issuers and the Guarantor have, in relation to the notes issued under the Programme, entered into a fiscal agency agreement (as amended, supplemented and/or restated from time to time, the "Agency Agreement") dated 9th June, 2004 with Deutsche Bank AG London as fiscal agent (the "Agent", which expression shall include any successor) and the other paying agents named therein.
- (C) The Issuers have, in relation to the notes issued under the Programme, executed in London, England a deed of covenant (as amended, supplemented and/or restated from time to time, the "Deed of Covenant") dated 9th June, 2004.
- (D) The Guarantor has agreed to irrevocably guarantee the payment of all sums expressed to be payable from time to time by Piraeus PLC in respect of the Notes and under the Deed of Covenant.

THIS DEED OF GUARANTEE WITNESSES as follows:

1.1 **Definitions and Interpretation**

"Accountholder" means any accountholder or participant with a Clearing System which at the Relevant Date has credited to its securities account with such Clearing System one or more Entries in respect of a Global Note issued by Piraeus PLC, except for any Clearing System in its capacity as an accountholder of another Clearing System;

"Clearing System" means each of Euroclear and Clearstream, Luxembourg, and any other clearing system specified in the relevant Pricing Supplement;

"Conditions" means the terms and conditions of the relevant Notes, including those contained in the applicable Pricing Supplement, as the same may be modified or supplemented in accordance with the terms thereof, and any reference to a numbered "Condition" is to the correspondingly numbered provision thereof;

"Direct Rights" means the rights referred to in Clause 3 of the Deed of Covenant;

"Entry" means, in relation to a Global Note issued by Piraeus PLC, any entry which is made in the securities account of any Accountholder with a Clearing System in respect of Notes represented by such Global Note;

"Euroclear" means Euroclear Bank S.A./N.V., as operator of the Euroclear system;

"Holder" means, in relation to any Note, at any time, the person who is the bearer of such Note;

"person" means any individual, company, corporation, firm, partnership, joint venture, association, organisation, state or agency of a state or other entity, whether or not having separate legal personality; and

"Relevant Date" means, in relation to the payment of any sum expressed to be payable by Piraeus PLC in respect of a Note, whichever is the later of:

- (a) the date on which the payment in question first becomes due; and
- (b) if the full amount payable has not been received by the Agent on or prior to such due date, the date on which (the full amount having been so received) notice to that effect has been given to the Holders.

"Senior Creditors of the Guarantor" means creditors of the Guarantor (a) who are unsubordinated creditors of the Guarantor, or (b) who are subordinated creditors of the Guarantor whose claims are expressed to rank in priority to the claims of the holders of Dated Subordinated Notes or other persons claiming under the Deed of Guarantee (whether only in the winding up of the Guarantor or otherwise).

- 1.2 Terms defined in the Conditions have the same meanings in this Deed of Guarantee.
- 1.3 Any reference in this Deed of Guarantee to any obligation or payment under or in respect of the Notes shall be construed to include a reference to any obligation or payment under or pursuant to Clause 3 of the Deed of Covenant.
- 1.4 Any reference in this Deed of Guarantee to a Clause is, unless otherwise stated, to a clause hereof.
- 1.5 Headings are inserted for convenience and ease of reference only and shall not affect the interpretation of this Deed of Guarantee.

2. Guarantee and Indemnity

- 2.1 The Guarantor hereby irrevocably guarantees:
 - (a) to each Holder the due and punctual payment of all sums from time to time payable by Piraeus PLC in respect of the Notes as and when the same become due and payable and accordingly undertakes to pay to such Holder, forthwith upon the demand of such Holder and in the manner and currency prescribed by the Conditions for payments by Piraeus PLC in respect of the Notes, any and every sum or sums which Piraeus PLC is at any time liable to pay in respect of the Notes and which Piraeus PLC has failed to pay; and
 - (b) to each Accountholder the due and punctual payment of all sums from time to time payable by Piraeus PLC to such Accountholder in respect of the Direct Rights as and when the same become due and payable and accordingly undertakes to pay to such Accountholder, forthwith upon the demand of such Accountholder and in the manner and currency prescribed by the Conditions for payments by Piraeus PLC in respect of the Notes, any and every sum or sums which Piraeus PLC is at any time liable to pay to such Accountholder in respect of the Notes and which Piraeus PLC has failed to pay.
- 2.2 The Guarantor irrevocably undertakes to each Beneficiary that, if any sum referred to in Clause 2.1 is not recoverable from the Guarantor thereunder for any reason whatsoever (including, without limitation, by reason of any Note, the Deed of Covenant or any provision thereof being or becoming void, unenforceable or otherwise invalid under any applicable law), then (notwithstanding that the same may have been known to such Beneficiary) the Guarantor will, forthwith upon demand by such Beneficiary, pay such sum by way of a full indemnity in the manner and currency prescribed by the Conditions. This indemnity constitutes a separate and independent obligation from the other obligations under this Deed of Guarantee and shall give rise to a separate and independent cause of action if any sum is not recoverable under Clause 2.1.
- 2.3 Notwithstanding the foregoing provisions of Clauses 2.1 and 2.2 hereof, it is specifically agreed that the place of performance of any and all obligations under the Deed of Guarantee shall be London, England and consequently any and all payments of the Guarantor under this Deed of Guarantee shall be made out of or to the credit of bank accounts maintained with banks legally operating and situated in London, England.

3. Negative Pledge

The Guarantor covenants in favour of each Holder that it will duly perform and comply with the obligations expressed to be undertaken by it in Condition 4.

4. Taxation

The Guarantor covenants in favour of each Holder that it will duly perform and comply with the obligations expressed to be undertaken by it in Condition 10. In particular, if in respect of any payment to be made under this Deed of Guarantee, any withholding or deduction for or on account of any present or future taxes, duties, assessments or governmental charges of whatever nature is payable, the Guarantor shall pay the additional amounts referred to in Condition 10, all subject to and in accordance with the provisions of Condition 10.

5. Preservation of Rights

- 5.1 The obligations of the Guarantor hereunder shall be deemed to be undertaken as principal obligor and not merely as surety.
- 5.2 The obligations of the Guarantor hereunder shall be continuing obligations notwithstanding any settlement of account or other matter or thing whatsoever and, in particular but without limitation, shall not be considered satisfied by any intermediate payment or satisfaction of all or any of Piraeus PLC's obligations under any Note or the Deed of Covenant and shall continue in full force and effect until all sums due from Piraeus PLC in respect of the Notes and under the Deed of Covenant have been paid, and all other obligations of Piraeus PLC thereunder have been satisfied, in full.
- 5.3 Neither the obligations expressed to be assumed by the Guarantor herein nor the rights, powers and remedies conferred upon the Beneficiaries by this Deed of Guarantee or by law shall be discharged, impaired or otherwise affected by:
 - (a) the winding up, liquidation or dissolution of Piraeus PLC or analogous proceeding in any jurisdiction or any change in its status, function, control or ownership;
 - (b) any of the obligations of Piraeus PLC under or in respect of the Notes or the Deed of Covenant being or becoming illegal, invalid or unenforceable;
 - (c) time or other indulgence being granted or agreed to be granted to Piraeus PLC in respect of any of its obligations under or in respect of the Notes or the Deed of Covenant;
 - (d) any amendment to, or any variation, waiver or release of, any obligation of Piraeus PLC under or in respect of the Notes or the Deed of Covenant or any security or other guarantee or indemnity in respect thereof; or
 - (e) any other act, event or omission which, but for this sub-clause, might operate to discharge, impair or otherwise affect the obligations expressed to be assumed by the Guarantor herein or any of the rights, powers or remedies conferred upon the Beneficiaries or any of them by this Deed of Guarantee or by law.
- 5.4 Any settlement or discharge between the Guarantor and the Beneficiaries or any of them shall be conditional upon no payment to the Beneficiaries or any of them by Piraeus PLC or any other person on Piraeus PLC's behalf being avoided or reduced by virtue of any provision or enactment relating to bankruptcy, insolvency or liquidation for the time being in force and, in the event of any such payment being so avoided or reduced, the Beneficiaries shall be entitled to recover the amount by which such payment is so avoided or reduced from the Guarantor subsequently as if such settlement or discharge had not occurred.
- 5.5 No Beneficiary shall be obliged before exercising any of the rights, powers or remedies conferred upon it by this Deed of Guarantee or by law:
 - (a) to make any demand of Piraeus PLC, save for the presentation of the relevant Note;
 - (b) to take any action or obtain judgment in any court against Piraeus PLC; or
 - (c) to make or file any claim or proof in a winding up or dissolution of Piraeus PLC,
 - and (save as aforesaid) the Guarantor hereby expressly waives presentment, demand, protest and notice of dishonour in respect of each Note.
- 5.6 The Guarantor agrees that, so long as any sums are or may be owed by Piraeus PLC in respect of the Notes or under the Deed of Covenant or Piraeus PLC is under any other actual or contingent obligation thereunder or in respect thereof, the Guarantor will not exercise any right which the

Guarantor may at any time have by reason of the performance by the Guarantor of its obligations hereunder:

- (a) to be indemnified by Piraeus PLC;
- (b) to claim any contribution from any other guarantor of Piraeus PLC's obligations under or in respect of the Notes or the Deed of Covenant;
- (c) to take the benefit (in whole or in part) of any security enjoyed in connection with the Notes or the Deed of Covenant by any Beneficiary; or
- (d) to be subrogated to the rights of any Beneficiary against Piraeus PLC in respect of amounts paid by the Guarantor under this Deed of Guarantee.
- 5.7 The Guarantor irrevocably undertakes that its obligations hereunder in respect of Notes specified in the applicable Pricing Supplement as Senior Notes will constitute direct, general, unconditional and unsubordinated obligations of the Guarantor which will at all times rank at least *pari passu* with all other present and future unsecured (subject to Condition 4) and unsubordinated obligations of the Guarantor, save for such obligations as may be preferred by mandatory provisions of law.
- 5.8 The Guarantor irrevocably undertakes that its obligations hereunder in respect of Notes specified in the applicable Pricing Supplement as Dated Subordinated Notes will constitute direct, general and unconditional, subordinated and unsecured obligations of the Guarantor which will be subordinated to the claims of Senior Creditors of the Guarantor in that payments under the Deed of Guarantee (whether in the winding up of the Guarantor or otherwise) will be conditional upon the Guarantor being solvent at the time of payment by the Guarantor and in that no amount shall be payable under the Deed of Guarantee (whether in the winding up of the Guarantor or otherwise) except to the extent that the Guarantor could make such payment and still be solvent immediately thereafter. For this purpose, the Guarantor shall be considered to be solvent if it can pay principal and interest in respect of the Dated Subordinated Notes and still be able to pay its outstanding debts to Senior Creditors of the Guarantor, which are due and payable.

In case of dissolution, liquidation and/or bankruptcy of the Guarantor the holders of Dated Subordinated Notes will only be paid by the Guarantor after all Senior Creditors of the Guarantor have been paid in full and such holders of Dated Subordinated Notes irrevocably waive their right to be treated equally with all other unsecured, unsubordinated creditors of the Guarantor in such circumstances.

6. Deposit of Deed of Guarantee

An original of this Deed of Guarantee shall be deposited with and held by the Agent until the date which is two years after all the obligations of Piraeus PLC under or in respect of the Notes and the Deed of Covenant have been discharged in full. The Guarantor hereby acknowledges the right of every Beneficiary to the production of this Deed of Guarantee.

7. Stamp Duties

The Guarantor shall pay all stamp, registration and other similar taxes and duties (including any interest and penalties thereon or in connection therewith) which are payable upon or in connection with the execution and delivery of this Deed of Guarantee, and shall, to the extent permitted by law, indemnify each Beneficiary against any claim, demand, action, liability, damages, cost, loss or expense (including, without limitation, reasonable legal fees and any applicable value added tax) which it incurs as a result or arising out of or in relation to any failure to pay or delay in paying any of the same.

8. Benefit of Deed of Guarantee

- 8.1 This Deed of Guarantee shall take effect as a deed poll for the benefit of the Beneficiaries from time to time.
- 8.2 This Deed of Guarantee shall enure to the benefit of each Beneficiary and its (and any subsequent) successors and assigns, each of which shall be entitled severally to enforce this Deed of Guarantee against the Guarantor.

- 8.3 The Guarantor shall not be entitled to assign or transfer all or any of its rights, benefits and obligations hereunder. Each Beneficiary shall be entitled to assign all or any of its rights and benefits hereunder.
- 8.4 No rights are conferred on any person under the Contracts (Rights of Third Parties) Act 1999 to enforce any term of this Deed, but that does not effect any right or remedy of any person which exists or is available apart from the Act.

9. Partial Invalidity

If at any time any provision hereof is or becomes illegal, invalid or unenforceable in any respect under the laws of any applicable jurisdiction, neither the legality, validity or enforceability of the remaining provisions hereof nor the legality, validity or enforceability of such provision under the laws of any other applicable jurisdiction shall in any way be affected or impaired thereby.

10. Notices

10.1 All notices and other communications to the Guarantor hereunder shall be made in writing (by letter, telex or fax) and shall be sent to the Guarantor at:

Piraeus Bank S.A.

Address: 20 Amalias Ave. & 5 Souri Str.

105 57 Athens

Greece

Tel: +30 210 328 8871/+30 210 333 5870 Fax: +30 210 333 5505/+30 210 325 4207

Attention: Prof. Mr. Lambros Kotsiris, Head of Legal Council/

Mrs. Dimitra Pallikari, Legal Counsel

or to such other address, telex number or fax number or for the attention of such other person or department as the Guarantor has notified to the Beneficiaries in the manner prescribed for the giving of notices in connection with the Notes.

- 10.2 Every notice, demand or other communication sent in accordance with Clause 10.1 shall be effective as follows:
 - (a) if sent by letter or fax, upon receipt by the Guarantor; and
 - (b) if sent by telex, upon receipt by the sender of the Guarantor's answerback at the end of transmission;

provided that any such notice or other communication which would otherwise take effect after 4.00 p.m. on any particular day shall not take effect until 10.00 a.m. on the immediately succeeding business day in the place of the Guarantor.

11. Governing Law and Jurisdiction

- 11.1 This Deed of Guarantee (other than Clause 5.8) is governed by, and shall be construed in accordance with, English law. Clause 5.8 is governed by and shall be construed in accordance with, Greek law.
- 11.2 The Guarantor agrees, for the exclusive benefit of the Beneficiaries, that the courts of England shall have jurisdiction to hear and determine any suit, action or proceedings, and to settle any disputes, which may arise out of or in connection with this Deed of Guarantee (respectively, "Proceedings" and "Disputes") and, for such purposes, irrevocably submits to the jurisdiction of such courts.
- 11.3 The Guarantor irrevocably waives any objection which it might now or hereafter have to the courts referred to in Clause 11.2 being nominated as the forum to hear and determine any Proceedings and to settle any Disputes, and agrees not to claim that any such court is not a convenient or appropriate forum.
- 11.4 The Guarantor agrees that the process by which any Proceedings are begun may be served on it by being delivered to Piraeus Bank S.A., London Branch at its principal place of business for the time being in England (currently Tower 42, 25 Old Broad Street, London EC2N 1HQ). If the Guarantor ceases to maintain a branch in England, the Guarantor shall appoint a further person

- in England to accept service of process on its behalf. Nothing in this sub-clause shall affect the right to serve process in any other manner permitted by law.
- 11.5 The submission to the jurisdiction of the courts referred to in Clause 11.2 shall not (and shall not be construed so as to) limit any right to take Proceedings in any other court of competent jurisdiction, nor shall the taking of Proceedings in any one or more jurisdictions preclude the taking of Proceedings in any other jurisdiction (whether concurrently or not) if and to the extent permitted by law.

12. Modification

The Agency Agreement contains provisions for convening meetings of Holders to consider matters relating to the Notes, including the modification of any provision of this Deed of Guarantee. Any such modification may be made by supplemental deed poll if sanctioned by an Extraordinary Resolution and shall be binding on all Beneficiaries.

IN WITNESS whereof this Deed of Guarantee has been executed by the Guarantor and is intended to be and is hereby delivered on the date first before written.

EXECUTED as a deed by acting as attorney-in-fact for and on behalf of PIRAEUS BANK S.A. in the presence of:

Signature of witness:														
Name of Witness:														
Address:														
Occupation:														,

TAXATION

Taxation in the Hellenic Republic

The following discussion of Greek taxation, as it relates to the Notes and the Guarantee, is of a general nature and is based on the provisions of tax law, currently in force in Greece. Holders of Notes who are in doubt as to their personal tax position should consult their professional advisers.

Under the Greek tax laws as of the date hereof:

- 1. payments of interest from Piraeus Bank in respect of Notes issued by it to Noteholders who:
 - (a) reside in Greece or maintain a permanent establishment therein for Greek tax law purposes, will be subject to Greek withholding tax at the rate of 10 per cent. Nevertheless, such withholding shall not be imposed should the issue of such Notes be considered as having taken place outside Greece;
 - (b) neither reside nor maintain a permanent establishment in Greece for Greek tax law purposes will not be subject to Greek income tax, provided that the relevant Noteholders present a "tax residence certificate" issued at a date not later than one year before such certificate is presented,
- no Greek withholding tax shall be imposed on payments of principal or interest from Piraeus PLC (or of principal by Piraeus Bank under the Deed of Guarantee) in respect of Notes issued outside Greece by Piraeus PLC,
- 3. payments of accrued interest from Piraeus Bank under the Deed of Guarantee in respect of Notes issued by Piraeus PLC to Noteholders who:
 - (a) reside in Greece or maintain a permanent establishment therein for Greek tax law purposes, might be subject to Greek withholding tax at the rate of 20 per cent. which does not exhaust the tax liability of such Noteholders;
 - (b) are companies or legal entities and who neither reside nor maintain a permanent establishment in Greece for Greek tax law purposes, might be subject to Greek withholding tax at the rate of 35 per cent., which exhausts the tax liability of such Noteholders.

However, if such a Noteholder is a resident of a country with which Greece has executed a bilateral tax treaty for the avoidance of double taxation, then the provisions of such treaty shall prevail over the provisions of internal Greek tax laws and shall apply, provided such Noteholder presents to Piraeus Bank a duly signed and stamped "claim" for the application of the relevant treaty supported by a tax residence certificate issued at a date not later than one year before such claim is presented.

Taxation in the United Kingdom

The following is a summary of the United Kingdom withholding taxation treatment at the date hereof in relation to payments of principal and interest in respect of the Notes. The comments do not deal with other United Kingdom tax aspects of acquiring, holding or disposing of the Notes. The comments are made on the assumption that Piraeus Bank is not resident in the United Kingdom for United Kingdom tax purposes and that any interest on Notes issued by Piraeus Bank (other than through its UK branch) will not have a UK source. The comments relate only to the position of persons who are absolute beneficial owners of the Notes. Prospective Noteholders should be aware that the particular terms of issue of any Series of Notes as specified in the relevant Pricing Supplement may affect the tax treatment of that and other Series of Notes. The following is a general guide and should be treated with appropriate caution. Noteholders who are in any doubt as to their tax position should consult their professional advisers.

Noteholders who may be liable to taxation in jurisdictions other than the United Kingdom in respect of their acquisition, holding or disposal of the Notes are particularly advised to consult their professional advisers as to whether they are so liable (and if so under the laws of which jurisdictions), since the following comments relate only to certain United Kingdom taxation aspects of payments in respect of the Notes. In particular, Noteholders should be aware that they may be liable to taxation under the laws of other jurisdictions in relation to payments in respect of the Notes even if such payments may be made without withholding or deduction for or on account of taxation under the laws of the United Kingdom.

A. UK Withholding Tax on UK Source Interest

A.1 UK Notes Listed on a Recognised Stock Exchange

The Notes issued by Piraeus PLC (the "UK Issuer") or Piraeus Bank issuing through its UK branch (also the "UK Issuer", and together with Piraeus PLC, the "UK Issuers") which carry a right to interest ("UK Notes") will constitute "quoted Eurobonds" provided they are and continue to be listed on a recognised stock exchange. On the basis of the United Kingdom Inland Revenue's published interpretation of the relevant legislation, securities which are to be listed on a stock exchange in a country which is a member state of the European Union or which is part of the European Economic Area will satisfy this requirement if they are listed by a competent authority in that country and are admitted to trading on a recognised stock exchange in that country; securities which are to be listed on a stock exchange in any other country will satisfy this requirement if they are admitted to trading on a recognised stock exchange in that country. The Luxembourg Stock Exchange is a recognised stock exchange for these purposes. While the UK Notes are and continue to be quoted Eurobonds, payments of interest on the UK Notes may be made without withholding or deduction for or on account of United Kingdom income tax.

A.2 UK Notes issued by Piraeus Bank acting through its UK branch

In addition to the exemption set out in A.1 above, interest on Notes issued by Piraeus Bank acting through its UK branch may be paid without withholding or deduction for or on account of United Kingdom income tax if and for so long as Piraeus Bank issuing through its UK branch is a "bank" for the purposes of section 349 of the Income and Corporation Taxes Act 1988 and so long as such payments are made by it in the ordinary course of its business. In accordance with the published practice of the United Kingdom Inland Revenue, such payments will be accepted as being made by Piraeus Bank issuing through its UK branch in the ordinary course of its business unless either:

- (i) the borrowing in question conforms to any of the definitions of tier 1, 2 or 3 capital adopted by the Financial Services Authority whether or not it actually counts towards tier 1, 2 or 3 capital for regulatory purposes; or
- (ii) the characteristics of the transaction giving rise to the interest are primarily attributable to an intention to avoid United Kingdom tax.

A.3 Notes with short maturity dates

Interest on the UK Notes may be paid without withholding or deduction for or on account of United Kingdom income tax if the relevant interest is paid on Notes with a maturity of less than one year from the date of issue and which are not issued under arrangements the effect of which is to render such Notes part of a borrowing with a total term of a year or more.

A.4 All other Notes

In all cases falling outside the exemptions described in A.1, A.2 and A.3 above, interest on the UK Notes may be paid under deduction of United Kingdom income tax at the lower rate (currently 20 per cent.) subject to such relief as may be available under the provisions of any applicable double taxation treaty or to any other exemption which may apply.

B. Payments by the Guarantor

If the Guarantor makes any payments in respect of interest on Notes issued by Piraeus PLC (or other amounts due under such Notes other than the repayment of amounts subscribed for the Notes) such payments may be subject to United Kingdom withholding tax at the basic rate (currently 22 per cent.) subject to such relief as may be available under the provisions of any applicable double taxation treaty. Such payments by the Guarantor may not be eligible for the exemptions described in A above.

C. Payments under the Deed of Covenant

Any payments made by an Issuer under the Deed of Covenant may not qualify for the exemptions from United Kingdom withholding tax described above.

D. Provision of Information

Noteholders should note that where any interest on Notes is paid to them (or to any person acting on their behalf) by any UK Issuer or any person in the United Kingdom acting on behalf of any Issuer (a "paying agent") or is received by any person in the United Kingdom acting on behalf of the relevant Noteholder (other than solely by clearing or arranging the clearing of a cheque) (a "collecting agent"), then the relevant UK Issuer, the paying agent or the collecting agent (as the case may be) may, in certain cases, be required to supply to the United Kingdom Inland Revenue details of the payment and certain details relating to the Noteholder (including the Noteholder's name and address). These provisions will apply whether or not the interest has been paid subject to withholding or deduction for or on account of United Kingdom income tax and whether or not the Noteholder is resident in the United Kingdom for United Kingdom taxation purposes. Where the Noteholder is not so resident, the details provided to the United Kingdom Inland Revenue may, in certain cases, be passed by the United Kingdom Inland Revenue to the tax authorities of the jurisdiction in which the Noteholder is resident for taxation purposes.

For the above purposes, "interest" should be taken, for practical purposes, as including payments made by a guarantor in respect of interest on Notes.

The provisions referred to above may also apply, in certain circumstances, to payments made on redemption of any Notes where the amount payable on redemption is greater than the issue price of the Notes.

E. Other Rules Relating to United Kingdom Withholding Tax

- 1. Notes may be issued at an issue price of less than 100 per cent. of their principal amount. Any discount element on any such Notes will not be subject to any United Kingdom withholding tax pursuant to the provisions mentioned in A above, but may be subject to reporting requirements as outlined in D above.
- 2. Where Notes are to be, or may fall to be, redeemed at a premium, as opposed to being issued at a discount, then any such element of premium may constitute a payment of interest. Payments of interest are subject to United Kingdom withholding tax and reporting requirements as outlined above.
- 3. Where interest has been paid under deduction of United Kingdom income tax, Noteholders who are not resident in the United Kingdom may be able to recover all or part of the tax deducted if there is an appropriate provision in any applicable double taxation treaty.
- 4. The references to "interest" above mean "interest" as understood in United Kingdom tax law. The statements above do not take any account of any different definitions of "interest" or "principal" which may prevail under any other law or which may be created by the Terms and Conditions of the Notes or any related documentation (e.g. see Condition 7(h) of the Notes).

5. The above description of the United Kingdom withholding tax position assumes that there will be no substitution of an Issuer pursuant to Condition 16 of the Notes and does not consider the tax consequences of any such substitution.

EU Savings Directive

On 3rd June, 2003 the European Council of Economic and Finance Ministers (ECOFin) adopted a new directive regarding the taxation of savings income. The directive is scheduled to be applied by Member States from 1st January, 2005, provided that certain non-EU countries adopt similar measures from the same date. Under the directive each Member State will be required to provide to the tax authorities of another Member State details of payments of interest or other similar income paid by a person within its jurisdiction to an individual resident in that other Member State; however, Austria, Belgium and Luxembourg may instead apply a withholding system for a transitional period in relation to such payments, deducting tax at rates rising over time to 35 per cent. The transitional period is to commence on the date from which the directive is to be applied by Member States and to terminate at the end of the first fiscal year following agreement by certain non-EU countries to the exchange of information relating to such payments.

SUBSCRIPTION AND SALE

The Dealers have in a programme agreement (the "Programme Agreement") dated 9th June, 2004 agreed with Piraeus Bank and Piraeus PLC a basis upon which they or any of them may from time to time agree to subscribe Notes. Any such agreement will extend to those matters stated under "Form of the Notes" and "Terms and Conditions of the Notes" above. In the Programme Agreement, Piraeus Bank and Piraeus PLC have agreed to reimburse the Dealers for certain of their expenses in connection with the establishment of the Programme and the issue of Notes under the Programme and to indemnify the Dealers against certain liabilities incurred by them in connection therewith.

United States

The Notes have not been and will not be registered under the Securities Act and may not be offered or sold within the United States or to, or for the account or benefit of, U.S. persons except in certain transactions exempt from the registration requirements of the Securities Act.

The Notes are subject to U.S. tax law requirements and may not be offered, sold or delivered within the United States or its possessions or to a United States person, except in certain transactions permitted by U.S. tax regulations. Terms used in this paragraph have the meanings given to them by the U.S. Internal Revenue Code of 1986 and regulations thereunder.

Each Dealer has represented and agreed and each further Dealer appointed under the Programme will be required to represent and agree that it will not offer, sell or deliver Notes (i) as part of their distribution at any time or (ii) otherwise until 40 days after the completion of the distribution, as determined and certified by the relevant Dealer, or in the case of an issue of Notes on a syndicated basis, the relevant lead manager, of all the Notes of the Tranche of which such Notes are a part within the United States or to, or for the account or benefit of, U.S. persons and it will have sent to each dealer to which it sells Notes during the distribution compliance period a confirmation or other notice setting forth the restrictions on offers and sales of the Notes within the United States or to, or for the account or benefit of, U.S. persons. Terms used in this paragraph have the meanings given to them by Regulation S under the Securities Act.

In addition, until 40 days after the commencement of the offering of any Series of Notes, an offer or sale of such Notes within the United States by any dealer (whether or not participating in the offering) may violate the registration requirements of the Securities Act if such offer or sale is made otherwise than in accordance with an available exemption from registration under the Securities Act.

Each issue of Index Linked Notes or Dual Currency Notes shall be subject to such additional U.S. selling restrictions as the relevant Issuer and the relevant Dealer or Dealers may agree as a term of the issue and purchase of such Notes, which additional selling restrictions shall be set out in the applicable Pricing Supplement. Each relevant Dealer has agreed and each further Dealer appointed under the Programme will be required to agree that it will offer, sell and deliver such Notes only in compliance with such additional U.S. selling restrictions.

Germany

Each Dealer has agreed and each further Dealer appointed under the Programme will be required to agree not to offer or sell Notes in the Federal Republic of Germany other than in compliance with the Securities Selling Prospectus Act (*Wertpapier-Verkaufsprospektgesetz*) of 13th December, 1990 (as amended), or any other laws applicable in the Federal Republic of Germany governing the issue, offering and sale of securities.

Japan

The Notes have not been and will not be registered under the Securities and Exchange Law of Japan (the "Securities and Exchange Law") and each Dealer has agreed and each further Dealer appointed under the Programme will be required to agree that it will not offer or sell any Notes, directly or indirectly, in Japan or to, or for the benefit of, any resident of Japan (which term as used herein means any person resident in Japan including any corporation or other entity organised under the laws of Japan) or to others for re-offering or resale, directly or indirectly, in Japan or to a resident of Japan except pursuant to an exemption from the registration requirements of, and otherwise in compliance with the Securities and Exchange Law and any other applicable laws, regulations and ministerial guidelines of Japan.

Republic of France

Each of the Dealers and the relevant Issuer has represented and agreed and each further Dealer appointed under the Programme will be required to represent and agree that, in connection with their initial distribution, it has not offered or sold, and will not offer or sell, directly or indirectly, Notes to the public in the Republic of France, and has not distributed or caused to be distributed and will not distribute or cause to be distributed to the public in the Republic of France, this Offering Circular or any other offering material relating to the Notes, and that such offers, sales and distributions have been and shall only be made in France to qualified investors (*investisseurs qualifiés*) acting for their own account as defined in and in accordance with, Articles L.411-1 and L.411-2 of the *Code Monétaire et Financier* and *décret* no. 98-880 dated 1st October, 1998.

United Kingdom

Each Dealer has represented and agreed and each further Dealer appointed under the Programme will be required to represent and agree that:

- (a) In relation to Notes which have a maturity of one year or more, it has not offered or sold and prior to the expiry of the period of six months from the issue date of such Notes, will not offer or sell any such Notes to persons in the United Kingdom except to persons whose ordinary activities involve them in acquiring, holding, managing or disposing of investments (as principal or agent) for the purposes of their businesses or otherwise in circumstances which have not resulted and will not result in an offer to the public in the United Kingdom within the meaning of the Public Offers of Securities Regulations 1995 (as amended);
- (b) in relation to any Notes issued by Piraeus PLC having a maturity of less than one year, (i) it is a person whose ordinary activities involve it in acquiring, holding, managing or disposing of investments (as principal or agent) for the purposes of its business and (ii) it has not offered or sold and will not offer or sell any Notes other than to persons whose ordinary activities involve them in acquiring, holding, managing or disposing of investments (as principal or as agent) for the purposes of their businesses or who it is reasonable to expect will acquire, hold, manage or dispose of investments (as principal or agent) for the purposes of their businesses where the issue of the Notes would otherwise constitute a contravention of Section 19 of the Financial Services and Markets Act 2000 (the "FSMA") by the Issuer;
- (c) it has only communicated or caused to be communicated and will only communicate or cause to be communicated an invitation or inducement to engage in investment activity (within the meaning of Section 21 of the FSMA) received by it in connection with the issue or sale of any Notes in circumstances in which Section 21(1) of the FSMA does not apply to the Issuer or the Guarantor; and
- (d) it has complied and will comply with all applicable provisions of the FSMA with respect to anything done by it in relation to any Notes in, from or otherwise involving the United Kingdom.

Italy

The offering of the Notes has not been cleared by CONSOB (the Italian Securities Exchange Commission) pursuant to the Italian securities legislation and, accordingly, no Notes may be offered, sold or delivered, nor may copies of the Offering Circular or of any other document relating to the Notes be distributed in the Republic of Italy, except:

- (a) to professional investors (*operatori qualificati*), as defined in article 31, second paragraph, of CONSOB Regulation No. 11522 of 1st July, 1998, as amended; or
- (b) in circumstances which are exempted from the rules on solicitation of investments pursuant to Article 100 of Legislative Decree No. 58 of 24th February, 1998 (the "Financial Services Act") and Article 33, first paragraph, of CONSOB Regulation No. 11971 of 14th May, 1999, as amended.

Any offer, sale or delivery of the Notes or distribution of copies of the Offering Circular or any other document relating to the Notes in the Republic of Italy under (a) or (b) above must be:

(a) made by an investment firm, bank or financial intermediary permitted to conduct such activities in the Republic of Italy in accordance with the Financial Services Act and Legislative Decree No. 385 of 1st September, 1993 (the "Banking Act"); and

- (b) in compliance with Article 129 of the Banking Act and the implementing guidelines of the Bank of Italy, as amended from time to time, pursuant to which the issue or the offer of securities in the Republic of Italy may need to be preceded and followed by an appropriate notice to be filed with the Bank of Italy depending *inter alia*, on the aggregate value of the securities issued or offered in the Republic of Italy and their characteristics; and
- (c) in compliance with any other applicable laws and regulations.

Netherlands

Each Dealer has represented and agreed that it has not, directly or indirectly, offered or sold and will not, directly or indirectly, offer or sell in the Netherlands any Notes issued by Piraeus PLC other than (i) the Notes with a minimum denomination of euro 50,000 (or the equivalent thereof in another currency) which Notes are fully paid up at their issuance, (ii) to persons who trade or invest in securities in the conduct of a profession or business (which include banks, stockbrokers, insurance companies, investment undertakings, pension funds, other institutional investors and finance companies and treasury departments of large enterprises) or (iii) in circumstances where one of the exceptions to or exemptions from the prohibition contained in article 3(1) of the Securities Transactions Supervision Act 1995 (Wet toezicht effectenverkeer 1995) applies.

Prior to the date upon which Piraeus Bank has passported its home member state license permitting it to operate as a credit institution by notifying the Dutch Central Bank (in accordance with the relevant regulation, Notes issued by Piraeus Bank have not been offered or sold, directly or indirectly, to investors in the Netherlands.

Greece

Each Dealer has represented and agreed and each further Dealer appointed under the Programme will be required to represent and agree that it has not offered or sold and will not offer or sell the Notes by any form of general solicitation or general advertising to the public in the Hellenic Republic.

No public offering of the Notes is permitted in the Hellenic Republic without the issuance and publication of a prospectus approved by the Capital Market Commission and consequently no advertisement of any kind, notifications, statements or other actions are permitted to be taken in the Hellenic Republic with a view to attracting the public in Greece to acquire any of the Notes. All applicable provisions of codified law 2190/1920, as currently in force, law 876/1979, law 3156/2003 and of presidential decree 52/1992 must be complied with in respect of anything done in relation to the public offering of the Notes in, from or otherwise involving the Hellenic Republic.

General

Each Dealer has agreed and each further Dealer appointed under the Programme will be required to agree that it will (to the best of its knowledge and belief having made all due and proper enquiries) comply with all applicable securities laws and regulations in force in any jurisdiction in which it purchases, offers, sells or delivers Notes or possesses or distributes this Offering Circular and will obtain any consent, approval or permission required by it for the purchase, offer, sale or delivery by it of Notes under the laws and regulations in force in any jurisdiction to which it is subject or in which it makes such purchases, offers, sales or deliveries and none of Piraeus PLC, Piraeus Bank and any other Dealer shall have any responsibility therefor.

None of Piraeus PLC, Piraeus Bank and any of the Dealers represents that Notes may at any time lawfully be sold in compliance with any applicable registration or other requirements in any jurisdiction, or pursuant to any exemption available thereunder, or assumes any responsibility for facilitating such sale.

With regard to each Tranche, the relevant Dealer will be required to comply with such other restrictions as the relevant Issuer and the relevant Dealer shall agree and as shall be set out in the applicable Pricing Supplement.

GENERAL INFORMATION

Authorisation

The establishment of the Programme and the issue of Notes by Piraeus PLC have been duly authorised by a resolution of the Board of Directors of Piraeus PLC dated 2nd June, 2004. The establishment of the Programme and the giving of the Deed of Guarantee have been duly authorised by a resolution of the Board of Directors of Piraeus Bank dated 12th May, 2004.

The issue of Notes by Piraeus Bank under the Programme is subject to the prior decision of the Board of Directors of Piraeus Bank.

Listing of Notes on the Luxembourg Stock Exchange

Application has been made to list Notes issued under the Programme on the Luxembourg Stock Exchange. A legal notice relating to the Programme and copies of the constitutional documents of Piraeus PLC and Piraeus Bank are being lodged with the Registrar of the District Court in Luxembourg (*Registre de Commerce et des Sociétés à Luxembourg*) where such documents may be examined and copies obtained. The Luxembourg Stock Exchange has allocated to the Programme the number 13013 for listing purposes.

Documents Available

So long as Notes are capable of being issued under the Programme, copies of the following documents will, when published, be available for inspection (in the case of items (iv) and (vii) below) or (in the case of items (i), (ii), (iii), (iii), (v) and (vi) below) available from the registered office of Piraeus PLC and from the specified offices of the Paying Agents for the time being in London and Luxembourg:

- (i) the constitutional documents of Piraeus Bank and Piraeus PLC (in English);
- (ii) the audited Greek GAAP and financial statements of Piraeus Bank in respect of the financial years ended 31st December, 2002 and 31st December, 2003 (with an English translation thereof):
- (iii) the most recently published audited annual financial statements of each of Piraeus PLC and Piraeus Bank and the most recently published quarterly unaudited financial statements of Piraeus Bank (with an English translation thereof). Piraeus PLC does not currently produce interim financial statements;
- (iv) the Programme Agreement, the Agency Agreement, the Deed of Covenant, the Deed of Guarantee, the forms of the temporary global Notes, the permanent global Notes, the Notes in definitive form, the Receipts, the Coupons and the Talons;
- (v) a copy of this Offering Circular:
- (vi) any future offering circulars, prospectuses, information memoranda and supplements including Pricing Supplements (save that a Pricing Supplement relating to an unlisted Note will only be available for inspection by a holder of such Note and such holder must produce evidence satisfactory to Piraeus PLC or the relevant Paying Agent, as the case may be, as to its holding and identity) to this Offering Circular and any other documents incorporated herein or therein by reference; and
- (vii) in the case of each issue of listed Notes subscribed pursuant to a subscription agreement, the subscription agreement (or equivalent document).

Clearing Systems

The Notes have been accepted for clearance through Euroclear and Clearstream, Luxembourg. The appropriate Common Code and ISIN for each Tranche allocated by Euroclear and Clearstream, Luxembourg will be specified in the applicable Pricing Supplement. If the Notes are to clear through an additional or alternative clearing system the appropriate information will be specified in the applicable Pricing Supplement.

Material Change

Save as disclosed in this Offering Circular, there has been no material adverse change in the financial position or prospects of Piraeus Bank, or Piraeus Bank and its subsidiaries as a whole (the "Group") since the date of its last financial year end.

Litigation

None of Piraeus PLC, Piraeus Bank or any subsidiary of Piraeus Bank has been involved in any legal or arbitration proceedings (including any proceedings which are pending or threatened of which Piraeus PLC or Piraeus Bank is aware) which may have, or have had during the 12 months preceding the date of this document, a significant effect on the financial position of Piraeus PLC, Piraeus Bank or the Group.

Auditors of Piraeus PLC

The auditors of Piraeus PLC are PricewaterhouseCoopers LLP, Southwark Towers, 32 London Bridge Street, London SE1 9SY. The financial statements of Piraeus PLC for the years ended 31st December, 2002 and 2003 have been audited by PricewaterhouseCoopers LLP.

Auditors of Piraeus Bank

The statutory auditors of Piraeus Bank are PricewaterhouseCoopers – Athens and Sol AE, each of whom independently audits the Bank.

The Greek GAAP financial statements of the Group as of 31st December, 2002 and 2003 and for each of the two years in the period ended 31st December, 2003 have been audited by PricewaterhouseCoopers – Athens and Sol AE.

PricewaterhouseCoopers' report on the 31st December, 2002 and the 31st December, 2003 year-end financial statements included certain qualifications.

ISSUER

Piraeus Group Finance PLC

Tower 42 25 Old Broad Street London EC2N 1HQ England

ISSUER AND GUARANTOR

Piraeus Bank S.A.

20 Amalias Ave. & 5 Souri Str. 105 57 Athens Greece

AGENT

Deutsche Bank AG London

Winchester House
1 Great Winchester Street
London EC2N 2DB
England

PAYING AGENT

Deutsche Bank Luxembourg S.A.

2, boulevard Konrad Adenauer L-1115 Luxembourg Luxembourg

INDEPENDENT AUDITORS OF PIRAEUS BANK

PricewaterhouseCoopers

268 Kifissias Avenue 152 32 Athens Greece

Sol AE

3 Fokionos Negri 11 252 Athens Greece

INDEPENDENT AUDITORS OF PIRAEUS PLC

PricewaterhouseCoopers LLP

Southwark Towers
32 London Bridge Street
London SE1 9SY
England

LEGAL ADVISERS

To Piraeus PLC and Piraeus Bank as to Greek law

M.& P. Bernitsas Law Offices

5, Lykavittou Street Gr-105 72 Athens Greece

To the Dealers as to Greek law

Law Office T. J. Koutalidis

4, Valaoritou Street 10671 Athens Greece To Piraeus PLC and Piraeus Bank as to English law

Allen & Overy LLP

One New Change London EC4M 9QQ England

To the Dealers as to English law

Clifford Chance LLP

10 Upper Bank Street London E14 5JJ England

ARRANGER

Deutsche Bank AG London

Winchester House
1 Great Winchester Street
London EC2N 2DB
England

DEALERS

ABN AMRO Bank N.V.

250 Bishopsgate London EC2M 4AA England

Credit Suisse First Boston (Europe) Limited

One Cabot Square London E14 4QJ England

Morgan Stanley & Co. International

20, Cabot Square Canary Wharf London E14 4QA England

Nomura International plc

Nomura House
1 St Martin's-le-Grand
London EC1A 4NP
England

Banc of America Securities Limited

5, Canada Square London E14 5AQ England

Deutsche Bank AG London

Winchester House
1 Great Winchester Street
London EC2N 2DB
England

Natexis Banques Populaires

115, Rue Montmartre 75002 Paris France

Piraeus Bank S.A.

20 Amalias Ave. & 5 Souri Str. 105 57 Athens Greece

UBS Limited

1 Finsbury Avenue London EC2M 2PP England

LUXEMBOURG LISTING AGENT Deutsche Bank Luxembourg S.A.

2, boulevard Konrad Adenauer L-1115 Luxembourg Luxembourg